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PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM 

ONGOING* OPERATIONS

£206.0m
(2004 £208.2m)

REVENUE FROM ONGOING*

OPERATIONS

£1,110.0m
(2004 £1,000.3m)

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM

ONGOING* OPERATIONS

57.18p
(2004 57.74p)

The year’s highlights and key events

3.9 million customers in the UK, Republic of Ireland,
Central Europe and Mexico

Continuing to extend our successful home credit
operations overseas into emerging markets

Rapid expansion in Mexico

Preparations made for pilot of home credit in 
Romania in 2006

Record profit from motor insurance division

Full scale launch of Vanquis Bank credit cards, 
now serving 160,000 customers

Closure of loss-making Yes Car Credit business

TOTAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

FOR 2005

35.43p
(2004 34.40p)

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£40.4m
(2004 £205.5m)

GROUP REVENUE 

£1,337.5m
(2004 £1,272.4m)

GROUP EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Nil
(2004 57.00p)

TOTAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

FOR 2005

35.43p
(2004 34.40p)
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A dynamic business with exciting, 
new opportunities

Our business is simple, affordable financial services.
Having started with home credit in the UK, we’ve
now proved that the same formula can be transferred
with tremendous success to emerging markets
overseas. Since 1997, we’ve successfully developed
businesses in five new countries with rapid growth 
in every case. Back in the UK, we’re constantly
improving the home credit service and developing
new products to offer alongside home credit in the
UK and elsewhere.

01 Introduction

02 A story of growth

04 How we choose a new country

06 Chairman’s statement

10 Chief Executive’s review

38 Financial review

46 Our directors and board committees

47 Directors’ report

52 Corporate governance report

57 Directors’ remuneration report

65 Financial statements

118 Independent auditors’ report
119 Information for shareholders

Provident Financial plc

Company number 668987

Contents

58.22_PF_FRONT_P10_LM  23/3/06  8:55 pm  Page 1



A story of growth

Our international expansion has been a fantastic success. In just nine years, we’ve
created a fast-growing business with pre-tax profit in 2005 of £51.1 million – all
through organic growth and with great potential for further growth both from
existing markets and untapped, emerging markets around the world.

We began in Central Europe with businesses in Poland and the Czech Republic.
Then we expanded into Hungary and Slovakia. We then crossed the Atlantic 
and started up in Mexico. In 2005, we opened in a second region in Mexico and
announced plans to enter Romania in 2006. Other candidate countries are
constantly being researched.

02 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Our second Mexican operation, formed to 
take advantage of the substantial opportunities
that Mexico offers. Still in pilot phase.

Operating since Customers

2005 676

MEXICO, GUADALAJARA-LEON REGION–HOME CREDIT

Our first venture across the Atlantic and our
fastest developing new market. Now expanding 
after a successful pilot.

Operating since Customers

2003 130,356

MEXICO, PUEBLA-VERACRUZ REGION – HOME CREDIT
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TOTAL CUSTOMERS

3.9 million
NUMBER OF COUNTRIES

eight
TOTAL EMPLOYEES

7,700

VANQUIS BANK – CREDIT CARDS

Provident’s new credit card business, pioneering 
the group’s skills in remote lending and helping to
broaden the product range in the UK and overseas.

Operating since Customers

2003 160,000
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TOTAL HOME CREDIT AGENTS

35,600

The original Provident business, now more than
125 years old and supplying small, unsecured,
home-collected cash loans.

Operating since Customers

1880 1.49m

UK AND REPUBLIC OF IRELAND – HOME CREDIT

PROVIDENT INSURANCE – MOTOR INSURANCE

An efficient, tightly run motor insurance business
with its specialist niche in the UK market.

Acquired in Customers

1978 473,000

CZECH REPUBLIC

The second of our international businesses 
to be established.

Operating since

1997
HUNGARY

Growth of home credit in Hungary has 
surpassed expectations.

Operating since

2001
SLOVAKIA

Along with Hungary, part of our second wave 
of expansion in Central Europe, Slovakia is making
good progress.

Operating since

2001

Total customers in Central Europe

1.65 million

Our initial overseas operation and the first 
to demonstrate that home credit could be 
transferred successfully to other countries. 
Now our largest business outside the UK.

Operating since

1997

CENTRAL EUROPE – HOME CREDIT

Thoroughly researched and shown to be the
best location for the next Provident business. 
A management team has been installed in
Bucharest.

Pilot operation begins

2006

EASTERN EUROPE – HOME CREDIT

POLAND

ROMANIA
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How we choose a new country

CHOOSING FROM ALL THE
COUNTRIES IN THE WORLD

192
Home credit does particularly 
well in emerging markets where
consumer demand is growing. 
In many cases, people have
traditionally had to borrow from
family or friends or deal with 
state-owned institutions or banks
geared to the wealthy.

Home credit is a simple, clear 
and easily understood product 
with a friendly, flexible service 
that is especially welcome in 
these markets.

The number of suitable new 
markets has grown in recent
years with increasing globalisation,
the fall of Communism and a greater
emphasis on prudent economic
management by more governments.
There is a range of countries
available to keep us growing in 
the future.

Of the 192 countries in the world,
we eliminate those with a
population of under eight million.
Anything less is unlikely to provide
a large enough target market at
this stage of our development.

60
For the 60 or so remaining
countries, we assess potential
according to these criteria:

• Legislation
Is it broadly supportive? 
Are there regulations that could
make lending difficult?

• The rule of law
Could agents operate safely?
Would corruption be a problem?
Are property rights protected?

• Funding
Is it possible to fund in local
currency?

• Population size and income levels
Is the market large enough 
to represent a worthwhile
opportunity?
Could customers afford to borrow
enough to give us sufficient
profit?

• The national economy
Are the trends in GDP growth 
and interest rates favourable and
is the economy sufficiently stable?

• Political conditions
Is the country politically stable?

8
Having ranked the possible
targets, we shortlist the best
eight opportunities for detailed
research. This involves:

• Desk research
Looking at published information
and market research reports.

• Research within the country
Making contacts, taking legal,
tax and accounting advice,
evaluating the availability 
and cost of suitably qualified
employees, carrying out
qualitative research with
potential customers, assessing
the size of the market and 
whether the business model 
will work.

POSSIBLE TARGETS

SHORTLIST FOR 
DETAILED RESEARCH
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1or2
The most promising one or two
candidate countries that emerge
from the detailed research will
progress to a pilot operation.

We launch in a single location and
test the demand for the product,
agent expertise, customer
repayment patterns, our ability 
to recruit and train suitable local
employees, and ultimately the
potential of the business to grow
and make a profit.

PILOT OPERATIONS

1
If the findings from the pilot 
are positive, the next step is to 
roll the business out across all 
or part of the country. 

Concentrating on urban areas, 
we open more branches, increase
the number of agents who in 
turn recruit more customers, step 
up our advertising and employ 
and train a quality workforce. 
As customer numbers grow, we
progress from small, initial loans
to larger ones. 

FULL SCALE LAUNCH

WHERE NEXT ?

?
The process of choosing new
countries is continuous. We have 
a list of countries that we believe
are potentially suitable for home
credit and which, in due course,
we may test with a pilot operation.
The rate at which we enter
new countries is partly determined
by the supply of experienced, 
senior management able to
establish successful operations in
new countries. As we expand our
international operations, the pool 
of developing management talent
able to take on this challenge is
growing. Our aim is to develop 
a new territory or country at least
every two years.
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Chairman’s statement

Revenue growth from ongoing operations in 2005 
was strong and increased 11.0% to £1,110 million 
with customer receivables up by 12.3% to 
£1,039 million. However, due to investments totalling 
£18.8 million (2004 £11.2 million) in start-up losses 
at Vanquis Bank and in Mexico, profit before tax 
from ongoing businesses of £206.0 million was 1.1%
lower than in the previous year (2004 £208.2 million)
and earnings per share on the same basis reduced 
by 1.0% to 57.18p (2004 57.74p).

We announced in December 2005 the closure of the car sales and financing activities 
of Yes Car Credit. This business incurred a pre-tax loss of £165.6 million in 2005,
comprising trading losses of £24.6 million, closure costs of £50.0 million and a goodwill
write-off of £91.0 million. Profit before tax and after Yes Car Credit was £40.4 million
(2004 £205.5 million). Earnings per share on the same basis were nil (2004 57.00p).

The directors recommend a final dividend of 21.37p (2004 20.75p), giving a total
dividend for the year of 35.43p per share (2004 34.40p), an increase of 3.0% for the year.

06 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005
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John van Kuffeler, Chairman

Operations

UK consumer credit division

UK home credit

As expected, conditions in the UK home credit
sector continued to be challenging with strong
competition, particularly from banks and 
credit cards, and a tougher credit environment
resulting from pressure on customers’
disposable incomes. Customer numbers have
been reducing since 2002 as a result of
increased competition, together with actions
to eliminate unprofitable sources of
customers, and this trend continued in 2005
with a further reduction of 2.7% to 1.49 million.
This was better than we had expected because
of the success of customer recruitment
initiatives in the final quarter of the year.
However, despite reduced customer numbers,
credit issued rose by 3.7% to £927 million and
average net customer receivables increased
by 4% to £559 million with a corresponding
3.7% increase in revenue to £579 million. 
This reflects the success of our increased 
focus on the issue of larger loans repaid over
18 months or two years. 

These loans meet the needs of established,
lower risk customers for larger sums of credit,
typically of around £1,000, repaid at a
manageable weekly rate. The proportion of our
credit issued on these new products increased
from 4% in 2004 to 14% in 2005. 

As a result of increased pressure on our
customers’ disposable incomes from rising 
fuel and utility prices, collections performance
reduced, mainly during the second half of the
year. This caused the impairment charge to
rise by 11.6% to £172 million. The bad debt
charge measured under UK GAAP remains the
best measure of credit quality and this
displayed a similar trend with bad debt as a
percentage of credit issued increasing from
9.7% for 2004 to 10.4% for 2005. Costs
increased in line with revenue, up by 4.2% to
£261.0 million. Profit before tax reduced by
5.0% to £146.3 million (2004 £154.0 million). 

Vanquis Bank

Vanquis Bank was established to provide 
credit cards tailored to the needs of customers
on average and below average incomes. 

After a period of market testing a full product
launch in the UK commenced in January 2005.
The business performed broadly as planned 
during 2005 although the tougher UK credit
environment caused impairment charges to 
be higher than expected. In response,
underwriting criteria were tightened early in the
second half of the year which slowed growth in
customer numbers and customer receivables.
Nonetheless, over the course of the year
customer numbers increased by 84,000 to
160,000 and net customer receivables rose
by £34 million to £60 million. The loss before
tax for the year was £15.9 million (2004 
£9.0 million), reflecting investment in
infrastructure, customer acquisition costs and
impairment charges, which are higher in the
early stages of building customer relationships.

Yes Car Credit

As announced in the trading update of
14 December 2005, following a strategic review
of Yes Car Credit it was concluded that the
business was no longer viable. Increased
competition from motor dealers for sub-prime
finance customers together with regulatory
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Chairman’s statement

changes that had reduced sales of insurance
products resulted in operating conditions that
were very different from when the business was
acquired. Accordingly the motor sales and
financing activity of Yes Car Credit ceased in
December 2005, all branches were closed and
the majority of employees made redundant.
Provision was made in the 2005 financial
statements for the cost of closure, including
redundancy costs, losses on the disposal of
vehicle stock and fixed assets, the cost of exiting
property leases and additional impairment
provisions to customer receivables to allow for
the estimated impact of closure on collections
performance. The net amount of customer
receivables outstanding at the end of 2005
was £235 million. We have a team focused and
incentivised on successfully collecting out these
receivables and during the early months of this
year collections have progressed well. We
estimate that costs of collection will broadly
match the revenue earned and so there will be
no material profit or loss over the period during
which the receivables are collected.

International division

Percentage growth figures for credit issued,

average net customer receivables, revenue,

impairment and costs are calculated

after restating prior year figures at the

current year average exchange rate in order

to present a like-for-like comparison.

The international division continued to grow
rapidly. Customer numbers increased by 14%
to 1.8 million and credit issued rose by 15% to
£545 million. Average net customer receivables
grew by 21% to £280 million and revenue rose
correspondingly, up by 21% to £359 million.
Strong receivables growth together with a
reduction in collections performance in Poland
caused a 37% increase in the impairment charge
to £133 million. However the division continues
to become more efficient as it grows and so
costs increased by just 12% to £175 million.
Profit before tax increased substantially, up by
28% to £51.1 million (2004 £39.8 million).

Central Europe

Central Europe produced good growth in
2005 with strong performances from the Czech
Republic, Hungary and Slovakia more than
offsetting a subdued performance in Poland.
Customer numbers increased by 8% to
1.65 million, exceeding the initial target we set
in 1999, and credit issued increased by 11% to
£522 million. Average net customer receivables
rose by 19% to £275 million and this led to
an 18% increase in revenue to £348 million.
In Poland, we responded to a reduction in
collections performance and corresponding

rise in the impairment charge by tightening our
lending criteria. This action slowed growth and
allowed us to focus our efforts on collections.
It has now begun to yield benefits. Impairment
charges for Central Europe rose by 34% to
£129 million with UK GAAP bad debt as a
percentage of credit issued rising from 9.0%
for 2004 to 12.2% in 2005. Profit before tax
increased strongly, up 22% to £64.2 million
(2004 £52.6 million) and is progressing well
towards our target of £95 million.

Mexico

Mexico has performed well and at this stage of its
development represents our fastest new country
start-up. Our key focus during 2005 was the
expansion of the branch infrastructure and
customer base in the Puebla-Veracruz region –
an area with a 20 million population. This has
progressed well and we now have 14 branches
in that region. In December 2005, we
established a second operation in Leon to
develop simultaneously the Guadalajara-Leon
region of Mexico, which also has a 20 million
population. During the year, customer numbers
increased by 96,000 to 131,000 and credit
issued by £18 million to £23 million. Credit
quality is good and the start-up loss for the year
was a little lower than expected at £2.9 million
(2004 £2.2 million). Overall, our experience in
Mexico has been very positive and we now
expect that at maturity we will achieve profit per
customer of £30 per annum, £10 per customer
higher than our previous estimate.

Romania

In December 2005, we announced our intention
to open a pilot operation in Romania, a country
with excellent potential and a population of
22 million people. We have opened an office in
Bucharest, installed a management team,
obtained the necessary licence to trade and
have now started to recruit employees.

Motor insurance division

Themotor insurancedivisiondeliveredarecord
profit in a UK motor insurance market that
remained competitive during 2005. Average
premiums continued to fall, with market rates
down by approximately 2%. We maintained our
policyofpricingforanadequatereturnonequity
and so held our premium rates. Policyholder
numbers fell by 6% during the year to 
473,000 and gross written premiums reduced
correspondingly by 6% to £155 million.
Provisions for claims costs, particularly from
earlier years’ claims, have continued to develop
favourably with the result that underwriting
profit increased from £11.3 million to 
£18.4 million. Income earned on the investment
fund, held to meet the cost of future claims, 
was £21.6 million (2004 £23.3 million). 

Profit before tax increased by 16% to a record
high of £40.0 million (2004 £34.6 million).

Regulatory developments

The Competition Commission inquiry into the
UK home credit sector continues. Following the
publication of its ‘emerging thinking’ document
in October 2005 we have provided further
evidence to the Commission demonstrating the
increasingly competitive nature of the market
for the supply of small sum credit in which we
operate, low barriers to entry and high levels 
of customer satisfaction. The Commission is
scheduled to publish its ‘provisional findings’ in
March/April 2006 and the inquiry is expected
to conclude in July 2006.

In Poland, a new law establishing a maximum
interest rate at four times the Lombard rate
was introduced in August 2005. This became
effective for loans issued from 20 February
2006. We developed a revised offer to meet
both customer needs and the requirement of
the new law which was successfully introduced
to approximately 30% of customers by the end
of 2005. All credit issued since 7 February
2006 has been issued on the new product. The
standard outgoing home credit product bundled
all elements of the service into a simple, single
fixed charge. The new product includes three
main heads of charge: interest, credit insurance
and an optional home-collection charge.
For the customer who selects all these options
the cost of the product is similar to the old
product. To date our experience suggests that
the majority of customers value highly each
element of the product and particularly the
convenience of agent collection.

In the UK, the Consumer Credit Bill, which
amends the 1974 Consumer Credit Act, is in
the final stages of the parliamentary process
and is expected to pass into law in 2006. 
We welcome this bill which is designed to
protect consumers and create a fairer, more
competitive credit market.

Management

We announced in January that David Swann,
Managing Director of our international division,
is to retire at the AGM in May after 33 years’
service. David retires with the gratitude and
thanks of the board having worked tirelessly
and effectively to build a strong home credit
business outside the UK. John Harnett is to
succeed David Swann as Managing Director of
the international division and Andrew Fisher is
to join the board as Finance Director, having
previously been the finance director at Premier
Farnell for eleven years. In addition, Peter Crook
joined the board on 8 March 2006, with
responsibility for UK home credit. Peter, who is
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42 years of age, was the UK Managing Director
of Barclaycard between 2000 and 2005
and has extensive experience of consumer
credit. He joined Provident in September 2005
as Managing Director of UK home credit.

Prospects for 2006

UK home credit

UK home credit is the leading provider of home
credit in the UK and succeeds because it is
focused on meeting customers’ needs and so
achieves consistently high levels of customer
satisfaction. It is an excellent and cash
generative business.

The UK home credit sector is expected to remain
competitive with the current, tougher credit
environment sustained by continued pressure
on customers’ disposable incomes. In recent
months, we have improved the systems we
use to identify unprofitable, higher risk new
customers and during 2006 these will be
deployed. We expect this will allow us to better
manage credit risk and will benefit the
impairment charge but at the same time will
reduce the number of new customers we recruit.
The success of our marketing initiatives in the
final quarter of 2005 gives us confidence that
we can offset this by more active marketing
but overall we continue to expect a small net
reduction in customer numbers during 2006.

In 2005, credit issued grew because of the
success of larger loans repaid over 18 or 24
months. Customers who took out longer-term
loans in 2005 will typically not want another
until the first loans have run their course. As 
a result, the rise in credit issued in 2005 is
unlikely to be repeated in 2006 and credit
issued, customer receivables and revenue are
likely to reduce in line with customer numbers.
Overhead costs are being actively managed
and during the course of 2006, we intend to
combine the back office and field operations 
of Provident Personal Credit and Greenwood
Personal Credit to reduce the administrative
and operating costs associated with managing
two home-collected credit brands. During
2005, we successfully trialled hand-held
personal computers for agents and field staff.
The results suggest that these devices will
improve our administrative efficiency and make
agents more effective and so, in 2006, we will
fully develop this solution with the aim of
introducing them during 2007. The costs of
these new initiatives together with increased
marketing expenditure will cause overhead
costs to rise a little during 2006. Overall, we
expect a reduction in profit in 2006 in line with
market expectations.

Vanquis Bank

Vanquis Bank is expected to continue to
increase its customer numbers and customer
receivables during 2006. Whilst new business
strain from customer acquisition costs and high
early impairment charges will remain significant,
its impact will be diluted by the increasing
proportion of revenue earned from the maturing
customer portfolio. In addition, overhead cost
per customer will fall as the scale of the business
continues to grow. We therefore continue to
expect a reduced loss in 2006, with a much
stronger performance in the second half of the
year than in the first half, and profit in 2007.

International division

Our strategy of international growth has been
very successful and has delivered substantial
shareholder value. From its establishment in
1997 the division has grown rapidly, breaking
even in 2002 and earning profit before tax of
£51.1 million in 2005. In Central Europe during
2005, we passed our target of 1.6 million
customers and we are well on the way to
achieving our Central European annual profit
target of £95 million. We intend to continue this
success by expanding into new overseas
markets and in 2006 the international division
will make a substantial investment of £12 million
in developing new markets. This will comprise
a pilot operation in Romania costing £3 million
and the rapid expansion in two major regions
in Mexico with a start-up loss of approximately
£9 million. We have divided Mexico into five
regions, each having a population of about
20 million people and we are now targeting at
maturity three million customers yielding an
annual pre-tax profit per customer of £30. This
makes Mexico an important market with the
potential for an annual pre-tax profit of
£90 million. We will enter the remaining three
regions over the coming three to four years and
expect Mexico as a whole to be profitable in 2008.
We expect our established market in Central
Europe will continue to deliver good growth in
2006 and we expect a stronger performance in
the second half as the benefits of improvements
made to the Polish business feed through.

For some time it has been our intention to
broaden the range of credit products we
offer in order to take advantage of the well
established brands and infrastructure we
have in these fast-growing, international credit
markets. During 2005, we trialled both a
monthly home-collected loan product and
a remotely collected loan product in Poland;
the latter being supported by the skills and
systems of Vanquis Bank. This has proved
successful and during 2006 we intend to pilot
these products on a larger scale in Poland.

In due course, if this is successful, we envisage
introducing these products to our other
international markets.

Overall,profitfromtheinternationaldivisionis
likelytoreducealittleasaresultoftheinvestment
instart-uplossesandnewproductdevelopment
costs,beforegrowthrecommencesin2007.

Motor insurance division

We expect market conditions to be similar
to 2005 with policyholder numbers and gross
written premiums continuing to drift downwards.
The favourable development of claims costs
provisions is likely to continue but is expected to
deliver a smaller benefit than in 2005 with the
result that profit is expected to reduce from the
current record level.

Group outlook

In recent years the small sum credit market in
the UK has become increasingly competitive.
We have responded by raising the efficiency
of our UK home credit business and by improving
the service we offer our customers. We have
clear plans to continue to improve our operating
efficiencies and our service to customers
and so we expect this to remain an excellent,
cash-generative business.

We have also sought new opportunities for
growth by expanding into overseas markets and
broadening our range of credit products.
International expansion has already been very
successful and created substantial shareholder
value and we expect the new credit products
delivered through VanquisBank will also add to
shareholder value.

We expect the group will remain strongly cash
and capital generative and that this will continue
to support our progressive dividend policy.

We see excellent prospects for continued
international expansion in existing markets
and in new countries. However, our successful
organic growth model involves investment
start-up losses which depress short-term profits.
We are, therefore, at the early stages of
considering whether obtaining a separate listing
for international, in due course, would allow the
international growth opportunity to be captured
more quickly. The aim would be to maximise
shareholder value in both the near and longer
term. We will provide a further update on
the results of this review with our interim results
in September.

John van Kuffeler

Chairman

22 March 2006
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Chief Executive’s review

Our strategy is to grow rapidly by introducing 
home credit to international markets. At the same
time, we’re broadening our offer in the UK and
overseas, by developing remote credit products 
to stand alongside home credit. 

10 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

On the international front, it has been another year of good growth and geographic
expansion with a new region opening up in Mexico and the announcement of a pilot
operation in Romania. 
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Robin Ashton, Chief Executive
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In the UK, we’re responding in innovative ways to a mature, competitive home credit
market, building up our Vanquis Bank credit card business and continuing to make good
profit from our motor insurance division.

The closure of our car finance business, Yes Car Credit, was disappointing – particularly
after every effort had been made to return the business to profitability. Once we reached
the conclusion that the market had changed such that there was little chance of
returning the business to profitability, we acted decisively to bring the trading losses to
an end. Unable to sell the business, we moved quickly to closure.

Given the development of our international businesses, we’re breaking with tradition this
year and starting this report with Central Europe and Mexico. We’ve also included a more
complete analysis of our businesses and their contribution to the group.
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Chief Executive’s review

International

We began researching opportunities overseas in
the mid-1990s as part of our strategy of developing
new sources of growth. From its first customer
in Poland in 1997, the international division has
grown dramatically. Nine years on, it has more
customers than the UK home credit business and
now contributes 25% of group profit.*

What this section covers

• Our international expertise

• 2005 performance and prospects

• Growing our businesses in Central 

and Eastern Europe

• The Polish interest rate cap

• New product opportunities for 

Central Europe

• Expanding in Mexico

12 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

* From ongoing operations
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Our international expertise

Thanks to our experience of operating

overseas for the last nine years, we know

a great deal about the role and importance

of home credit in emerging economies.

We’ve also developed valuable skills in

researching new countries and in setting

up and managing home credit businesses

away from home. As time goes on, we’re

identifying more countries that could

support a home credit operation.

Although our international businesses 

have so far focused on home credit, we 

see opportunities for new credit products

such as remotely collected loans and the

Vanquis Bank credit card now established

in the UK. Tests are already underway in

Poland and these plans will be developed

in 2006, further enhancing our offer to

customers overseas.

2005 performance

In 2005, the international division increased

its customer numbers by 14% to 1.78 million.

Credit issued rose by 15% to £545 million

and profit before tax was up 28% at

£51.1 million. That’s slightly below

expectations, mainly because we had to

tighten our lending controls in Poland

to improve our collections performance.

Profit was also reduced by start-up losses

in Mexico.

Prospects

Our record of international growth has been

excellent and we intend to continue this

success by expanding into new overseas

markets. In 2006, our rapid expansion in

two regions in Mexico and a pilot operation

in Romania will result in a substantial

investment in start-up losses of £12 million.

There will be further investment in new

credit product tests in Poland. Overall, this

investment is likely to mean there will be 

a small reduction in the division’s profit in

2006 before growth resumes in 2007.

Countries

6
Customers

1.78 million

Agents

23,840

Profit before tax (2005)

£51.1m
Employees

4,070

Credit issued (2005)

£545m

Progress from a standing start in 1997

International

INTERNATIONAL PROFIT DEVELOPMENT
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (£m)

INTERNATIONAL CUSTOMERS 
(MILLION)

200420032002200120001999

39.8

2005

Year ended 31 December
51.1

29.3

8.6

(1.1)(7.2)(9.0)

UK GAAP

IFRS

2005

As at 31 December

200420032002200120001999

1.78
1.56

1.24
0.96

0.71
0.47

0.14
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Chief Executive’s review

International Growing our businesses 
in Central and Eastern Europe

Our four established Central European markets – Poland, the Czech Republic,
Slovakia and Hungary – have a combined population about equal to that of the
UK. The rise of the consumer economy after Communism has led to growing
demand for consumer credit. At the same time, the consumer credit market
remains underdeveloped. Add the generally responsible attitude to borrowing
and the fact that populations are concentrated in urban areas, and it’s clear
why Central Europe is proving such a good market for home credit.

The same factors have influenced our decision to open a pilot operation in
Romania in Eastern Europe, where research indicates an attractive opportunity
among its 22 million population. As before, we’ll start small, test as we go 
and expand nationwide if we conclude that we have a viable business.
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Czech Republic

Demographics

Population

10 million
GDP growth rate

6.0%

Highlights

• Stable and prosperous

• Safe, transparent

investment environment

• Two-thirds of the

population live in urban

areas

Slovakia

Demographics

Population

5 million
GDP growth rate

6.0%

Highlights

• Fast-growing economy

with rising exports and

robust domestic demand

• Increase in foreign

investment in recent yearsHungary

Demographics

Population

10 million
GDP growth rate

4.1%

Highlights

• Strong economic growth

• Competitive economy with

a dynamic export sector

• High level of direct foreign

investment

Romania

Demographics

Population

22 million
GDP growth rate

4.0%

Highlights

• A fast-developing market,

adjacent to our existing

Central European

businesses and aiming for

EU accession in 2007

• Good potential demand for

home credit

Poland

Demographics

Population

39 million
GDP growth rate

3.2%

Highlights

• Large, urbanised

population

• Europe’s largest

recipient of direct

foreign investment

58.22_PF_FRONT_P10_LM  23/3/06  8:56 pm  Page 15



16 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

3,480
EMPLOYEES IN POLAND, CZECH

REPUBLIC, HUNGARY AND SLOVAKIA

There are now 21,595 agents in Central Europe

WE ARE RESEARCHING NEW 
CREDIT PRODUCTS FOR OUR 
INTERNATIONAL MARKETS

MRS RAHOVA’S CUSTOMER, JANNIS, IS JUST ONE OF OUR 
1.65 MILLION HOME CREDIT CUSTOMERS IN CENTRAL EUROPE

AGENT, EVA KLAI, VISITS 
ELZBIETA AT HER POLISH HOME 

IN WARSAW EVERY WEEK

WE HAVE SUCCESSFULLY
TRANSFERRED HOME CREDIT FROM
THE UK TO MARKETS OVERSEAS

WE HAVE 319 EMPLOYEES 
WORKING AT OUR POLISH 
HEAD OFFICE IN WARSAW

TOMASZ BEGAN HIS CAREER WITH
PROVIDENT POLSKA AS A DEVELOPMENT
MANAGER. SEVEN YEARS ON, HE’S NOW
OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR 

TRANSFERRING TALENT – IVO HAS WORKED FOR
PROVIDENT IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC, SLOVAKIA, THE UK
AND IS NOW BASED IN MEXICO AS OPERATIONS DIRECTOR
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Chief Executive’s review
International – Central Europe

PROFIT BEFORE TAX IN CENTRAL EUROPE

£64.2m

PERCENTAGE GROWTH IN NUMBER 
OF CUSTOMERS TO 1.65 MILLION

+8%

2005 performance

We achieved good growth in Central Europe 
in 2005. Customer numbers increased 
by 8.0% to 1.65 million. Credit issued rose 
by 11% to £522 million and profit before tax
was 22% higher at £64.2 million.

The Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovakia
continued to do well and the strong
performances from these three countries more
than offset a subdued performance in Poland.

Running a successful home credit business
means constantly balancing three variables –
growth, costs and credit quality. It’s easy to grow
by lending lots of money, however, the skill is to
lend enough money to grow the business while
being sufficiently selective to be sure of
collecting payments without incurring undue
impairment costs.

After a period in which lending grew rapidly, we
deliberately slowed our progress in Poland by
tightening our lending criteria – the aim being 
to concentrate on collections and restore
the long-term balance between growth, costs
and credit quality. Whilst collections
performance improved, growth in the business 
in 2005 slowed.

The Polish interest rate cap

In 2005, the Polish government passed a law
to impose a maximum interest rate of four
times the Lombard rate which came into force
in February 2006. At 8 March 2006 the
Lombard rate was 5.50%, giving an interest
rate cap of 22%.

In preparation for the change, and in
consultation with our customers, we’ve
modified our home credit offer to comply 
with the new legislation – mainly by breaking
the service charge into separately-priced
elements – interest, credit insurance and an
optional home-collection charge. This has
been done without compromising the 
service to customers who particularly like 
the convenience of agent collection.

New product opportunities for 

Central Europe

Now that we’ve successfully transferred 
home credit from the UK to markets overseas, 
we’re thinking about introducing additional
credit products.

The systems and infrastructure that support
Vanquis Bank are designed to service remote
loans and credit card products. They have
also been designed so they can be used both
in the UK and overseas markets and there is
the potential to extend the use of our UK
banking licence into other EU countries. In
2005, we successfully conducted a market
test of a remotely collected loan product 
and monthly home-collected loans in Poland. 
In 2006, we will pilot these initiatives on a
larger scale and, if successful, our plan would
be to introduce these into our other overseas
operations when the time is right.

Duzà szansę upatrujemy we wprowadzeniu
na rynki zagraniczne nowych produktów
finansowych obslugiwanych bez 
udziat∏u przedstawiciela poza miejscem
zamieszkania.
“We see a potential opportunity to introduce remote, non-agent serviced credit products into markets overseas.”’’

‘‘

58.22_PF_FRONT_P10_LM  23/3/06  8:57 pm  Page 17



Chief Executive’s review

International Expanding in Mexico

As a large, emerging economy, Mexico offers significant opportunities for
Provident. Unemployment is low, economic prospects are good, and our target 
is to serve three million customers in this market.

We started with a pilot operation in the city of Puebla in 2003 and, following its
successful completion, the business is now rolling out across the region towards
Veracruz in the east and Acapulco in the west. We began expansion in the
Guadalajara-Leon region in November 2005. Both operations are growing
rapidly with 12 new branches opening during the year. Customer numbers in
Mexico already exceed 130,000 and credit issued in 2005 totalled £22.6 million,
making Mexico our fastest developing new market.

Opening up such a large market requires investment before we start to reap the
rewards. Start-up losses amounted to £2.9 million in 2005 and will rise to about
£9 million in 2006 with the development of the second region. We expect Mexico
to report an annual profit in 2008.
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42,000

76,000

84,000

105,000

131,000
Mexico

Hungary

Czech Republic

Poland

Slovakia

INTERNATIONAL CUSTOMER NUMBERS
AT SAME STAGE OF DEVELOPMENT

Mexico is our
fastest growing 
business to date
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Customers

676
Population

20 million

Pilot established

November 2005

Credit issued (2005)

£0.1m
Agents

68

Employees

36

Branches

2

• A second operation, helping to take

advantage of the huge opportunities that

Mexico presents.

• In terms of population, the Guadalajara-Leon

region is the same size as the Czech Republic

and Hungary combined. Guadalajara is Mexico’s

second biggest city.

Highlights

Demographics

Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005  19

POPULATION

106million
POPULATION

106million
GDP GROWTH RATE

3.0%

Guadalajara-Leon

Customers

130,356
Population

20 million

Pilot established

August 2003

Roll-out began

April 2005

Credit issued (2005)

£22.5m
Agents

2,177

Employees

475

Branches

14

• Provident’s first Mexican operation, 

now expanding across the region.

• In Mexico, Provident is seen as a friendly 

business supplying an attractive service.

Highlights

Demographics

Puebla-Veracruz
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2,245
AGENTS IN MEXICO

511 employees now work for Provident in Mexico

WE OPENED TEN NEW BRANCHES IN THE
PUEBLA-VERACRUZ REGION IN 2005

BASED IN PUEBLA, MARIA HAS USED 
HOME CREDIT SINCE WE OPENED 
IN MEXICO

MANAGERS TRAINED IN ONE AREA 
ARE THEN ABLE TO MOVE TO ANOTHER 
AREA TO HELP GROW THE BUSINESS

DEVELOPING MANAGEMENT 
TALENT IS ESSENTIAL TO THE
SUCCESS OF OUR EXPANDING
INTERNATIONAL HOME CREDIT
OPERATION

JOSÉ LIKES THE CONVENIENCE OF HIS 
AGENT, AIDA, CALLING AT HIS HOME

AGENT, ESTHER, IN PUEBLA, 
KNOWS ALL HER CUSTOMERS WELL 
– SHE VISITS THEM EVERY WEEK

HOME CREDIT IS A VALUABLE SERVICE TO
ENRIQUE WHO LIVES IN PUEBLA
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Chief Executive’s review
International – Mexico

CREDIT ISSUED

£22.6m

PERCENTAGE GROWTH IN NUMBER 
OF CUSTOMERS TO 131,000

274%

Tackling a very large market, step by step

With its 106 million population, Mexico
is a bigger market than that of our Central
European businesses combined. Our strategy,
therefore, is to treat it as we did Central
Europe – not as a single entity, but as a
number of separate regions to be tackled
one by one.

2005 performance

At 20 million, the population of each of our
first two regions is as large as that of many
countries. The business in Puebla-Veracruz 
is now expanding geographically from its base
in the city of Puebla. In 2005, it opened ten
new branches, took on 1,553 more agents
and increased its number of customers from
34,669 to 130,356. Guadalajara-Leon was
opened in November 2005 and is still in its
early stages. It now has 676 customers. 

Do we have enough managers to handle

such massive expansion?

Yes we do. Our growth in recent years has given
us a large pool of talented managers, many 
of whom joined our fledgling international
division in the 1990s and are now sufficiently
experienced to take on roles in our new
businesses. Furthermore, our phased, regional
approach in Mexico enables us to train
managers in one region and then move some 
of them on to repeat the process in the next.

We have always prided ourselves on offering
exciting opportunities to talented people. 
For good managers, opportunities do not
come much bigger than opening up in Mexico.

Prospects

Looking ahead, we intend to open three
further regions, each with a population of
about 20 million people. We believe there are
three million potential home credit customers
in Mexico.

Creemos que existe un mercado 
potencial de tres millones de clientes 
para el crédito a domicilio en México.
“We believe there are three million potential home credit customers in Mexico.”

‘‘ ’’
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Chief Executive’s review

The UK

In the UK, our strategy is to work hard to improve 
the home credit offer and service in order to optimise 
the performance of our home credit business. To add 
to this, we are broadening our range of credit products 
to attract new customers while offering greater choice to
those we already serve.

The UK consumer credit division comprises two
businesses – UK home credit and Vanquis Bank 
credit cards. Our third operation in the UK is the
motor insurance business, Provident Insurance.

What this section covers

• A dynamic and creative offer

• What is home credit?

• Who uses home credit?

• Are home credit loans expensive?

• Competition and economic trends

• Regulation

• Innovating in a mature market

• Vanquis Bank – a different kind 

of credit card

• Motor insurance – a record profit

22 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005
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Chief Executive’s review

A dynamic and creative offer

Provident has a long heritage and more experience than anyone else in the field
of home credit. We continue to look for ways in which our skills and market
knowledge can be applied and adapted to offer more services to our UK customers.

UK and Republic of Ireland

Home credit

Home credit is the original Provident business. Now more
than 125 years old, it provides small, unsecured home-
collected loans to 1.49 million customers. The largest 
home credit business in the UK, it contributed £146 million
to group profit in 2005.

Operating since Customers

1880 1.49 million

Vanquis Bank

Credit cards

The Vanquis Bank credit card business is less than three
years old and is pioneering our skills in lending remotely. 
It is central to our strategy of broadening our product 
range in the UK and also has potential in overseas markets.

Operating since Customers

2003 160,000

Provident Insurance

Motor insurance

This profitable, tightly run motor insurance business
specialises in non-comprehensive policies, mainly for
women drivers and second family cars. Recent innovations
include new IT systems to make the business even
more efficient.

Acquired in Customers

1978 473,000
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Chief Executive’s review
UK consumer credit – UK home credit

What is home credit?

Home credit is a way of taking out a small,
unsecured loan – typically a few hundred
pounds repaid over six to twelve months. The
money is provided by an agent who then calls
at the customer’s home every week to collect
the repayments.

Unlike other forms of lending, home credit
includes all the costs upfront. There are no
extra fees or penalty charges, even if a
customer misses a payment. That’s a crucial
difference compared with many other types
of lending.

Who uses home credit?

If you earn £25,000 a year and want to borrow
£5,000, a loan is usually easy to come by. If, like
many of our customers, you only want to borrow
£200 or less and have a variable or modest
income and little savings, then it’s not so simple.
There’s more to think about:

• Who’s going to lend me £200 or less?
• Can I afford the repayments?
• Are there penalties if I miss a payment?
• What’s it going to cost in total?
• Can I know for sure when the debt will 

be paid off?

Home credit is designed to answer these
questions. It’s predictable. There are no
financial surprises. Every pound repaid is a
pound off the total, so the loan can never
increase. What’s more, the agent does the
legwork by bringing the cash to the door and
returning every week for the repayments.

Our home credit service

Our customers appreciate simple, transparent
financial services. Most are skilled at
managing their finances (on tight budgets
they have to be) and choose Provident as
offering the best combination of cost,
convenience and predictability.

Our customers

• Our customers are pretty evenly split
between the C, D and E socio-economic
groups.

• 66% of customers are women.
• 85% of customers would recommend

Provident home credit to family or friends.
• 94% of customers are satisfied with the

Provident home credit service.

What do our customers use home credit for?

Home credit loans are most often used to buy
Christmas and birthday presents or to fund
household items such as fridges or cookers.
Some are used to buy clothes, consumer
electronics or holidays, or simply to balance
the household budget.

How are agents rewarded?

Home credit agents, 79% of whom are women,
are mainly paid commission on what they
collect, not what they lend – so they have to
lend responsibly to earn a living. 

Are home credit loans expensive?

The APRs of home credit loans can look
expensive in comparison to other forms of
lending, but APR rates alone can be
misleading. First, because fixed costs are the
same for a small loan as a large one, the APR
for small loans is higher. Many credit providers
will not provide small sums of credit and only
quote APRs on loans of £1,000 or more.
Second, the rules for calculating the APR allow
other lenders to exclude certain costs from
the APR in a way that home credit does not. 
In real terms, the cost of home credit
compares well with bank overdrafts or credit
cards, where customers who are likely to miss
some payments are often charged penalty
fees and additional interest.

Home credit is very successful at meeting the 
complex needs of low-income consumers.
National Consumer Council, June 2004‘‘ ’’
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EIGHT REASONS WHY HOME CREDIT IS IMPORTANT

To our customers:

1 It’s a convenient, affordable way of taking out a small loan.

2 The service is friendly and convenient. Customers appreciate

the personal, face to face relationship with the agent.

3 For people on modest incomes, it’s a way of affording treats

on special occasions or spreading household expenses.

4 Of all forms of borrowing, it’s the easiest to control, 

with predictable repayments and the guarantee that

customers will not be penalised with extra charges if

they miss a repayment.

To Provident Financial:

5 It’s a solid, successful business with a 125-year

heritage.

6 It is highly cash generative.

7 It has a talented management team which is 

working to enhance customer service and improve 

the business.

8 It gives us 1.49 million customers whom we know

extremely well and for whom we can develop other

credit products.

The factors that influence our business

Competition

There are more than 500 home credit
businesses in the UK and Republic of Ireland
and new operators continue to enter the
market. At any one time, about a fifth of
Provident’s customers are making use of
another home credit company.

But home credit companies don’t compete
just among themselves. People wanting to
borrow small sums have many other options 
– from bank loans, overdrafts and credit cards
to agency mail order, pawnbrokers and
payday loans.

And the competition is increasing. Lower-
income customers – previously of little interest
to mainstream lenders – are now being
targeted by banks and credit card companies
eager for their business.

Among Provident’s customers, the proportion
with a credit card rose from 19% in 2000 to
27% in 2005. In 2005, 27% of Provident’s
customers used an overdraft and 35% used
agency mail order catalogues.

Economic trends

After a long period of economic growth in the
UK, many people are better off and therefore
have less need to borrow small amounts. As a
result, the market for small sum credit has
been slowly contracting for a number of years.
Furthermore, during 2005, consumers found
their fuel and utility bills rising and became
more cautious in their borrowing – as well as
less able to repay. As a result, lenders across
the spectrum have started to find the going
tougher.

Regulation

The main regulatory development this year
has been the Competition Commission’s
inquiry into the whole of the UK home credit
sector. This long and rigorous scrutiny has
confirmed many of the benefits of home
credit that we in the sector have always known
about. Among other positive features, the
Commission’s ‘emerging thinking’ document,
published in October 2005, cited high levels
of satisfaction among customers and 
sound, businesslike relationships between
customers and agents.

The next step will be the publication of its
‘provisional findings’ in March or April,
followed by notification and consideration of
possible remedies (if required) and a final
report in the summer of 2006. In contributing
to the Commission’s work, we’ll continue to
highlight the competitive nature of the small
sum credit market and our position as a
responsible lender with transparent products
that are valued by our customers.

The Consumer Credit Bill is making its way
through the parliamentary process and is
expected to become law in 2006. We
welcome its proposals as a way of modernising
the regulation of consumer credit, protecting
the consumer and introducing greater fairness
and transparency.

The EU Consumer Credit Directive is also
proceeding through its various legislative
stages. We continue to monitor events 
and to actively lobby to ensure that home
credit receives fair treatment in any
eventual outcome.
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66% of our customers have a bank account
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CAROLYN, CYCLING TO WORK AT OUR 
HEAD OFFICE IN BRADFORD

MARY, FROM LEEDS, HAS BEEN A HOME
CREDIT CUSTOMER FOR FOUR YEARS

3.7%
INCREASE IN CREDIT ISSUED 

TO £927 MILLION

11,755 HOME CREDIT AGENTS 
IN THE UK KNOW EACH OF THEIR 

CUSTOMERS PERSONALLY

MORE THAN 2,700 EMPLOYEES 
WORK FOR UK HOME CREDIT 

NICHOLA LOOKS FORWARD TO THE
WEEKLY VISIT FROM HER AGENT, DIANE

WE DEPEND ON GOOD PEOPLE
AT EVERY LEVEL OF THE
ORGANISATION

94% OF OUR CUSTOMERS TELL
US THEY ARE SATISFIED WITH

OUR HOME CREDIT SERVICE

OUR HOME CREDIT SERVICE IS
FRIENDLY AND CONVENIENT
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Chief Executive’s review
UK consumer credit – UK home credit

2005 performance

The UK home credit business performed
broadly in line with expectations during 2005.
Although customer numbers fell by 2.7% to
1.49 million, we saw a 3.7% increase in credit
issued to £927 million – thanks largely to 
the success of our larger, longer-term loans.
Collections suffered as rising fuel and utility
costs bit into customers’ disposable 
income and this led to an 11.6% increase in
impairment charges. At £146.3 million, profit
before tax was 5.0% lower than in 2004.

Innovating in a mature market

Recognising that the UK home credit sector
is mature, our strategy is to work hard to
improve the business, to grow if we can and 
to get the very best result possible.

We control our costs extremely tightly and are
the most efficient, lowest-cost home credit
company in the UK. This helps keep our prices
low compared to many other home credit
competitors. At the same time, there’s much
that can be done to modernise the product
and make it more appealing. 

Recent and planned innovations include:
• Larger loans repaid over longer periods of

18 or 24 months. While these have been
available for a while, we’ve promoted them
more vigorously to our more established 
and reliable customers over the past year
and the take-up has been good.

• The Argos easyshop card and a pilot Visa
card – loans in the form of ready-loaded
plastic cards that the customer can use
like a debit card.

• More innovative advertising, plus greater
use of targeted direct mail and internet
marketing to reach new and existing
customers, and build on the important
customer/agent relationship.

• Testing the introduction of hand-held
personal computers for agents and field
employees to improve administrative
efficiency.

• The development of behavioural and
application scoring systems to allow us 
to improve the quality of agent lending
decisions.

• Combining the field management 
and administration of our two home 
credit brands, Provident Personal 
Credit and Greenwood Personal Credit. 

Prospects

We are working hard to grow the UK home 
credit business and the new initiatives we will
implement this year and next, particularly
improved credit management techniques, the
introduction of hand-held computers to agents
and more active multi-channel marketing will
help us to achieve this.

We were encouraged by our success in
recruiting customers in the last quarter of 
2005 and we will continue to innovate in 
search of customer growth.

We control our costs extremely tightly
and are the most efficient, lowest-cost
home credit company in the UK.‘‘ ’’
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Chief Executive’s review
UK consumer credit – Vanquis Bank

VANQUIS BANK CUSTOMER GROWTH

+111% to
160,000

A credit card tailored to our customers’ needs

Like our international division, Vanquis Bank 
is an organic development that started 
small and then grew. Using the ‘test and 
learn’ approach that’s proved so successful
overseas, we started with a pilot, gathered
evidence and expanded the business only
when we were convinced it could be successful.

Vanquis Bank now occupies a distinctive niche
in the credit market. While credit cards are
becoming more and more necessary in today’s
society, there are many people – those on
modest incomes, or with little or no credit
history, or who may have had credit problems
in the past – who are still denied the benefits.
Thanks to Vanquis Bank, they can now begin 
to own and use a credit card in a controlled,
affordable way. In this way, Vanquis Bank
supports the government’s aim of including
more people in the financial mainstream.

A different kind of credit card

To meet the specific needs of its customers,
the Vanquis Bank credit card offers low initial
credit limits and frequent telephone contact
to help customers stay in control. 

All our dealings with customers are designed
to be transparent, supportive and responsible.
Our policy is to encourage customers to pay
in full – or as much as they can – at every
opportunity, in order to reduce their balance
more quickly and so pay less in interest.

There are no agents and all contact with the
customer is carried out remotely. For this to
work, we’ve taken on a team of credit card
specialists whose skills bring further value 
to the group as we research opportunities to
expand our product range outside the UK.

2005 performance

2005 was the year in which we scaled up 
the business from the original pilot and 
proved that the infrastructure could support 
a full-scale operation. At the end of the year,
cardholder numbers had reached 
160,000 (2004 76,000) and the net 
amount receivable from customers stood at 
£60.0 million (2004 £26.0 million). Start-up
losses for the year were £15.9 million (2004
£9.0 million).

We achieved this growth despite tightening
our lending criteria in the course of the year.
Like other lenders, we’ve seen credit quality
reducing and have therefore become more
cautious, both in our initial lending and in
granting credit limit increases.

Prospects

We expect the start-up loss for Vanquis Bank
in 2006 to be less than in 2005 and for the
business to move into profit in 2007.

VANQUIS BANK INITIAL CREDIT
LIMIT AS LOW AS

£250
HIGHER MINIMUM REPAYMENTS OF TOTAL
OUTSTANDING BALANCE ON CLASSIC CARD

5%

VANQUIS BANK CREDIT CARD FEATURES 

• Our standard variable product has proved successful and will be developed
further as our prime offer in 2006.

• Cards start with credit limits as low as £250.

• Monthly, fortnightly and weekly repayment options.

• High level of contact with customers to help them stay in control.

The typical Vanquis Bank
customer is aged 38 and
has an annual income
of £17,500.

COMPARED TO

INDUSTRY

STANDARD OF 2-3%
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92% of customers say
they are happy with the
Vanquis Bank service

95% would recommend
Vanquis Bank to a friend

Customers can now begin to own 
and use a credit card in a controlled,
affordable way.‘‘ ’’

BOB LIKES THE SECURITY OF THE 
LOW CREDIT LIMIT OF £250 HE’S 
ARRANGED WITH VANQUIS BANK

WE HAVE REGULAR TELEPHONE CONTACT
WITH OUR CUSTOMERS TO HELP THEM STAY
IN CONTROL

THE TEAM AT VANQUIS BANK IN 
LONDON AND CHATHAM, KENT, 
NOW NUMBERS ALMOST 300

WE’VE TAKEN ON A TEAM OF CREDIT CARD
SPECIALISTS TO RUN VANQUIS BANK
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JANE CHOSE PROVIDENT INSURANCE FOR ITS
SPECIALIST POLICY FOR WOMEN DRIVERS

WE’VE INTRODUCED A NEW UNDERWRITING AND 
PROCESSING SYSTEM TO IMPROVE THE SUPPORT 
WE GIVE OUR INSURANCE BROKERS

473,000
POLICYHOLDERS

WE’RE ALWAYS LOOKING AT NEW WAYS 
OF DEVELOPING OUR MOTOR INSURANCE
OFFER TO EXISTING AND NEW CUSTOMERS

DEAN WORKS IN CUSTOMER
SERVICES, LIAISING WITH

INSURANCE BROKERS 

OUR 426 EMPLOYEES 
ACHIEVED A RECORD 
£40 MILLION PROFIT 
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Motor insurance

Specialising in non-comprehensive motor
policies with the emphasis on women drivers
and second family cars, Provident Insurance 
is an efficient, tightly managed business 
and one of the few UK motor insurers to
remain profitable throughout the insurance
cycle. While many other insurers will reduce 
prices as the cycle declines in order to 
retain policyholders, Provident Insurance
seeks to price every policy to make an 
adequate return, even if it means serving
fewer customers.

2005 performance

In a competitive market, prices continued
to drift downwards. Provident’s volumes
consequently declined, with customer numbers
falling 5.6% to 473,000 and gross written
premiums 6.1% lower at £154.7 million. On the
other hand, claims costs in respect of policies
written in earlier years turned out to be less
than the business had expected. The result was
a record profit – up 15.6% to £40.0 million.

Prospects

With no sign of an immediate upturn 
in premiums and lower claims cost benefits,
Provident’s motor insurance profit is likely to
fall in 2006. When prices do begin to rise,
Provident Insurance will be in the favourable
position of being able to increase its premiums
less quickly than its competitors. We’re 
likely, then, to see a flow of customers back 
in Provident’s direction.

Chief Executive’s review
UK – motor insurance

RECORD PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£40.0m

GROSS WRITTEN PREMIUMS 

£154.7m

Provident Insurance is an efficient,
tightly managed business.‘‘ ’’
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Chief Executive’s review

Corporate responsibility

Our business depends on a network of relationships
with our stakeholders: from customers, employees
and shareholders to suppliers, business partners 
and the wider community. Corporate responsibility 
is about addressing the needs of all these groups 
in a way that both advances the business and makes 
a positive contribution to society.

What this section covers

• Satisfying our stakeholders

• Our customers

• Management and staff

• Diversity

• Health and safety

• Suppliers

• The environment

• Scores and rankings

• Reporting our progress

• Making a difference in the community

32 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005
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This year we’ve moved forward on a

number of fronts. We’ve seen better liaison

with our stakeholders, more parts of the

group involved in our corporate

responsibility (CR) programmes, closer

links with suppliers and more relevant

reporting – all part of our drive for

effective action and measurable results.

Here we give you a brief summary of a very

active CR programme. For the full story,

please visit www.providentfinancial.com.

Satisfying our stakeholders

Like any other aspect of our business, 

CR is carefully managed. As we implement

our CR policies and projects, different

working groups ensure they meet 

the needs of our business divisions, 

our customers and employees, our

shareholders, the environment and the

communities in which we operate.

Our customers

The main way we discharge our

responsibility to customers is by offering

products and services that genuinely meet

their needs. Our products serve a valuable

social purpose by enabling more people to

join the financial mainstream.

During the year, those Provident

businesses regulated by the Financial

Services Authority have been taking steps

to comply with a new government initiative

called Treating Customers Fairly.

Management and staff

In a business that’s moving, changing 

and growing, we depend on good people 

at every level in the organisation. We’re

fortunate that high calibre employees

want to work for Provident in both the 

UK and overseas, and we aim to offer 

the widest possible opportunities. Over 

the years, our MBA support programme

has helped large numbers of managers 

to develop their careers. In addition, the 

rapid growth of the international division

presents opportunities for talented 

people to take on more responsibility.

WORKING GROUPS HELP TO IMPLEMENT 
OUR CR POLICIES AND PROJECTS
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Diversity

We recognise we need to do more to make
sure our workforce reflects the diversity of the
local community. This year we’ve been working
with the Employer’s Forum on Disability and a
number of UK banks to ensure that
recruitment agencies working on our behalf
pay as much attention to diversity as we do.
We’ve also started a programme to train our
managers in diversity issues.

Health and safety

To protect our employees at work, we have 
a health and safety policy and framework
approved by the board.

Suppliers

Our largest network of suppliers consists of
35,600 self-employed agents in the UK and
abroad. We go to great lengths to find agents
of the right calibre and to ensure they have
the expertise they need.

For some years in the UK, we’ve selected
contractors partly on the basis of their
environmental record. Where existing
suppliers have a poor record, we work with
them to improve their performance. Where
suppliers are doing well environmentally, we
try to share their practices with the rest of 
the supplier network. We’re now extending this
approach from the UK to our international
businesses. At the same time, we’re starting
to assess suppliers not just on their
environmental performance but on how they
handle issues such as ethical procurement
and human rights.

The environment

Interest from stakeholders in all types of
companies’ environmental performance is
increasing. The Accounts Modernisation
Directive means that all larger companies will
be required to report to investors on how
environmental issues affect their profitability.
Growing environmental awareness means
more companies than ever are coming under
scrutiny from interested parties and campaign
groups. New reporting guidelines from the
Department for Environment Food and Rural
Affairs (DEFRA) have identified that the
essential Key Performance Indicators 
that should be reported by financial sector
companies are those for greenhouse gases
and waste. 

We continue to work hard to reduce impacts
in these areas and have a comprehensive
environmental management system for
measuring and improving our performance.
The system is fully embedded in the UK, is now
working well in our Central European businesses,
and has started in Mexico and Vanquis Bank. 

We commissioned a full energy audit of
our corporate head office and the
recommendations are being prioritised for
implementation during 2006. In addition,
electricity sub-metering has been installed 
at our corporate head office to allow us to
understand more fully patterns of energy
usage. Our home credit and motor insurance
head office sites in the UK continue to use
‘green’ electricity. 

For some of the events in 2005 that required
a large number of people to travel, we offset
the carbon dioxide produced by all those
journeys by giving money to Climate Care. 
This organisation invests the money in
sustainable energy and reforestation projects.
From 2006, we intend to extend this initiative
to more events and for all flights. 

Motor insurance continues to further develop
and embed its successful environmental
supply chain strategy.

Scores and rankings

Our progress has been recognised by many of
the indices that track the performance of major
companies. In 2005, we were chosen to become
a member of the Dow Jones World Sustainability
Index – an index of the top 250 companies in
the world in the field of sustainability. We’ve also
kept our position in the FTSE4Good index of the
UK’s most responsible companies for the fourth
year running and our most recent scores in
Business in the Community’s CR index and its
Business in the Environment index are 81% and
90% respectively.

Reporting our progress

We’re liaising more closely with more
stakeholders, both to get their views on our
CR programme and on how we’re doing on
reporting our progress.

In January 2005, we held a stakeholder round-
table that brought together MPs, shareholders,
environmental consultants, journalists, 
debt-advice agencies and others to take a
fundamental look at our previous CR reporting.
Various suggestions emerged as to 
what people wanted to know and these were
incorporated in our CR report for 2004. In a
similar exercise, we asked a cross-section of
stakeholders to examine our environmental
targets to see if we were going for the right
ones. Several targets have changed as a result.

This year, for the first time, we recorded
our progress against the Global Reporting
Initiative, the international framework for 
CR reporting. We also began producing an
online CR newsletter.

SCORE IN BUSINESS IN THE 
COMMUNITY’S CR INDEX

81%

SCORE IN BUSINESS IN THE 
ENVIRONMENT INDEX

90%
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GROUP COMMUNITY AND CHARITABLE
CONTRIBUTIONS IN 2005

£2.1m

Our Czech operation became the first of our
international businesses – and one of the first
companies in the Czech Republic – to issue 
its own CR report. As a result, it’s now helping 
to set the agenda for CR reporting within 
that country.

Making a difference in the community

Our community investment programme seeks 
to benefit the communities in which our
customers, employees and agents live and work.
Year by year, we’re becoming more structured 
in our approach. Under the heading of ‘new
opportunities for young people’, we’re focusing
on fewer projects, managing them better and
measuring the inputs and outputs more
precisely. For maximum value, we work in
partnership with local organisations when we 
can and contribute not just money but ideas,
resources in kind, and the time and skills of 
our people.

We have also joined the London
Benchmarking Group to help us quantify the
contribution we make to each community
project and the result we achieve.

UK community projects

Our biggest community project in the last 
two years has been Partners in Art, a three-
part programme using art in different forms 
to encourage children to be creative. Since
2004, the programme has involved 18
schools and 3,500 children in disadvantaged
areas, and has had a remarkable effect on
classroom atmosphere and pupils’ sense of
achievement.

Partners in Art came to an end in 
November 2005 with a reception at the
National Portrait Gallery to celebrate its
achievements. It now becomes the
springboard for a new programme 
called Spark. 

While Partners in Art was based on the visual
arts, Spark embraces a spread of art forms
from singing to circus skills and will involve
around 50 schools and 6,000 children a year.

Our partners in the project will be the West
Yorkshire Playhouse and seven other local
theatres. As well as rooting the programme 
in the community, this type of joint initiative
offers our partners the opportunity to apply
for matched funding, helping our money 
go further.

Spark was piloted at seven schools in Bradford
at the start of 2006 and opens at its first main
venue in Birmingham in the summer term.

Over the last four years, Provident Action
for Creative Kids (PACK) has funded two-day
stays in youth hostels for 6,000 children from
disadvantaged areas. It came to an end 
in England and Wales in February 2006 
but continues in Scotland and the Republic 
of Ireland.

Operating in disadvantaged areas of London,
L’Ouverture seeks to improve the academic
achievement of young people by engaging
them in IT and arts projects. The effect at one
South London school was to cut the expulsion
rate from three or four pupils per half-term 
to none at all during the project. Everyone
involved produced higher than expected
grades in GCSE English and ICT, and all have
applied to go on to higher education.

Last year’s project by head office employees
to renovate the Scholemoor community
centre in Bradford earned a prestigious
Big Tick award in 2005 from Business in
the Community. Employees of Provident
Insurance, meanwhile, raised £14,000 for
a special needs school in Calderdale.

International community projects

Our community investment programmes
overseas are going through an evolution.
When our Central European businesses began,
their community projects were used mainly 
to promote the Provident name as widely as
possible. Now these businesses are starting 
to deal with fewer projects in greater depth
and to measure inputs and results more
systematically. Under the broad theme of 
‘new opportunities for young people’, each 
is responding to local community needs.

The biggest international programme is
Poland’s Trampolina which provides sports
equipment for under-funded Polish schools
and has so far benefited around 20,000
children. At the start of each year, Provident
Polska organises the Trampolina Olympic
Games in Warsaw, bringing together sports
and movie celebrities and pupils from all over
Poland. Longer term, the aim is to improve the
health and fitness of the younger generation.

Provident Polska also supports the Stay 
with Us project that offers scholarships 
to young Polish scientists to enable them to
continue their research in Poland rather than
go abroad.

In the Czech Republic, where the charity
sector is still relatively new, Provident has
been offering courses to community
organisations on topics such as project
management and the legislation concerning
community donations. The aim is to make
these fledgling bodies more effective in raising
funds and running sustainable projects.
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Community contributions in 2005 exceeded 
1% of profit before tax*

* From ongoing operations

GARY, FIRST OVER THE FINISHING 
LINE IN OUR ANNUAL CROSS-COUNTRY
CHARITY FUN RUN IN HALIFAX

INTERACTIVE ARTS WORKSHOPS 
ARE INTEGRAL TO OUR 

‘TAKE ART’ PROGRAMME

DRAMATIC TALES OF LOCAL LEGENDS 
ARE TOLD TO CHILDREN AT BLAENYMAES
PRIMARY SCHOOL, SWANSEA

PUTTING THE FINISHING TOUCHES 
TO A PERFORMANCE BY L’OUVERTURE
PARTICIPANTS IN SOUTH LONDON

GETTING TO GRIPS WITH FILM PRODUCTION
AT THE NATIONAL MUSEUM OF
PHOTOGRAPHY, FILM AND TELEVISION

CAPTURING THE IMAGINATION 
OF YOUNG PEOPLE THROUGH ART

SOME OF THE 6,000 PUPILS WHO HAVE 
TAKEN PART IN AN ACTION-PACKED 
‘PACK’ BREAK IN EDALE

PUPILS AT GREAT BRIDGE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL, TIPTON, 
BEGIN THEIR MASTERPIECE
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The Slovakian Smile as a Gift Foundation 
runs a programme to prepare young people 
in children’s homes for life in the adult world. 
As well as helping the programme financially,
Provident has fielded employees from its own
training and personnel departments to take
part in the training itself.

In Hungary, employees have the option of
assigning 1% of their income tax payment 
to charity rather than have it go to the
government. However, the amount of
paperwork involved tends to put people off. 
In 2005, Provident’s Hungarian business
decided to make its employees more aware 
of the scheme and to help with the forms. 
As a result, the number taking part in the
scheme rose from 56% in 2004 to 68% in
2005 – more than twice the national average.

Provident in Mexico has donated to the Juconi
Foundation which cares for street children 
in Puebla. Its employees also collected food 
and medicine for the victims of Hurricane 
Stan which hit the country in October 2005.

Money advice

Under the Gateway initiative, the UK
government is encouraging debt advice
organisations to come together and adopt 
a more coherent approach to the task with 
a common phone number for help and
common standards of advice. Provident
supports the move as a way of offering better
support to those in difficulty. Gateway will 
also provide better data on the state of
indebtedness across the country and help 
to show if our own policies and practices 
need to be adjusted in any way.

We continue to support a number of
organisations involved in debt counselling 
and financial education. These include the
Bradford-based Christians Against Poverty
along with Credit Action, Debt Cred, Citizens’
Advice, Money Advice, National Debtline, 
and Advice UK.

Thank you for your interest in reading this
report. If you have comments on our activities
or the way we report them, we’d be pleased 
to hear from you. Contact us with your views
at www.providentfinancial.com.

Robin Ashton

Chief Executive

22 March 2006

Thank you so much for creating
something so imaginative for us. 
It will leave its mark on the
children for many years to come.
Junior school head teacher on the benefits of Partners in Art

‘‘
’’

Chief Executive’s review
Corporate responsibility
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Financial review

Prudent financial management and a strong 
balance sheet are key factors in the success 
of our business. We have an excellent record of 
cash generation which allows us to reinvest in
developing products and expanding businesses.

38 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005
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International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS)

Consistent with all other EU listed groups,
Provident Financial’s 2005 financial
statements have been prepared on the basis
of EU endorsed IFRS.

The key changes on adoption of IFRS are in
respect of revenue recognition, impairment 
of receivables and pension accounting.

The group’s IFRS accounting policies are set
out in full on pages 70 to 75. These policies
have been chosen by the directors to ensure
that the financial statements present a true and
fair view. All of the group’s accounting policies
are compliant with the requirements of IFRS,
interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) and UK company law.

2004 comparative financial information
previously prepared under UK GAAP has been
fully restated to EU endorsed IFRS. Detailed
reconciliations from previously reported UK
GAAP to EU endorsed IFRS, together with
supporting commentary, are set out in note
32 to the financial statements. The
transitional arrangements and exemptions
taken under IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards’
are set out in detail on pages 70 to 71 within
the statement of accounting policies.

The continued appropriateness of the group’s
accounting policies, and the methods of
applying those policies in practice, will be
reviewed annually.

Profit from ongoing operations

The group’s ongoing operations comprise 
UK home credit, international home credit,
Vanquis Bank and motor insurance.

Profit before taxation from ongoing
operations was slightly reduced by 1.1% 
from £208.2 million to £206.0 million.

Profit before taxation from ongoing
operations by division is shown below:

2005 2004 Change

Ongoing operations £m £m £m

UK home credit 146.3 154.0 (7.7)

Vanquis Bank (15.9) (9.0) (6.9)

UK consumer credit 130.4 145.0 (14.6)

International 51.1 39.8 11.3

Motor insurance 40.0 34.6 5.4

Group central costs (15.5) (11.2) (4.3)

Profit before taxation 206.0 208.2 (2.2)

John Harnett, Finance Director
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Closure of Yes Car Credit

Yes Car Credit ceased selling and financing
used vehicles from its branch network on
14 December 2005. The group continues to
collect out the remaining loan book of Yes Car
Credit as repayments fall due over the course 
of the next four years.

As revenue and impairment charges will
continue to be recognised on the loan book in
future years, the group must continue to
recognise the results of Yes Car Credit as part
of continuing operations. However, in order to
separate the results of Yes Car Credit from the
group’s ongoing operations, the trading results
and closure costs of this business have been
disclosed separately on the face of the group
income statement.

The loss after taxation can be analysed as
follows:

£m

Goodwill impairment 91.0

Property costs 14.9

Impairment of receivables 14.4

Redundancy costs 10.1

Fixed asset impairments 4.6

Inventory write-downs 2.0

Other 4.0

Total closure costs 141.0

Trading loss 24.6

Loss before taxation 165.6

Tax credit (20.2)

Loss attributable to Yes Car Credit 145.4

Including the pre-tax loss attributable to
Yes Car Credit of £165.6 million, group 
profit before taxation in 2005 fell from
£205.5 million to £40.4 million.

Taxation

The effective tax rate for the year on trading
operations was 29.3% (2004 29.7%) of
profit before tax and Yes Car Credit closure
costs. It is expected that the effective tax
rate will be at a slightly lower level in 2006
as international profit, which is taxed at
lower rates than the UK, becomes a larger
proportion of overall group profit.

The tax credit on Yes Car Credit closure costs
amounted to £12.8 million. This is significantly
lower than 30% of the total closure costs 
as the goodwill impairment, amounting to 
£91.0 million, is not tax deductible.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share from ongoing operations
decreased by 1.0% from 57.74p to 57.18p.
Including Yes Car Credit, earnings per share
reduced from 57.00p to nil.

Dividend policy

Our dividend policy, which has been in place
for several years, is to maintain a dividend
cover of about 1.75 times – which equates 
to a pay-out of 57% of our post-tax profit.

The closure of Yes Car Credit has resulted in 
a fall in earnings in 2005. In addition, earlier
impairment charges under IFRS have resulted 
in lower IFRS profits than UK GAAP profits in
our rapidly expanding international division.
However, the board recognises the importance
of dividends to shareholders and is therefore
recommending a 3.0% increase in the final
dividend from 20.75p to 21.37p. If the final
dividend is approved at the annual general
meeting, total dividends relating to 2005 will
amount to 35.43p per share, an increase of
3.0% on 2004. This represents a dividend yield
of 6.5% (2004 5.1%), based on our year end
share price. Dividend cover from ongoing
operations was 1.61 times (2004 1.68 times).
Including the losses from Yes Car Credit, there
was no dividend cover (2004 1.65 times).

We intend to maintain a progressive dividend
policy with the aim of rebuilding dividend cover
to 1.75 times in the medium-term.

Value added and value distributed

Our business contributes to the economic
well-being of many of our stakeholders.
The salaries paid to our 7,700 employees
and the commission paid to 35,600 
self-employed agents help to support many
individuals and their families. Similarly, the
taxes we pay to governments help to fund
public services and the payments we make
to suppliers help to sustain businesses and
jobs. One way to measure this creation 
and distribution of wealth is through a value
added statement, as set out below:

2005 2004

£m £m

Value added:

Revenue less impairment 970 987

Payments to policyholders,

brokers and suppliers of (555) (435)

goods and services

Value added 415 552

Value distributed:

Employees 180 169

Agents 151 140

Shareholders1 89 85

Community contributions

and donations 2 2

Government taxes2 82 96

(Losses)/profits retained by

the business3 (89) 60

Value distributed 415 552

Notes 
1 Represents dividends paid in the year.
2 Comprises both corporation tax and indirect taxes.
3 Retained profits are calculated as profit after taxation 

less dividends paid.
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Financial review

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX (£m)

Note – following the implementation of IFRS, 2004 comparative financial information has been restated from UK GAAP to IFRS. 2003 and earlier years have not been restated and therefore IFRS data is only available for 2004 and 2005.

2004 2005

40

206

2004 2005

206 208

GROUP EPS (p)

2004 2005

57.00

nil

GROUP DPS (p)

35.43

29.35 30.90
33.00 34.40

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Reported ReportedOngoing* Ongoing*

*excludes Yes Car Credit

2004 2005

57.74 57.18
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VALUE DISTRIBUTED DURING 2005 TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN OVER LAST 
10 YEARS (£m)

294

214207

FTSE 100

207

PF FTSE 250 FTSE
All Share

43%
37%

21% 20%

(21%)

Retained

TaxationShareholdersAgentsEmployees

This statement shows, in monetary terms, the
value we add to the goods and services we buy
in, measured as the difference between income
received from customers and payments made
to our suppliers. The value created in this way
is then available for distribution to our
stakeholders. Some is retained in the business
and invested for future growth, so benefiting
tomorrow’s stakeholders. In 2005, 80% of the
value added was available for distribution to
employees and agents.

Total shareholder return (TSR)

TSR is a concept used to compare the
performance of different companies’ shares
over time.

It combines share price appreciation and
dividends paid to show the total return to the
shareholder. TSR provides an objective measure
of company performance and value creation for
shareholders. The chart above shows the TSR 
of £100 invested in Provident over the last ten
years as compared with the TSR for the FTSE
100, FTSE 250 and the FTSE All Share indices
over the same period.

During 2005, our TSR has fallen due to the
closure of Yes Car Credit and over the last ten
years we are now in line with the FTSE 100.

Cash flows and capital generation

The nature of the cash flows arising from 
our consumer credit and motor insurance
businesses are substantially different.

In our consumer credit businesses, advances
are made to customers which are collected in
future periods and which, therefore, require
funding. In the motor insurance division,
premiums are received in advance and are held
on deposit until claims are paid at a later date. 

The cash and investments held by the motor
insurance division are strictly segregated from
the funds of the rest of the group and are 
not available to service borrowings or to pay
dividends to our shareholders.

The group has always had a very good record
of reinvesting cash in new and expanding
businesses whilst still maintaining a progressive
dividend policy. The table below shows the
capital generated after retaining the extra
capital needed to support receivables growth
in the business - this effectively shows the
amount of capital available to pay dividends:

2005 2004

£m £m

UK home credit 101.3 111.1

Vanquis Bank (18.2) (10.6)

International 29.0 11.3

Central (14.5) (12.9)

Motor insurance 26.2 30.7

Net surplus capital 

before dividends 123.8 129.6

Dividends paid (88.6) (84.9)

Group surplus capital

generated from ongoing

operations 35.2 44.7

Yes Car Credit (36.4) (15.5)

Group surplus capital 

(used)/generated (1.2) 29.2

The capital generated from the consumer
credit businesses represents operating cash
flows less net capital expenditure and tax 
paid and after retaining capital in the
businesses to support 20% of the growth in
customer receivables. It is stated prior to the
special contributions made to the group’s
pension schemes (which in 2005 amounted to 
£44.0 million and in 2004 amounted to 
£13.0 million). Within the motor insurance
division, the surplus capital generated,
effectively represents the profits generated 

by the division over and above that required 
to be held within the business for regulatory
purposes.

UK home credit has traditionally generated 
a large amount of capital and this continued 
in 2005. The business generated capital of
£101.3 million, a little less than 2004 because
of slightly lower profit and extra capital to
support the growth in receivables due to the
success of longer, larger loans. 

The international division generated sufficient
capital to fund its own growth and contributed
surplus capital of £29.0 million in 2005 whilst
the motor insurance division generated 
surplus capital of £26.2 million. Vanquis Bank,
which is rapidly growing its loan book, absorbed 
£18.2 million of capital and central costs
absorbed £14.5 million of capital.

The total surplus capital generated by the
ongoing operations was £123.8 million, prior
to a total dividend payment of £88.6 million.
The dividends paid in 2005 were therefore 
well covered by capital generated.

Yes Car Credit used £36.4 million of capital 
in the year as a result of its trading losses,
combined with related closure costs. Looking
forward, that business is expected to release
capital of approximately £40 million as the
loan book is collected out.

Capital structure

Prudent financial management and a strong
balance sheet are key factors in the success
of our business. Maintaining a good balance
between internally generated capital and
borrowings allows us to effectively pursue our
growth strategy in international markets.

To 31 December 2005
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The capital structure of the group at the end
of 2005 is shown below:

2005 2004

£m £m

Consumer credit receivables 1,274 1,200

Net borrowings 983 858

Consumer credit capital 239 236

Goodwill 3 88

Motor insurance capital 75 91

Group net assets 317 415

Consumer credit capital 

as a % of consumer credit

receivables 18.8% 19.7%

Group gearing ratio 3.1x 2.1x

Consumer credit receivables increased by
£74 million (6%) during the year to £1,274
million and net borrowings, all of which support
our consumer credit businesses, increased by
15% to £983 million.

Group net assets decreased from £415 million
to £317 million, due to the losses at Yes Car
Credit. Our net assets are made up of 
£239 million of equity capital for our consumer
credit businesses (including Yes Car Credit) 
and £75 million of capital in motor insurance.
The amount of capital in our motor insurance
business has decreased by £16 million
because surplus capital was taken out of the
business, by way of a dividend. 

Under UK GAAP we aimed to fund about 25%
of our consumer credit receivables by equity.
Under IFRS, with its earlier recognition of
impairment charges, we have revised this
target to 20%. Consumer credit capital as a
percentage of customer receivables at the 
end of 2005 was 18.8%, a little below this 
new target but this will increase as the Yes Car
Credit loan book runs off during 2006.

Balance sheet gearing for the group increased
from 2.1 times to 3.1 times, mainly due to the
write off of goodwill at Yes Car Credit.

Pensions

The group operates defined benefit pension
arrangements and stakeholder pension plans
for its employees.

We closed our defined benefit pension
schemes to employees joining the group from
1 January 2003. All new employees joining
after that date are offered membership of 
the stakeholder pension plan into which the
company contributes 8% of members’
pensionable earnings, provided the employee
contributes a minimum of 6%.

Despite increased additional annual
contributions of approximately £15 million 
per annum, the group’s defined benefit
pension obligation has continued to increase
in recent years and at 30 June 2005 stood 
at £133.2 million. Falling investment returns,
increased life expectancy and tax and
regulatory changes have continued to negate
the impact of the additional contributions.

As a result of these external factors, we
undertook an extensive review of the defined
benefit pension arrangements for our
employees in the second half of 2005. 
The review considered a range of factors
including the changing trends in employment
patterns, greater life expectancy, 
investment performance and new accounting
requirements. Following the conclusion of the
review, new, more sustainable pension
arrangements for future pension accrual 
have been established. These provide greater
certainty as to the cost of pension provision
and, in particular, have been designed to
reduce the volatility of the group’s 
pension costs to changes in wage inflation 
and longevity.

In conjunction with the introduction of the 
new pension arrangements, the group has
made two special contributions totalling 
£133 million to its defined benefit pension
schemes – the first, amounting to £31 million,
was made in December 2005 with the second
payment, amounting to £102 million, being
made in January 2006. These payments were
calculated to remove the IAS 19 deficit as
valued at 30 June 2005.

An analysis of our IAS 19 pension liability as 
at 31 December 2005 is set out below:

2005 2004

£m £m

Market value of

scheme assets 331 231

Value of scheme liabilities (437) (361)

IAS 19 pension deficit (106) (130)

Deferred tax 32 39

Net impact on balance sheet (74) (91)

The significant reduction in the liability in
2005 principally reflects the impact of the
first payment (£31 million) to eliminate the
pension deficit which was made in December
2005. The second payment (£102 million) 
will be reflected in the financial statements 
for 2006.

The pension charge for the year, calculated
on an IAS 19 basis, was £10.1 million (2004
£9.2 million). The charge for 2006 will be
significantly lower than this but the reduction
will be broadly offset by the increased interest
cost arising from the borrowings used to
eliminate the deficit.

Financial review

GEARING
(times)

2004 2005

3.1

2.1
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GROUP REVENUE 
(£m)

1,110
1,000

2004 2005

GROUP NET ASSETS AND NET RECEIVABLES
(£m)

2004 2005

318

415

Borrowings

Group borrowings were £983 million at the
end of the year compared with £858 million
at the end of 2004. The increased borrowings
were used mainly to fund the special
contributions into the group’s pension
schemes and growth in the loan book of
Vanquis Bank.

The group borrows mainly to provide loans to
customers. The normal pattern of lending in
our home credit businesses means that our
peak funding requirements arise in December
each year.

The group’s main sources of funding are private
placement loan notes and committed revolving
loan facilities provided by banks principally
based in the countries in which we operate.

At the end of 2005, we had available
borrowing facilities of £1.6 billion 
(2004 £1.4 billion), almost all of which were
committed facilities. This compares with gross
borrowings of £983 million. The chart on 
page 44 shows the level of committed
borrowing facilities available to the group
during the next four years.

During 2005, the group secured additional
funding of £162 million. £100 million was from
the issue of subordinated loan notes,
representing the group’s first issue of publicly
traded debt. These notes carry a ten-year
maturity, with an option for the group to redeem
the notes at par after five years. The balance
came from additional committed bank facilities
of £62 million that were added in the year.

As part of the issue of the subordinated loan
notes, the group obtained an external credit
rating for the first time. Fitch Ratings have
rated the group’s senior long-term debt 
at BBB+.

Interest costs of £61.9 million were £4.8 million
higher than in 2004, largely reflecting the
higher average level of borrowings during the
year. The average rate of interest paid on
sterling borrowings, including hedging costs,
was 6.65% in 2005 compared with 6.49% in
2004. Interest payable is covered 3.9 times by
profit before interest, tax and Yes Car Credit
closure costs (2004 4.6 times).

The group has continued to comply with all its
borrowing covenants.

Investments

Total investments held by the motor insurance
division amounted to £376 million at the 
year end (2004 £440 million). The division’s
total investment income reduced from 
£23.3 million to £21.6 million, reflecting the
lower average value of the investment fund
and the lower average yield earned on those
investments which was 5.0% in 2005,
compared to 5.3% in 2004.

In addition to the investments held by the
motor insurance division, the group also holds
£21 million (2004 £22 million) of short-term
deposits within the international division.

Treasury policy and financial risk

management

The group’s multi-national operations and
significant debt financing expose it to a variety
of financial risks that include the effects of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
interest rates, credit risks and liquidity. The
board approves treasury policies that seek to
limit the adverse effect of these risks on
financial performance. The application of the
policies, together with the management of 
day-to-day treasury operations, is managed 
by the group’s central treasury function. The
board delegates certain responsibilities to the
treasury committee. The treasury committee,
which is chaired by the group’s Finance

Director, is empowered to take decisions within
that delegated authority. Treasury activities
and compliance with the treasury policies are
reported to the board on a regular basis and
are subject to periodic independent reviews 
and audits, both internal and external.

Treasury policies are designed to manage
the main financial risks faced by the group
in relation to funding, investment and hedging.
These policies ensure that the borrowings and
investments are with high quality counterparties;
are limited to specific instruments; the exposure
to any one counterparty or type of instrument 
is controlled; and the group’s exposure to
interest rate and exchange rate movements is
maintained within set limits.

The treasury function enters into derivative
transactions, principally interest rate swaps,
currency swaps and forward currency contracts.

The purpose of these transactions is to
manage the interest rate and currency risks
arising from the group’s underlying business
operations. No transactions of a speculative
nature are undertaken and written options
may only be used when matched by
purchased options.

Interest rate risk

The group seeks to limit the net exposure to
changes in interest rates in each operational
currency. This is achieved through a
combination of (i) natural hedging, which
allows the increased cost of borrowing
resulting from higher interest rates to be
offset by increased investment income in that
currency and vice versa, (ii) the issuance of
fixed rate debt and (iii) by the use of derivative
instruments such as interest rate swaps.

ReportedOngoing*

*excludes Yes Car Credit

1,3381,272

2004 2005 2004 2005

1,274
1,200

Net receivables Net assets

58.22_PF_FRONT_P10_LM  23/3/06  9:00 pm  Page 43



44 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Financial review

COMMITTED BORROWING FACILITIES
(£m)

SOURCES OF GROUP BORROWING FACILITIES

Currency risk

As the group expands internationally, our
exposure to movements in exchange rates is
increasing. Our policy is to minimise the value 
of our net assets denominated in foreign
currencies by funding all of our overseas
receivables by borrowings in local currency 
or by sterling borrowings swapped into local
currency for the duration of the loans.

As far as possible, we aim to hedge the
currency risk associated with expected future
cash flows which are denominated in local
currency and which we expect to arise in the
following 12 months. Where forward foreign
exchange contracts have been entered into,
they are designated as cash flow hedges on
specific future transactions.

Credit risk

Receivables
We are a responsible lender and it is in both ours
and the customers’ interest to only lend to those
customers who can afford the repayments. The
risk of unexpected credit losses that are material
to the group from our diversified portfolio of
small, short-term loans is low.

In the home credit businesses we have recently
developed application scoring systems to allow
us to identify and exclude higher risk customers
at the initial application stage. For existing
customers, we use a behavioural scoring system
that assists less experienced agents in making
lending decisions. Customers must have
displayed a reliable payment record with us in
the past before we will lend them any additional
amounts. At Vanquis Bank, we use credit
scorecards based on a combination of internally
generated data and data from external credit
bureaus to set appropriate initial credit limits
that reflect a customer’s risk and ability to repay
amounts borrowed. Increases in credit limits are
only agreed once a customer has established an
acceptable payment performance.

In all our businesses, we regularly monitor 
the credit performance of our loan portfolios 
by monitoring the level of impairment we 
incur on a weekly and monthly basis. Where
necessary we will amend our credit policies 
and procedures to ensure that the level of
impairment is acceptable.

Investments
Our motor insurance business receives
premiums in advance and holds a portion of
these in reserve until claims are paid. The credit
risk associated with these funds is mitigated by
investing in a low-risk portfolio in order to
ensure the security of the investment, whilst
producing a reliable flow of interest income.
The motor insurance division’s investment
portfolio consists entirely of deposits with, or
investments in, interest-bearing instruments
issued by banks and building societies for
periods of up to one year. There are strict limits,
approved biannually by the board, on our
maximum exposure to any one counterparty
based upon external credit ratings, and on the
average maturity of the portfolio.

Liquidity risk

We need to ensure that there are always
sufficient borrowings available to fund growth
and so we arrange committed borrowing
facilities comfortably exceeding our expected
peak funding requirements and for periods 
well in excess of the life of customer loans.

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

852

1,576 1,535
1,318

917

Sterling bilateral bank 
facilities 51%

Non-sterling bilateral 
bank facilities 20%

Loan notes issued to 
private investors 14%

Non-sterling syndications 8%

Subordinated loan notes 6%

Overdraft and 
uncommitted loans 1%

Sterling exchange rates used in 2004 and 2005

Polish Czech Hungarian Slovak Mexican
zloty crown forint crown euro peso

Average exchange rate

during 2005 5.89 43.53 362.37 56.40 1.46 19.83

Exchange rate as at

31 December 2005 5.58 42.18 366.68 54.95 1.45 18.29

Average exchange rate

during 2004 6.68 47.00 370.21 58.99 1.47 20.66

Exchange rate as at

31 December 2004 5.77 42.87 346.36 54.70 1.42 21.34

As at 31 December As at 31 December 2005
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It is our policy to extend the term of
committed medium-term loan facilities by a
year, each year, to ensure a substantial and
continuing headroom above forecast
requirements. At 31 December 2005, our
committed borrowing facilities had an average
maturity of 3.9 years (2004 4.0 years). Total
undrawn committed facilities at the year end
totalled £604 million.

Regulatory capital

Certain subsidiaries of the group are subject
to prudential regulation. The principal
regulated subsidiaries in the UK are Vanquis
Bank Limited and Provident Insurance plc
which are regulated by the Financial Services
Authority (FSA). In addition, the Provident
Financial group, excluding Provident Insurance
plc, is also subject to consolidated supervision
by the FSA, as Provident Financial plc is the
parent company of Vanquis Bank.

Vanquis Bank

Vanquis Bank was issued with a banking licence
in 2003. In its supervisory role, the FSA sets
requirements relating to capital adequacy,
liquidity management and large exposures. 
The Provident Financial supervised group has
requirements in respect of capital adequacy and
large exposures but not in respect of liquidity.

In terms of capital adequacy, both Vanquis Bank
and the supervised group are required to
maintain a certain ratio of capital to risk
weighted assets. Risk weighted assets primarily
comprise customer receivables, other financial
assets, sundry debtors, fixed assets and cash
balances. As at 31 December 2005, the capital
adequacy ratio for Vanquis Bank was 48.2% and
for the supervised group was 21.2%. These were
comfortably in excess of the limit set by the FSA. 

An analysis of the supervised group’s capital
adequacy is set out as follows:

2005 2004

£m £m

Receivables 1,274 1,200

Other risk weighted assets 268 194

Total risk weighted assets 1,542 1,394

Capital reserves – Tier 1 228 289

Subordinated loan notes 

– Tier 2 100 –

Total capital resources 328 289

Capital adequacy ratio 21.2% 20.7%

The Financial Groups Directive, which 
became effective from 1 January 2005,
introduced additional supervision of those
groups which straddle the insurance and
banking sectors. Such groups are called
financial conglomerates. The Provident
Financial group meets the definition of a
financial conglomerate and is required to
report additional information annually to the
FSA concerning risk concentrations, 
intra-group transactions and any significant
transactions it undertakes. The group is due 
to submit its first reports under this directive 
by 31 March 2006.

Provident Insurance

Provident Insurance is regulated by the FSA as
a general insurance company independently
of the rest of the group. As such it is covered
by the new prudential requirements for UK
insurance firms which came into effect on 
1 January 2005. These introduced a more
risk-based approach to calculating the level
of capital which the company must hold by
requiring it to consider the specific risks it
faces and how much capital should be held
against each of those risks. The company
submitted this Individual Capital Assessment
to the FSA in January 2005 and received
guidance back from the FSA in July, which
specifies a required level of capital broadly 
in line with the company’s own assessment.

As at 31 December 2005, the capital held 
by Provident Insurance under this new
guidance was equal to 32% of its gross 
written premiums in the previous year. This 
is in line with the capital requirement under 
the previous regulatory regime.

Going concern

The directors have reviewed the group’s
budgets, plans and cash flow forecasts for 
the year to 31 December 2006 and outline
projections for the four subsequent years.
Based on this review, they have a reasonable
expectation that the group has adequate
resources to continue to operate for 
the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
the directors continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

John Harnett

Finance Director

22 March 2006
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Our directors and board committees

John van Kuffeler, Non-Executive Chairman,

age 57. Graduated with a degree in economics

and qualified as a chartered accountant in

1973. He joined Provident Financial in 1991 as

Chief Executive and was appointed Executive

Chairman in 1997. He became non-executive

Chairman in 2002. He was formerly group Chief

Executive of Brown Shipley Holdings PLC. He is

Chairman of Huveaux PLC.

Robin Ashton, Chief Executive, age 48.

Qualified as a chartered accountant in 1982

having graduated in economics and law. He joined

the group in 1983 as Finance Director of Provident

Insurance and subsequently became Deputy

Managing Director of H T Greenwood and

Managing Director of Provident Investments. He

became group Treasurer in 1989 and joined the

board as Finance Director in 1993. In 1999 he 

was appointed Deputy Chief Executive and in 2001

was appointed Chief Executive.

John Harnett, Finance Director, age 51.

Qualified as a chartered accountant in 1981

having graduated in business studies. He joined

the group in 1999 and was appointed to the

board. He has previously held positions as

Finance Director of Allied Colloids PLC and

Holliday Chemical Holdings plc.

David Swann, Managing Director, international,

age 59. Graduated with a degree in economics

and politics. He joined the group in 1973 

and has held many positions within the UK 

home credit business including Managing

Director of Provident Personal Credit (North).

He was responsible for group corporate

development from 1994 to 1997 and in that

role was involved in the initial investigation of

the international potential for home credit.

In 1997 he was appointed Managing Director

of the international division. He joined the

board of Provident Financial in 2001. He will

retire following the annual general meeting.

Charles Gregson, Deputy Chairman and

independent non-executive director, age 58.

Qualified as a solicitor in 1972 having graduated

in history and law. He joined the board of

Provident Financial in 1995 as a non-executive

director and was appointed Deputy Chairman in

1997. He is a director of United Business Media

plc and has had responsibility for a number of its

businesses. In addition, he is non-executive

Chairman of ICAP plc, which provides specialist

intermediary broking services to commercial

banks and investment banks.

John Maxwell, independent non-executive

director, age 61. Qualified as a chartered

accountant in 1967. He joined the board of

Provident Financial in 2000. He is a non-

executive director of Royal & Sun Alliance

Insurance Group PLC and Homeserve plc.

He is also Chairman of DX Services plc and

Chairman of the Institute of Advanced Motorists.

Ray Miles, senior independent non-executive

director, age 61. Graduated with a degree in

economics and an MBA. He joined the board of

Provident Financial in 2004. He was formerly

Chairman of CP Ships Limited. He is Chairman 

of Box Club and the World Shipping Council and 

a trustee of the National Maritime Museums at

Greenwich and Cornwall and of Garden Opera.

Graham Pimlott, independent non-executive

director, age 56. Qualified as a solicitor in 1976.

He joined the board of Provident Financial in

2003. He is Chairman of the Export Credit

Guarantee Department and a member of the

Auditing Practices Board.

Director appointed since 31 December 2005

Peter Crook, Managing Director, UK home

credit, age 42. Qualified as a chartered

accountant in 1988 having graduated in

economics. Between 1990 and 1997 he held 

a number of different roles within Halifax plc. 

He then moved to Barclays plc, becoming UK

Managing Director of Barclaycard in 2000 and

Managing Director of UK Consumer Finance 

in 2004. He joined Provident Financial in

September 2005 as Managing Director of UK

home credit and was appointed to the board 

on 8 March 2006.

Board committees

Audit committee

Graham Pimlott (Chairman), John Maxwell, 

Ray Miles

Executive committee

Robin Ashton (Chairman), Peter Crook, 

John Harnett, David Swann

Nomination committee

John van Kuffeler (Chairman), Robin Ashton,

Charles Gregson, John Maxwell, Ray Miles,

Graham Pimlott

Remuneration committee

John Maxwell (Chairman), Ray Miles, 

Graham Pimlott

Risk advisory committee

Ray Miles (Chairman), Robin Ashton, 

Charles Gregson, John Maxwell, Graham Pimlott

David Swann, Robin Ashton, John Harnett John van Kuffeler, John Maxwell, Charles Gregson Graham Pimlott, Ray Miles
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The directors submit their report for the financial year ended 31 December 2005.

1 Review of the business
1.1 A full review of the group’s activities, performance and prospects is contained in the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review and the financial

review on pages 6 to 45.

1.2 Provident Financial plc (‘the company’) is a holding company. Details of the main trading subsidiary undertakings are shown on page 85 in note 13 of the

notes to the financial statements.

2 Dividends
An interim dividend of 14.06p per ordinary share was paid on 14 October 2005. The board recommends a final dividend of 21.37p per ordinary share to be paid

on 26 May 2006 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 7 April 2006. This makes a total dividend for the year of 35.43p per ordinary share.

3 Share capital
3.1 Increase in issued ordinary share capital

During the year the ordinary share capital in issue increased by 381,854 to 255,482,422 shares. Details are set out on page 102 in note 25 of the notes to the

financial statements.

3.2 Employee savings-related share option schemes

The current scheme for employees resident in the UK is the Provident Financial plc Employee Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 2003 (‘the 2003

scheme’). Options are still outstanding under the Provident Financial plc Employee Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 1993 (‘the 1993 scheme’). In 2000,

the company adopted a separate scheme, the Provident Financial plc International Employee Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (‘the 2000 scheme’), 

for employees who are resident outside the UK. The 2000 scheme has been implemented in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, the Republic of Ireland and

Slovakia. Details of options granted and exercised are shown in the tables in paragraphs 3.4 and 3.5 below.

3.3 Executive share option schemes

Options are outstanding under the Provident Financial plc Senior Executive Share Option Scheme (1995) (‘the 1995 scheme’) and the Provident Financial plc

Unapproved Senior Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) (‘the 1996 scheme’). No further options may be granted under these schemes. Details of options

granted and exercised are shown in the tables in paragraphs 3.4 and 3.5 below.

3.4 Share option schemes: grants 1 January 2005 – 14 March 2006

Date of grant of option Name of scheme Number of shares Exercise price (p) Normal exercise dates

23 March 2005 1995 scheme 44,108 702.50 March 2008 – March 2015

23 March 2005 1996 scheme 1,549,734 702.50 March 2008 – March 2015

21 October 2005 2000 scheme 100,518 507.00 December 2008 – February 2009

21 October 2005 2003 scheme 434,946 507.00 December 2008 – May 2013

3.5 Share option schemes: exercises 1 January 2005 – 14 March 2006 and outstanding options

Options exercised Options outstanding at Exercised from 

Name of scheme in 2005 31 December 2005 Normal exercise dates Exercise price (p) 01.01.2006 to 14.03.2006

1993 scheme 283,872 834,719 up to 2010 468.00 – 744.00 6,382

1995 scheme 31,331 511,591 up to 2015 520.00 – 1,037.00 –

1996 scheme 350,523 6,172,694 up to 2015 450.00 – 1,037.00 –

2000 scheme – 298,787 up to 2010 453.00 – 512.00 7,756

2003 scheme 3,853 1,396,071 up to 2013 453.00 – 512.00 7,773

Directors’ report

58.22_PF_DirectorsR_P9_DW  24/3/06  11:35 am  Page 47



48 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Directors’ report continued

3 Share capital continued
3.6 Total number of shares utilised for share option schemes

The table in paragraph 3.7 below shows the total number of shares utilised for the 1995 and 1996 schemes in the ten years preceding this report. The table 

in paragraph 3.8 below shows the total number of shares utilised for the 1993 scheme, the 2000 scheme and the 2003 scheme in the ten years preceding this

report. As at 31 December 2005 subsisting options had been granted under the 1995 and 1996 schemes over 65.31% of the total number of shares available for

executive share options (5% of the issued share capital); at the same date subsisting options had been granted under all the schemes over 50.07% of the total

number of shares available for share options (10% of the issued share capital).

3.7 Share option schemes: shares utilised for executive share option schemes

Number of Number of Number of 

Year of grant options granted options exercised options lapsed

1996 270,000 240,000 –

1997 875,570 489,142 60,657

1998 220,560 – 86,318

1999 517,736 – 185,647

2000 1,152,741 748,366 85,000

2001 371,460 10,798 57,500

2002 1,050,919 17,500 125,000

2003 1,392,038 107,500 107,500

2004 1,700,347 45,000 62,500

2005 1,593,842 – 32,500

Total 9,145,213 1,658,306 802,622

3.8 Share option schemes: shares utilised for savings-related share option schemes

Number of Number of Number of 

Year of grant options granted options exercised options lapsed

1996 982,838 707,054 275,784

1997 761,095 517,228 243,867

1998 483,389 4,910 464,865

1999 651,837 24,535 612,898

2000 658,813 5,037 584,454

2001 1,527,966 429,397 669,183

2002 854,043 229,271 297,145

2003 643,990 2,036 234,698

2004 848,975 2,015 110,246

2005 535,464 – 4,210

Total 7,948,410 1,921,483 3,497,350

3.9 The Provident Financial Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (‘the QUEST’)

The QUEST, a discretionary trust for the benefit of group directors and employees, operates in conjunction with the 1993 scheme and the 2003 scheme. 

The trustee, Provident Financial Trustees Limited, is a subsidiary of the company. As at 1 January 2005, the trustee held 1,130,672 (1 January 2004 1,552,289)

ordinary shares in the company. During 2005, 287,725 (2004 421,617) ordinary shares were transferred to directors and employees on the exercise of options

pursuant to the 1993 scheme and the 2003 scheme. On 31 December 2005, the trustee held 842,947 (2004 1,130,672) ordinary shares in the company. 

Further details are set out on page 102 in note 25 of the notes to the financial statements.

3.10 Authority to purchase shares

At the annual general meeting (‘the AGM’) of the company held on 24 May 2005 the shareholders authorised the company to purchase up to 25,517,000 of its

ordinary shares up until 23 May 2006. No shares were purchased pursuant to this authority. A further authority for the company to purchase its own shares will

be sought from shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 17 May 2006.
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3 Share capital continued
3.11 Substantial shareholdings

The company has received notifications from the Capital Group Companies Inc., Fidelity International Limited/FMR Corporation, Templeton Asset Management

Ltd., and Prudential plc and its subsidiaries that each is interested in more than 3% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company. On the basis of the

information available to the company as at 14 March 2006, the following investment managers (through segregated managed funds) have interests (though

not necessarily beneficial ownership) in aggregate amounting to over 3%:

Capital Group Companies Inc. 12.27%

Prudential plc and its subsidiaries 9.47%

Templeton Asset Management Ltd. 7.46%

Fidelity International Limited/FMR Corporation 4.72%

Schroder Investment Management Limited 4.67%

Marathon Asset Management Limited 4.32%

Legal & General Group plc/Legal & General Investment Management 4.14 %

4 Directors
4.1 The directors of the company as at 31 December 2005 are listed in paragraph 5.1 below. They all served as directors throughout 2005. Chris Johnstone

resigned as a director with effect from 31 December 2005. Peter Crook was appointed as a director on 8 March 2006.

4.2 During the year no director had a material interest in any contract of significance to which the company or a subsidiary undertaking was a party.

4.3 In 2005, the company amended its articles of association to permit it to indemnify directors of the company (or of any associated company) in accordance

with the Companies Act 1985. The company may fund expenditure incurred by directors in defending proceedings against them. If such funding is by means of 

a loan the director must repay the loan to the company if he is convicted of any criminal proceedings or judgement is given against him in any civil proceedings.

The company may indemnify any director of the company or of any associated company against any liability. However, the company may not provide an

indemnity against any liability incurred by the director to the company or to any associated company; against any liability incurred by the director to pay a

criminal or regulatory penalty; or against any liability incurred by the director in defending criminal proceedings in which he is convicted, or in defending any civil

proceedings brought by the company (or an associated company) in which judgement is given against him, or in connection with certain court applications

under the Companies Act 1985. No payments pursuant to these provisions were made in 2005 or at any time up to 14 March 2006.

5 Directors’ interests in shares
5.1 The beneficial interests of the directors in the issued share capital of the company were as follows:

Number of shares

31 December 2005 1 January 2005

John van Kuffeler 18,000 18,000

Robin Ashton 63,552 56,516

John Harnett 43,216 31,466

Chris Johnstone 132,946 127,845

David Swann 86,757 86,725

Charles Gregson 1,837 1,837

John Maxwell 2,100 2,100

Ray Miles 4,000 4,000

Graham Pimlott 11,117 10,543

5.2 No director had any non-beneficial holdings at 31 December 2005 or at any time up until 14 March 2006.
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5 Directors’ interests in shares continued
5.3 The QUEST operates in conjunction with the Provident Financial plc Employee Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (2003) and the Provident Financial

plc Employee Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (1993); and shares are transferred from the QUEST to employees when they exercise options. 

The directors, as beneficiaries under the QUEST along with group employees, are technically treated as having an interest in the shares held by the QUEST. 

As at 31 December 2005, the QUEST held 842,947 (2004 1,130,672) shares in the company.

5.4 Details of options granted to and exercised by directors are set out on page 61 in paragraph 5 of the directors’ remuneration report.

5.5 There were no changes in the beneficial or non-beneficial interests of the directors between 1 January and 14 March 2006.

6 Corporate governance
Full details of the company’s approach to corporate governance and the statement of compliance with the Combined Code are set out on pages 52 to 56

of the corporate governance report.

7 Employee involvement
7.1 The company operates three savings-related share option schemes (referred to on page 47 in paragraph 3.2 above). 2,028 employees are currently saving

to buy shares in the company under these schemes. One of the three directors of the trustee company of the QUEST has been selected by group employees.

7.2 The company produces an annual report for employees which comments on the published annual results. There are also operating company newsletters,

team briefings, staff meetings and conferences, including trades union meetings in those companies which recognise unions.

7.3 The group operates a number of pension schemes. Involvement in the two major group defined benefit pension schemes is achieved by the appointment 

of member trustees of each scheme and by regular newsletters and communications from the trustees to members. In addition, there is a website dedicated to

pensions matters. The group also operates a stakeholder pension plan for employees who joined the group from 1 January 2003. Employees in this plan receive

regular newsletters and have access to a dedicated website which provides information on their funds.

7.4 The company achieved recognition by Investors in People in 1997 and re-recognition in 2003. It is fully committed to encouraging employees at all levels 

to study for relevant educational qualifications and to training employees at all levels in the group.

8 Social, environmental and ethical matters
8.1 During the year, the company made donations for charitable purposes of £677,751 (2004 £450,083). The group invested a further £1,400,132 (2004

£1,168,324) in support of community programmes (based on the London Benchmarking Group’s guidelines). No political donations were made.

8.2 Details of the group’s corporate responsibility activities are set out on pages 32 to 37 of the Chief Executive’s review and on the company’s website.

8.3 The board takes regular account of the significance of social, environmental and ethical (‘SEE’) matters to the businesses of the group. A corporate affairs

activity report, which deals with relevant matters, is presented at each board meeting. An environmental report is presented to the board annually. 

Responsibility for this area rests with executive director John Harnett.

8.4 SEE risks are dealt with by means of the company’s risk management process; details of this are set out on page 56 in paragraph 10 (internal control) of 

the corporate governance report. The board considers that it has adequate information relating to SEE risks.

8.5 There are no specific remuneration incentives in the group based on SEE matters. However, the annual bonus scheme for executive directors comprises

specific objectives, which include such matters where appropriate; details of this are set out on page 58 in paragraph 3.5 of the directors’ remuneration report.

Details of training for directors are set out on page 53 in paragraph 2.15 of the corporate governance report.

8.6 The environmental strategy group, under the chairmanship of executive director John Harnett, has established working groups within the subsidiary

companies. During 2005, a new set of environmental targets was used to measure and improve the environmental impact of the group’s operations. The

environmental programme is verified externally and is audited for compliance annually. A full programme of work and firm targets have been set for 2006.

9 Health and safety
9.1 The group attaches great importance to the health and safety of its employees and other people who may be affected by its activities.

9.2 The board has approved a group health and safety policy and a framework for health and safety. It established the health and safety steering group which 

is chaired by the Company Secretary, Rosamond Marshall Smith. This reports formally to the board each December on health and safety matters by producing a

written report and has a general co-ordination role. Each subsidiary board is responsible for the issue and implementation of its own health and safety policy as

it affects the subsidiary company’s day-to-day responsibility for health and safety. Health and safety is considered regularly at board meetings and each board

produces a written report for the health and safety steering group once a year.
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10 Equal opportunities
The company is committed to equal opportunity in recruitment, promotion and employment and does not discriminate on the basis of gender, sexual

orientation, race or religion. It gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons and to their subsequent training and career

development. Arrangements are made, where possible, for retraining employees who become disabled, to enable them to perform work identified as appropriate

to their aptitudes and abilities.

11 Supplier policy statement
11.1 The company agrees terms and conditions for its business transactions with suppliers and payment is made in accordance with these, subject to the terms

and conditions being met by the supplier.

11.2 The company acts as a holding company and had no trade creditors at 31 December 2005 or at 31 December 2004. The average number of days’ credit

taken by the group during the year was 17 days (2004 22 days).

12 Financial instruments
Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the company and the exposure of the company to interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk

and liquidity risk are set out on pages 43 and 45 of the financial review.

13 Auditors
A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

14 Annual general meeting
The AGM will be held at 12 noon on Wednesday 17 May 2006 at the Cedar Court Hotel, Mayo Avenue, off Rooley Lane, Bradford, West Yorkshire BD5 8HZ. 

The Notice of Meeting, together with an explanation of the items of business, will be contained in the Chairman’s letter to shareholders to be dated 5 April 2006.

Approved by the board on 22 March 2006

Rosamond Marshall Smith

General Counsel and Company Secretary

22 March 2006

Directors’ report continued
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1 Introduction
This section explains how the company has applied the main and supporting principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code published by the Financial

Reporting Council in July 2003 (‘the Combined Code’).

The statement of compliance is set out on page 56 in paragraph 13.

2 The board
Composition

2.1 The board leads and controls the company. It currently comprises a non-executive Chairman, four executive directors and four non-executive directors. 

The composition of the board is thus considered to be well-balanced.

Division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive

2.2 The board has approved a statement of the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive. The Chairman is responsible for

chairing the board meetings, and monitoring their effectiveness, and chairing the annual general meeting (‘AGM’) and the nomination committee. He is also

responsible for ensuring that an effective strategy is approved by the board and that an annual evaluation of the board is carried out. The Chief Executive is

primarily responsible for implementing the company’s strategy, as well as being a focal point for communication with shareholders. All other responsibilities

(other than those detailed above, those reserved to the board as a whole and the board committees) are the responsibility of the Chief Executive, who will

delegate appropriately.

Chairman

2.3 The Chairman is also Chairman of Huveaux PLC. In May 2005, he ceased to be Chairman of Eidos plc; other than this, there has been no material change 

in his other commitments during the year or since the year end.

Non-executive directors

2.4 Each of the non-executive directors has been formally determined by the board to be independent for the purposes of the Combined Code.

2.5 Non-executive directors are currently appointed for fixed periods of three years, subject to election by shareholders. The initial three-year period may 

be extended for one further three-year period (and, in exceptional cases, further extended), subject to re-election by shareholders. Their letters of appointment

may be inspected at the company’s registered office or can be obtained on request from the Company Secretary.

2.6 Ray Miles has been appointed as the senior independent director. He is available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal

channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or Finance Director has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

2.7 Charles Gregson, the non-executive Deputy Chairman, was first elected to the board on 19 April 1995 and thus, on 19 April 2006, 11 years will have elapsed

since his first election. Notwithstanding this, the board has determined him to be independent in character and judgement. In coming to this decision the board

considered all the relevant circumstances but ultimately concluded that a term of office of 11 years had not changed Charles Gregson’s status, given that

independence is ultimately determined by state of mind. He continues to make a distinct and strong contribution to strategy discussions and his experience 

of international businesses is a particular asset to the group as it continues with international expansion. In 2005, the nomination committee reviewed the

structure and composition of the board. It took the view that the four current non-executive directors bring an appropriate balance of skills and expertise to 

the board. Furthermore, although Charles Gregson has served for 11 years, two of the non-executive directors have served for less than three years; these more

recent appointments have ensured that the board has been refreshed and remains appropriately balanced.

Governance framework

2.8 The board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for decision, including corporate strategy, approval of budgets and financial results,

new board appointments, proposals for dividend payments and the approval of all major transactions. This schedule is reviewed on an annual basis and was last

reviewed on 12 December 2005. The board has appointed five committees. All committees have written terms of reference which are reviewed on an annual

basis and were last updated on 12 December 2005. The terms of reference can be found on the company’s website or are available on request from the

Company Secretary, who is secretary to all the committees. In addition, the group has detailed corporate policies which set out authority levels within the group.

Subsidiary companies are required to report on compliance with policies on an annual basis and have done so in respect of compliance in 2005.

Meetings

2.9 The board normally meets seven times a year, including an annual planning conference. A pack of board papers (including a detailed agenda) is sent to 

each director in the week before the board meeting so that he has sufficient time to review them. A detailed paper is provided on any issue where the board is 

to be asked to make a decision. All directors are, therefore, able to bring independent judgement to bear on issues such as strategy, performance, resources

and standards of conduct. Additional meetings are called when required and there is frequent contact between meetings, where necessary, to progress the

company’s business. In 2005, the Chairman met with the non-executive directors without any executive director present. The non-executive directors met

without the Chairman present to discuss the Chairman’s performance and the senior independent director was responsible for discussing this with the Chairman.

Corporate governance report
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2 The board continued
Company Secretary

2.10 All directors are able to consult with the Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the board. 

The Company Secretary is secretary to all the board committees.

Independent advice

2.11 There is a formal procedure by which any director may take independent professional advice relating to the performance of his duties at the company’s

expense. This was last reviewed and updated by the board in 2004.

Re-election of directors

2.12 Under the company’s articles of association, one third of the directors is obliged to retire each year and each director must offer himself for re-election

every three years. After nine years, a director must offer himself for re-election annually. A director who is initially appointed by the board is subject to election

at the AGM following his appointment. In 2005, biographical details of the directors submitted for re-election at the AGM were supplied to shareholders in the

circular dated 18 April 2005.

Policy on other board appointments

2.13 In December 2004, the board updated its policy on other directorships. This applies to the Chairman and executive directors, and to non-executive

directors who are appointed (or whose term of office is extended) after 1 January 2005. The policy is set out in paragraphs 2.13.1 to 2.13.3 below.

2.13.1 As was previously the case and as specified in the letters of appointment of the non-executive directors, any proposed appointment to the board 

of another company will require the prior approval of the board.

2.13.2 An executive director will be permitted to hold one non-executive directorship (and to retain the fees from that appointment) provided that the board

considers that this will not adversely affect his executive responsibilities. In accordance with the Combined Code, the board would not permit an executive

director to take on the chairmanship of a FTSE 100 company.

2.13.3 The company’s policy is that a non-executive director should have sufficient time to fulfil his duty as such, including chairing a committee. The board will

consider all requests for permission for other directorships carefully, having regard to the following principles. A non-executive director would not be expected 

to hold more than four other material non-executive directorships. If he holds an executive role in another FTSE 350 company, he would not be expected to hold

more than two material non-executive directorships. Only one FTSE 100 company, or two FTSE 350 companies, should be chaired at any given time.

Performance evaluation

2.14 In December 2005, the board completed the third evaluation of its performance and that of its committees and individual directors. The Chairman 

was primarily responsible for this evaluation and submitted a questionnaire to all directors. This contained questions on different aspects of the operation 

of the board and its committees and the performance of individual directors. The senior independent director was responsible for collating comments on 

the Chairman’s performance. The Chairman appraised the Chief Executive and the Chief Executive appraised the other executive directors. A summary of 

the evaluation was presented to the board on 12 December 2005, which included detailed comments made by directors. The board considered the results 

of the evaluation and proposals to take account of these were agreed.

Training

2.15 Appropriate training and briefing is provided to all directors on appointment to the board, taking into account their individual qualifications and 

experience. Ongoing training is arranged to suit their individual needs (including social, environmental and ethical training as appropriate) and the Company 

Secretary, reporting to the Chairman, is responsible for identifying appropriate training courses for directors. An annual update session is arranged for the board.

3 Report on the audit committee
3.1 Throughout 2005, this committee consisted of John Maxwell and Ray Miles under the chairmanship of Graham Pimlott.

3.2 The committee met five times in 2005.

3.3 The committee makes recommendations to the board, for the board to put to shareholders in general meeting, in relation to the appointment, reappointment

and removal of the auditors and approves their remuneration and terms of engagement. It reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of the auditors

and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements. It develops and implements policy on 

the engagement of the auditors to supply non-audit services and reports to the board (identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or

improvement is needed) and makes recommendations as to the steps to be taken. It monitors the integrity of the financial statements of the company and the

formal announcements relating to the company’s financial performance, reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them. It also reviews the

group’s whistleblowing policy.
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3 Report on the audit committee continued
3.4 The group’s internal audit function is provided by Ernst & Young LLP. The committee formally agrees the internal audit plan once a year and reviews regular

reports on the activity of the internal audit function. As the internal audit function reports to the committee, this helps to ensure the function’s independence

from group management and ensures that appropriate action is taken in response to audit findings.

3.5 Meetings are attended by both the internal and external auditors as required and by the Finance Director and the director of group accounting. Other

directors and senior management attend only at the invitation of the committee. At least twice a year the members of the committee meet with the external and

internal auditors without an executive director or member of the company’s senior management being present.

3.6 At its March and September meetings the committee had a separate session with the group’s auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) without any

executive director or employee of the company or group being present. This gave members of the committee the opportunity to raise any issues on the final or

interim results of the group directly with PwC.

3.7 The committee is conscious of the need to ensure that the auditors are, and are perceived to be, independent and its work relating to this is summarised 

in paragraphs 3.8 to 3.12 below.

3.8 PwC provide the committee with a letter of independence, which is regularly updated and considered by the committee.

3.9 In 2004, the committee adopted a policy on the appointment of staff from the auditors to positions within the various group finance departments.

It grades appointments into four categories and sets out the approvals required. Neither a partner of the audit firm who has acted as engagement partner, 

the quality review partner, other key audit partners or partners in the chain of command, nor a senior member of the audit engagement team, may be 

employed as group Finance Director or director of group accounting.

3.10 A formal policy on the use of auditors for non-audit work was adopted by the company in 2003. This policy is formally reviewed once a year.

3.11 The main elements of the policy are as follows. The award of non-audit work to the auditors is managed in order to ensure that the auditors are able to

conduct an independent audit and are perceived to be independent by the group’s shareholders and stakeholders. The performance of non-audit work by the

group’s auditors should be minimised and work should be awarded only when, by virtue of their knowledge, skills or experience, the auditors are clearly to be

preferred over alternative suppliers. The group should maintain an active relationship with at least two other professional accounting advisers. The nature and

cost of all non-audit work awarded to the group’s external auditors for the period since the last meeting and for the year to date will be reported to each

meeting of the audit committee, together with an explanation as to why the auditors were the preferred supplier. No information technology, remuneration,

recruitment, valuation or general consultancy work may be awarded to the auditors without the prior approval of the Chairman of the audit committee, such

approval to be given only in exceptional circumstances. The Chairman of the audit committee must approve in advance any single award of non-audit work 

with an aggregate cost of £250,000 or more. The auditors may not perform internal audit work.

3.12 In 2005, the committee regularly considered a schedule of non-audit work carried out by PwC. Work carried out by PwC for the group in 2005 fell broadly

into three categories: statutory audit and related services; assurance services (including work in connection with regulatory compliance) and tax services,

comprising compliance and general tax advice. Fees paid to PwC in 2005 are shown below:

2005 2004

£000 £000

Statutory audit 569 481

Audit services

Audit-related regulatory reporting 82 38

Further assurance services 358 162

Tax services

Compliance services 26 232

Advisory services 197 470

Other services 28 56

Total 1,260 1,439

3.13 The committee has formally considered its effectiveness in 2005. The overall view was that the committee was working effectively. The committee also

discussed the issue of training for its members.

4 Report on the nomination committee
4.1 Throughout 2005 this committee consisted of Robin Ashton, Charles Gregson, John Maxwell, Ray Miles and Graham Pimlott under the chairmanship of 

John van Kuffeler.

4.2 The committee met three times in 2005.

Corporate governance report continued
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4 Report on the nomination committee continued
4.3 Its remit is to assist the board in the process of the selection and appointment of any new director and to recommend to the board the appointment of 

any new director. It keeps under review the structure, size and composition of the board. It considers and, if appropriate, recommends to the board the extension

of the term of office of a non-executive director. It considers the succession plan annually and reports to the board that it has done so.

4.4 In 2005, the committee reviewed the structure and composition of the board. It considered the succession plan in December 2005 and reported formally 

to the board that it had done so. It managed the selection process for the appointment of the new Finance Director, Andrew Fisher, and recommended his

appointment to the board.

5 Report on the remuneration committee
Full details of the composition and work of the remuneration committee are contained on page 57 in paragraph 2 of the directors’ remuneration report.

6 Report on the executive committee
6.1 Throughout 2005, this committee consisted of John Harnett, Chris Johnstone and David Swann under the chairmanship of Robin Ashton. Chris Johnstone

ceased to be a member on 31 December 2005.

6.2 The committee normally meets at least once a week, and more frequently as required, and deals with matters relating to the running of the group, 

other than those matters reserved to the board and those specifically assigned to the other committees. There is a formal schedule of matters reserved 

to it for decision.

7 Report on the risk advisory committee
7.1 Throughout 2005, this committee consisted of Robin Ashton, Charles Gregson, John Maxwell and Graham Pimlott under the chairmanship of Ray Miles.

7.2 The committee met three times in 2005.

7.3 Its function is to keep under review the effectiveness of the group’s system of non-financial internal controls, including operational and compliance controls

and risk management, and to report to the board on its work. It keeps the group risk register under review and considers the most important risks facing the

group and their mitigation.

8 Board and committee attendance
8.1 The table in 8.2 below shows the attendance at the meetings of the board and committees. Attendance at meetings by directors, other than members, 

is not shown.

8.2 Board and committee attendance in 2005

Audit Remuneration Nomination Risk advisory

Board committee committee committee committee

Total number of meetings in 2005 7 5 7 3 3

John van Kuffeler 7 – – 3 –

Robin Ashton 7 – – 3 3

John Harnett 7 – – – –

Chris Johnstone 6 – – – –

David Swann 7 – – – –

Charles Gregson 5 – – 2 2

John Maxwell 7 5 7 3 2

Ray Miles 6 5 7 3 3

Graham Pimlott 7 5 7 3 3

9 Accountability
The board presents the company’s position and prospects in as clear a way as possible, both by means of the annual report and in circulars and reports to

shareholders. These documents are posted on the company’s website. Announcements made by the company to the London Stock Exchange are also posted

on the company’s website.

Corporate governance report continued
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10 Internal control
10.1 The board is responsible for the group’s system of internal control. Any system can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of meeting internal

control objectives.

10.2 The key elements of the internal control system which have been established (in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance on Internal Control) are set out in

paragraphs 10.2.1 to 10.2.4 below.

10.2.1 In December each year, the board approves detailed budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ahead. It also approves outline projections for the

subsequent four years. A detailed review takes place at the half-year. Actual performance against budgets is monitored in detail regularly and reported monthly

for review by the directors. The company reports to shareholders on a half-yearly basis.

10.2.2 The audit committee keeps under review the adequacy of internal financial controls in conjunction with the internal auditors and reports to the board

regularly. An annual programme of work which targets and reports on higher risk areas is carried out by the internal auditors. The operation of internal financial

controls is monitored by regular management reviews, including a procedure by which operating companies certify compliance quarterly.

10.2.3 The risk advisory committee considers the nature and extent of the risks facing the group, keeps them under review, reviews the framework to mitigate

such risks, and notifies the board of changes in the status and control of risks. It reports to the board on a regular basis. In addition, the risk advisory group

(consisting of the executive directors, the director of group accounting and the Company Secretary) formally reviews internal risk assessments from each

division twice a year and directs reviews of internal controls and particular areas of risk. It reports to the risk advisory committee.

10.2.4 The board requires its subsidiaries to operate in accordance with its corporate policies and subsidiaries are obliged to certify compliance on an 

annual basis.

10.3 The board has reviewed the effectiveness of the group’s framework of internal controls during 2005.

11 Relations with shareholders
11.1 The executive directors meet with institutional shareholders on a regular basis. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that appropriate channels of

communication are established between the Chief Executive (and the other executive directors) and shareholders and ensuring that the views of the shareholders

are made known to the board. An investor relations report is considered by the board regularly and independent reviews of shareholder views are commissioned.

11.2 The company encourages private investors to attend the AGM. The chairmen of the board committees are available to answer questions from shareholders

at the AGM and there is an opportunity for shareholders to ask questions on each resolution proposed.

11.3 At the 2005 AGM, details of proxy votes cast on each resolution were made available to shareholders and other interested parties.

11.4 At the 2005 AGM, the company proposed separate resolutions on substantially separate issues and will continue to do so. It is the company’s policy to 

give shareholders in excess of 20 working days’ notice of the AGM.

11.5 The company has established the Provident Financial Company Nominee Scheme to enable shareholders to take advantage of a low-cost telephone

dealing service through the CREST electronic settlement system. Members of this scheme receive all documents sent to shareholders and may attend, speak

and vote at the AGM.

12 Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the financial statements
12.1 The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ report on page 118, is made to distinguish for shareholders the

respective responsibilities of the directors and of the auditors in relation to the financial statements.

12.2 The directors are required to prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), the Companies Act 1985

and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. Such financial statements should present fairly for each financial year the company’s financial position, financial

performance and cash flows.

12.3 The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements on pages 65 to 117 the group has used and consistently applied the appropriate

accounting policies and presented the information contained therein in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information.

Additional disclosures have also been made when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable understanding of the impact of

particular transactions and events on the company’s financial position and financial performance.

12.4 The directors have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and of the group

and to prevent and detect material fraud and other irregularities.

12.5 This document (the Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005) will be published on the company’s website (in addition to the normal paper version). 

The maintenance and integrity of the Provident Financial website is the responsibility of the directors and the work carried out by the auditors does not involve

consideration of these matters.

12.6 Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

13 Statement of compliance with the Combined Code
The company complied with all the provisions in Section 1 of the Combined Code throughout 2005.
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1 Introduction
This is the directors’ remuneration report of Provident Financial plc (‘the company’) for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 which has been prepared

pursuant to, and in accordance with, section 234B of the Companies Act 1985 (‘the Companies Act’). In accordance with section 241 of the Companies Act, 

a resolution to approve this report will be proposed at the annual general meeting (‘AGM’) of the company to be held on 17 May 2006.

2 The remuneration committee
2.1 Throughout 2005, the remuneration committee (‘the committee’) consisted of Ray Miles and Graham Pimlott under the chairmanship of John Maxwell.

2.2 The committee met seven times during the year.

2.3 Pursuant to its terms of reference, the committee considers the framework of executive remuneration and makes recommendations to the board. 

It determines the specific remuneration packages and conditions of service of the Chairman, the executive directors and the Company Secretary, including 

their service agreements. It also monitors the level and structure of the remuneration of the most senior management below board level within the group. 

No director is involved in determining his own remuneration.

2.4 The Chairman and the Chief Executive each have the right to attend and speak (but not vote) at meetings of the committee (other than when their own

remuneration or any matter relating to them is being considered in which case they absent themselves from the meeting). In 2005, the committee consulted

with the Chairman, John van Kuffeler, about the Chief Executive’s remuneration and with the Chief Executive, Robin Ashton, about the remuneration of the other

executive directors. The Company Secretary, Rosamond Marshall Smith, is secretary to the committee and attended the meetings of the committee in 2005; 

as a solicitor she provided legal and technical support to the committee.

2.5 The committee has appointed Kepler Associates (‘Kepler’) as remuneration consultant. This consultant is independent and does not provide any other

services to the group. Kepler has provided advice to the committee in 2005. The committee has also been advised by Slaughter and May which is the group’s

city solicitor and has advised the group on other legal matters during the year. In all cases the advisers were instructed by the secretary on behalf of 

the committee.

3 Statement of the company’s policy on directors’ remuneration
Remuneration policy

3.1 The remuneration policy applied by the committee is based on the need to attract, reward, motivate and retain executive directors in a manner consistent

with the long-term accumulation of value for shareholders. The committee is also conscious of the need to avoid paying more than is reasonable for this

purpose.

3.2 The executive directors’ remuneration consists of a basic salary, an annual cash bonus (subject to performance conditions) and other benefits. They also

participate in pension schemes. Additionally, they participate in a performance share plan (which necessitates the waiver of part of the annual cash bonus),

which is subject to performance conditions, and an employee savings-related share option scheme which is not subject to performance conditions. It is also

proposed that they should participate in a long-term incentive scheme and a new senior executive share option scheme, subject to shareholder approval at the

forthcoming AGM to be held on 17 May 2006; the executive scheme is designed to replace the two senior executive share option schemes which have expired.

Before recommending these new schemes to the board, the committee carried out a review of the existing equity incentive schemes and current best practice.

The remuneration policy is designed to ensure that a significant proportion of the executive directors’ remuneration is linked to performance, through the

operation of the annual cash bonus and the equity incentive schemes.

3.3 The committee normally reviews the executive directors’ remuneration annually. The policy of the committee is to pay remuneration at the median level,

subject to performance. In December 2005 the committee reviewed the salaries of the executive directors but decided not to award any increase.

3.4 The fees for the non-executive directors, other than the Chairman, are fixed by the board and are designed both to recognise the responsibilities of 

non-executive directors and to attract individuals with the necessary skills and experience to contribute to the future growth of the group. Their business

expenses are reimbursed by the company. Full details of their fees for 2005 (with 2004 comparative figures) are set out in the table of directors’ remuneration

on page 60 in paragraph 4.
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3 Statement of the company’s policy on directors’ remuneration continued
Cash bonus

3.5 An annual cash bonus is payable, subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions. The bonus is calculated as a percentage of salary. The purpose 

of the bonus scheme is to provide a meaningful incentive for executive directors which is clearly focused on improving the group’s performance and aligns, so

far as is practicable, shareholder and executive director interests. Executive directors are eligible for annual cash bonuses by reference to audited earnings per

share (as defined in the bonus scheme) and achievement of objectives. The total bonus payable cannot exceed 100% of salary. In exceptional circumstances,

the committee may make such adjustments to the calculation of earnings per share as it considers fair and reasonable. Bonuses do not form part of

pensionable earnings.

Share options

3.6 The grant of options under equity incentive schemes to executive directors and senior managers is normally considered once in each year after the

announcement of the company’s results in accordance with a formula determined by reference to salary.

3.7 The company has granted options under two senior executive share option schemes (‘the schemes’). No further options can be granted under these

schemes. Further details are set out in paragraphs 3.7.1 to 3.7.6 below.

3.7.1 The Provident Financial plc Senior Executive Share Option Scheme (1995) is an Inland Revenue approved scheme. The aggregate exercise prices of the

options held by an executive under this scheme must not exceed £30,000. The Provident Financial plc Unapproved Senior Executive Share Option Scheme

(1996) is not approved by the Inland Revenue.

3.7.2 Both schemes have performance targets which have to be met before any options can be exercised.

3.7.3 For options granted prior to 2002 the performance condition is that over a three-year period the real growth in earnings per share (as defined) must

average 3% a year (after making appropriate adjustments for inflation).

3.7.4 For options granted in 2002 and thereafter the following performance conditions apply:

(a) where the option is granted over shares with an aggregate exercise price of up to one times the director’s salary, the real growth in earnings per share 

(after adjusting for inflation) must average 3% a year over a fixed three-year period (this period may be extended to four or five years);

(b) to the extent that the option is granted over shares with an aggregate exercise price in excess of one times and up to two times the director’s salary, 

the condition referred to in 3.7.4 (a) above is 4% (rather than 3%) real growth in earnings per share.

3.7.5 A performance condition based on earnings per share has been used in both executive schemes since their establishment in 1995 and 1996. It is

considered that this aligns, so far as is practicable, the interests of the directors with those of the shareholders. The performance conditions permit limited

retesting by reference to a fixed base.

3.7.6 No executive options have been granted at a discount.

3.8 The executive directors (together with other eligible group employees) may participate in the Provident Financial plc Employee Savings-Related Share

Option Scheme (2003). Participants save a fixed sum each month for three or five years and may use these funds to purchase shares after three, five or seven

years. The exercise price is fixed at up to 20% below the market value of the shares at the date directors and employees are invited to participate in the scheme.

Up to £250 can be saved each month. This scheme does not contain performance conditions as it is an Inland Revenue approved scheme designed for

employees at all levels.
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3 Statement of the company’s policy on directors’ remuneration continued
Performance share plan

3.9 The Provident Financial Performance Share Plan (‘the performance share plan’) entitles executive directors who waive up to 50% (with a minimum of 25%)

of their annual cash bonus, and other eligible employees who waive up to 50% or 30% (depending on their level of seniority) of their annual cash bonus, to be

considered for participation. Participants receive a basic award of shares of up to the value of the waived bonus, together with a matching award of an

equivalent amount which is subject to a performance condition. For awards granted in 2003, 2004 and 2006, the matching award will vest only if the company’s

average annual growth in earnings per share is equal to or greater than RPI plus 3% over a period of three consecutive financial years, the first of which is the

financial year starting immediately before the grant date of the matching award. For awards granted in 2005, the matching award will vest only if the company’s

average annual growth in earnings per share is equal to or greater than RPI plus 3% over a period of five consecutive years, the first of which is the financial year

starting immediately before the grant date of the matching award. Although basic earnings per share is generally used for the performance calculation, for

2006 awards earnings per share before Yes Car Credit closure costs is being used for the starting point to avoid participants benefiting from the impact of the

closure of the Yes Car Credit business. The performance conditions were selected by the committee after consideration of other possible types of condition. 

The committee took the view that the use of this earnings per share target aligned, so far as is practicable, the interests of the directors with those of 

the shareholders.

Other benefits

3.10 The executive directors are provided with company-owned cars and fuel (or a cash alternative), long-term disability cover under the company’s insured

permanent health policy and medical cover for them and their immediate families. Benefits in kind are not pensionable.

Shareholding policy

3.11 The company has a share retention policy for executive directors. A director should retain half of vested shares, net of tax and exercise costs, until he has 

a beneficial shareholding equivalent to one times his annual salary; in performing the calculation, post-tax embedded gains on vested unexercised share

options will be included. The committee reviews the shareholdings of the executive directors in the light of this policy once a year.

Service agreements

3.12 The current policy is for executive directors’ service agreements to provide for both the company and the director to give one year’s notice. No director

has a service agreement containing a liquidated damages clause on termination; in the event of the termination of an agreement, particularly for poor

performance, it is the current policy to seek mitigation of loss by the director concerned and to ensure that any payment made is the minimum which is

commensurate with the company’s legal obligations. Where possible, the company would seek to make any payment in instalments and subject to

appropriate conditions.

Other directorships

3.13 The company will normally permit an executive director to hold one non-executive directorship and to retain the fee from that appointment. However, any

proposed appointment will require the approval of the board. In accordance with the Combined Code, the board would not permit an executive director to take

on the chairmanship of a FTSE 100 company. None of the executive directors currently holds a non-executive directorship.

Changes to the remuneration policy

3.14 During the year, the committee carried out a review of the existing equity incentive schemes and current best practice. As a result of this review, the

committee is proposing to introduce the Long-Term Incentive Scheme (‘the LTIS’) and replace the two senior executive share option schemes, which have

expired, with the new senior executive share option scheme (‘the ESOS’), subject to shareholder approval at the forthcoming AGM.

3.15 The LTIS would reward total shareholder return (‘TSR’) percentage outperformance against a tailored peer group of financial services. The committee

believes that relative TSR is the most objective measure of the company’s success, is a fair measure of management performance and helps align the interests

of directors and shareholders. It is intended that the initial target will require the company’s TSR over a three year performance period, when measured against

the tailored peer group, to be at least median (25% vesting) with full vesting if TSR exceeds the median by 8.5% a year and straight line vesting in between these

two levels. Participation will initially be limited to executive directors and maximum annual awards will normally be limited to 100% of salary.

3.16 The ESOS will contain both a Revenue approved and unapproved section. All options will be subject to a performance target. Initially, it is intended that

options will be granted with a target which will require annual earnings per share growth to exceed RPI plus 3% averaged over a three-year period. At that level

25% of the shares under option would be exercisable with the option becoming fully exercisable at average annual growth in earnings per share in excess of RPI

plus 6% over the three-year period. A sliding scale for vesting will apply between these levels. The committee believes that earnings per share is the best measure

of the company’s financial performance, and will complement the use of relative TSR in the LTIS. Executive directors will participate in the ESOS and maximum

annual awards will normally be limited to 100% of salary.

Detailed information

3.17 Full details of salaries, bonus earnings and other benefits for 2005 (with 2004 comparative figures) for the executive directors are set out in the table of

directors’ remuneration in paragraph 4. Full details of share options are set out in the table on page 61 in paragraph 5 below. Full details of awards under the

performance share plan are set out in the table on page 62 in paragraph 6 below.
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4 Directors’ remuneration
The aggregate directors’ emoluments during the year amounted to £1,928,000 (2004 £2,508,000) analysed as follows:

2005 2004

Salary Bonus Benefits Fees Total Total

Director's name £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman

John van Kuffeler 130 – 32 – 162 163

Executive directors

Robin Ashton 490 – 34 – 524 705

John Harnett 340 – 43 – 383 535

Chris Johnstone 308 – 30 – 338 459

David Swann 308 – 44 – 352 486

1,446 – 151 – 1,597 2,185

Non-executive directors

Charles Gregson – – – 40 40 40

John Maxwell – – – 40 40 40

Ray Miles – – 4 40 44 40

Graham Pimlott – – 5 40 45 40

– – 9 160 169 160

Total 1,576 – 192 160 1,928 2,508

5 Share option schemes
5.1 Directors’ share options at 31 December 2005 are shown in the table in paragraph 5.11 below.

5.2 The performance conditions which apply to the exercise of executive share options are as set out in paragraphs 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 below.

5.2.1 Performance condition A (referred to in the table below) applies to options granted prior to 2002. Over a three-year period the real growth in the

company’s earnings per share must average 3% a year (after making appropriate adjustments for inflation).

5.2.2 Performance condition B (referred to in the table below) applies to options granted in 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005. Where the option is granted over

shares with an aggregate exercise price of up to one times the director’s salary, the performance condition is that, over a fixed three-year period, the real

growth in earnings per share (after adjusting for inflation) must average 3% a year (if the condition is not satisfied after the three years the period will be

extended to four years and then, if the condition is still not satisfied, to five years, whereupon if the condition is still not satisfied, the option will lapse). For

options granted in excess of one times the director’s salary, the condition is 4% (rather than 3%) real growth in earnings per share.

5.3 The committee has adjusted the performance conditions of the options to reflect the fact that earnings per share is now calculated under IFRS rather than

UK GAAP. This was achieved by taking the IFRS earnings per share figure for 2004 and applying the same percentage changes, as experienced under UK GAAP,

for the years back to 2001, to derive equivalent IFRS figures.

5.4 The aggregate notional gain (representing the difference between the exercise price and the market price of the shares at the date of exercise) made by 

all the directors on the exercise of share options during 2005 amounted to £140,438 (2004 £502,240).

5.5 The company’s highest paid director in 2005 was Robin Ashton, whose emoluments amounted to £524,000 (2004 Robin Ashton £705,000) and whose

notional gain (representing the difference between the exercise price and the market price of the shares at the date of exercise) on the exercise of share options

amounted to £nil (2004 Robin Ashton £157,502).

5.6 The mid-market closing price of the company’s shares on 30 December 2005 was 547.5p and the range during 2005 was 547.5p to 745p.

5.7 No consideration is payable on the grant of an option.

5.8 None of the options held by the directors lapsed during the year.

5.9 There were no changes in directors’ share options between 31 December 2005 and 14 March 2006.

5.10 None of the directors has notified the company of an interest in any other shares, transactions or arrangements which requires disclosure.
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5 Share option schemes continued
5.11 Directors’ share options at 31 December 2005 were as follows:

Market price Range of exercisable

1 January Granted Exercised 31 December Exercise at date of Performance dates of options held

Director’s name 2005 in 2005 in 2005 2005 price (p) exercise (p) conditions** at 31 December 2005

Robin Ashton 43,774 – – 43,774 638.50 A 01.09.2000 – 31.08.2007

2,620* – – 2,620* 744.00 – 01.11.2005 – 30.04.2006

20,660 – – 20,660 985.00 A 06.08.2001 – 05.08.2008

26,651 – – 26,651 979.30 A 03.03.2002 – 02.03.2009

28,939 – – 28,939 622.00 A 02.08.2004 – 01.08.2011

93,300 – – 93,300 709.00 B 09.05.2005 – 08.05.2012

128,072 – – 128,072 551.25 B 18.03.2006 – 17.03.2013

163,487 – – 163,487 550.50 B 05.08.2007 – 04.08.2014

3,609* – – 3,609* 453.00 – 01.11.2009 – 30.04.2010

– 139,501 – 139,501 702.50 B 23.03.2008 – 22.03.2015

511,112 139,501 – 650,613

John Harnett 33,269 – – 33,269 1,037.00 A 04.05.2002 – 03.05.2009

87,500 – (87,500) – 520.00 680.50 A 28.02.2003 – 27.02.2010

16,077 – – 16,077 622.00 A 02.08.2004 – 01.08.2011

66,643 – – 66,643 709.00 B 09.05.2005 – 08.05.2012

90,702 – – 90,702 551.25 B 18.03.2006 – 17.03.2013

114,950 – – 114,950 550.50 B 05.08.2007 – 04.08.2014

– 96,797 – 96,797 702.50 B 23.03.2008 – 22.03.2015

409,141 96,797 (87,500) 418,438

Chris Johnstone 15,000 – – 15,000 450.00 A 02.09.1999 – 01.09.2006

34,178 – – 34,178 638.50 A 01.09.2000 – 31.08.2007

7,615 – – 7,615 985.00 A 06.08.2001 – 05.08.2008

8,144 – – 8,144 979.30 A 03.03.2002 – 02.03.2009

42,502 – – 42,502 520.00 A 28.02.2003 – 27.02.2010

33,119 – – 33,119 622.00 A 02.08.2004 – 01.08.2011

2,033* – – 2,033* 498.00 – 01.11.2006 – 30.04.2007

59,238 – – 59,238 709.00 B 09.05.2005 – 08.05.2012

1,414* – – 1,414* 468.00 – 01.11.2007 – 30.04.2008

81,632 – – 81,632 551.25 B 18.03.2006 – 17.03.2013

103,455 – – 103,455 550.50 B 05.08.2007 – 04.08.2014

– 87,544 – 87,544 702.50 B 23.03.2008 – 22.03.2015

388,330 87,544 – 475,874

David Swann 7,428 – – 7,428 985.00 A 06.08.2001 – 05.08.2008

7,944 – – 7,944 979.30 A 03.03.2002 – 02.03.2009

41,800 – – 41,800 622.00 A 02.08.2004 – 01.08.2011

2,033* – – 2,033* 498.00 – 01.11.2006 – 30.04.2007

59,238 – – 59,238 709.00 B 09.05.2005 – 08.05.2012

1,414* – – 1,414* 468.00 – 01.11.2007 – 30.04.2008

81,632 – – 81,632 551.25 B 18.03.2006 – 17.03.2013

103,455 – – 103,455 550.50 B 05.08.2007 – 04.08.2014

304,944 – – 304,944

Total 1,613,527 323,842 (87,500) 1,849,869

* granted under the Provident Financial plc Employee Savings-Related Share Option Schemes (the 1993 Scheme and the 2003 Scheme)

** see paragraphs 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 above
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6 Performance Share Plan
6.1 Awards under the Provident Financial Performance Share Plan were as follows:

Matching Basic Matching Total basic Total matching

Basic awards awards awards awards awards awards Market price

(number of (number of (number of (number of (number of (number of of each share

shares) shares) shares) shares) shares) shares) when award

held at held at made in made in held at held at was granted

Director’s name 01.01.2005 01.01.2005 2005 2005 31.12.2005 31.12.2005 (p) Earliest vesting date

Robin Ashton 1,693 1,693 – – 1,693 1,693 585 27 February 2006

3,422 3,422 – – 3,422 3,422 741 27 February 2007

– – 3,518 3,518 3,518 3,518 708 17 March 2010

5,115 5,115 3,518 3,518 8,633 8,633

John Harnett 3,247 3,247 – – 3,247 3,247 585 27 February 2006

8,486 8,486 – – 8,486 8,486 741 27 February 2007

11,733 11,733 – – 11,733 11,733

Chris Johnstone 2,799 2,799 – – 2,799 2,799 585 27 February 2006

7,637 7,637 – – 7,637 7,637 741 27 February 2007

10,436 10,436 – – 10,436 10,436

David Swann 2,828 2,828 – – 2,828 2,828 585 27 February 2006

7,637 7,637 – – 7,637 7,637 741 27 February 2007

10,465 10,465 – – 10,465 10,465

Total 37,749 37,749 3,518 3,518 41,267 41,267

6.2 The performance conditions attaching to the matching award are summarised on page 59 in paragraph 3.9 above. There are no performance conditions

attaching to the basic award.

6.3 No awards to executive directors were made during the period 1 January to 14 March 2006.

6.4 The dividends payable on the basic and matching award shares are paid to the directors. The gross amounts received in 2005 were Robin Ashton £6,678;

John Harnett £9,076; Chris Johnstone £8,073 and David Swann £8,131. (These figures have been included in the benefits column in the table of directors’

remuneration on page 60 in paragraph 4 above).

6.5 The committee has adjusted the performance conditions of the matching awards to reflect the fact that earnings per share is now calculated under IFRS

rather than UK GAAP. This was achieved by taking the IFRS earnings per share figure for 2004 and applying the same percentage changes, as experienced under

UK GAAP, for the years back to 2002, to derive equivalent IFRS figures.

6.6 Other than as specified in paragraph 6.5 above, there have been no variations in the terms and conditions of plan interests during the year.

7 Pensions and life assurance
7.1 There are two directors (2004 three) for whom retirement benefits are accruing under the Provident Financial Senior Pension Scheme, a defined benefit

scheme (‘the senior pension scheme’), and two directors (2004 two) for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution schemes. Benefits

are also accruing under the senior pension scheme for one former director, Chris Johnstone.

7.2 John van Kuffeler and John Harnett each have a defined contribution personal pension arrangement and each is also a member of the Provident Financial

Supplemental Pension Scheme which was established for employees whose benefits from tax-approved schemes are restricted by the earnings cap. Life

assurance benefit up to the level of the earnings cap is provided by the senior pension scheme; additional death in service benefit is provided by the Provident

Financial Unapproved Funded Death Benefits Scheme.

7.3 For John van Kuffeler, the company contributes 23% of his salary to his pension arrangements. The contributions are invested to produce benefits at his normal

retirement date at age 60 or on death. He is also eligible for a lump sum death benefit of four times salary at date of death. Provision of these benefits is through

personal pension policies, the Provident Financial Supplemental Pension Scheme and the Provident Financial Unapproved Funded Death Benefits Scheme. The

company’s contributions in respect of John van Kuffeler during 2005 (including the cost of the life insurance) amounted to £30,938 (2004 £30,580).
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7 Pensions and life assurance continued
7.4 For John Harnett, the position is identical to that specified in paragraph 7.3 for John van Kuffeler, except that the company contributes 30% of his basic 

salary to his pension arrangements. The company’s contributions in respect of John Harnett during 2005 (including the cost of the life insurance) amounted 

to £105,263 (2004 £87,098).

7.5 The executive directors, (other than John Harnett), participate in the senior pension scheme which provides pensions and other benefits within Inland

Revenue limits. The senior pension scheme provides, in respect of service from 1 January 2000, a pension of up to two-thirds of basic salary at the normal

retirement date at age 60. (The pension provided in respect of service prior to 1 January 2000 is up to two-thirds of basic salary at the normal retirement date 

at age 60 reduced by an amount approximately equal to two-thirds of the single person’s basic rate state pension from state pension age). The senior pension

scheme is contributory and directors currently contribute at the rate of 7% of basic salary.

7.6 Details of the pension entitlements earned during 2005 are set out below:

Transfer value

Transfer value of pension

of pension benefits Increase

Accrued benefits accrued at in transfer

Age annual pension* Increase in Director’s accrued at 31 December value less

31 December 31 December 31 December annual pension** contribution 31 December 2004 director’s

2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 (restated)*** contribution

Director’s name £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Robin Ashton 47 179 154 21 23 33 30 2,806 2,074 699

Chris Johnstone 46 124 110 12 14 21 19 1,883 1,418 444

David Swann 58 196 176 16 19 21 19 4,973 3,987 965

* Accrued annual pension is the pension to which the director would be entitled at his normal retirement date based on the number of years of pensionable service at 31 December 2005, 

assuming no further contributions after that date

** Increase in annual pension is the increase during the year in the accrued annual pension arising from the changes in pensionable service and salary, over and above any general increase to

compensate for inflation

*** The method used to calculate transfer values was changed in January 2005. The transfer values as at 31 December 2004 shown above are calculated using the new transfer value method. 

The actual transfer values as at 31 December 2004 calculated using the method in force at that time were Robin Ashton £1,878,000; Chris Johnstone £1,281,000 and David Swann £3,553,000. 

The increases in transfer value less director’s contribution on this basis were Robin Ashton £895,000; Chris Johnstone £581,000 and David Swann £1,340,000.

7.7 The senior pension scheme also provides spouses’ pensions (of four-ninths of basic salary at date of death if the director dies in service and two-thirds of the

director’s pension if the director dies in retirement) and lump sums on death in service (of four times basic salary at date of death plus a return of the director’s

contributions). If the director does not leave a spouse, the pension will be paid to any dependants at the discretion of the trustees of the senior pension scheme.

7.8 With the consent of the company, a director can retire under the senior pension scheme rules at any time between ages 50 and 60, in which case the

pension payable would be the accrued pension (based on salary and pensionable service at the date he leaves the service of the company) reduced to reflect

the longer period for which it will be paid.

7.9 Pensions in respect of service up to 1 January 2000 are guaranteed to increase, when in payment, at a rate of 5% each year. Pensions in respect of service

from 1 January 2000 are guaranteed to increase each year by the lower of the annual increase in the retail prices index and 5%. Discretionary increases may be

granted by the trustees with the consent of the company.

7.10 There are no discretionary benefits for which allowance is made when calculating transfer values on leaving service.

7.11 The senior pension scheme (together with the Provident Financial Staff Pension Scheme) was closed to employees who joined the group on or after 

1 January 2003. These employees are eligible to join the Provident Financial Stakeholder Pension Plan.

7.12 With effect from 1 April 2006, a cash balance section of the senior pension scheme is being introduced for future service. For those who elect to remain in

the final salary section of the senior pension scheme, the contribution rate will be increased to 14% of basic salary. Where the value of an executive director’s

pension benefit is in excess of the lifetime allowance on 6 April 2006, he may elect to cease accruing benefits in respect of future service and receive a salary

supplement of 30% of basic salary instead.

8 Directors’ service agreements
8.1 Six directors, Robin Ashton, Charles Gregson, John van Kuffeler, John Maxwell, Ray Miles and Graham Pimlott are offering themselves for re-election at the

AGM to be held on 17 May 2006. Details of the service agreement of each director with the company or letter of appointment, as relevant at 31 December 2005,

are set out in paragraphs 8.1.1 to 8.1.3 below.

8.1.1 Robin Ashton, John Harnett and David Swann each has a service agreement which requires one year’s notice of termination to be given by the company

and one year’s notice of termination to be given by the director. No notice of termination has been given by either the company or any of the directors and thus

in each case the unexpired term is one year. Each service agreement terminates on the date of the director’s sixtieth birthday. There are no provisions for

compensation payable upon early termination of any of the agreements. However, in the event that a director is not re-elected at an AGM of the company, the

agreement is automatically terminated and this is treated as a breach by the company. The dates of the service agreements are as follows: Robin Ashton 28

January 2002 (amended by letter of variation on 23 December 2003); John Harnett 30 January 2002 (amended by letter of variation on 24 December 2003);

and David Swann 26 April 2001 (amended by letter of variation on 23 December 2003).
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8 Directors’ service agreements continued
8.1.2 Peter Crook and Andrew Fisher are offering themselves for election at the AGM to be held on 17 May 2006. Peter Crook currently has a service agreement

with a six month notice period. Andrew Fisher has not yet entered into a service agreement.

8.1.3 The Chairman, John van Kuffeler, has a service agreement dated 29 January 2002 (amended by letter of variation on 24 December 2003) which requires

one year’s notice of termination to be given by the company and six months’ notice of termination to be given by him. No notice of termination has been given

by either party and thus the unexpired term is one year. The service agreement will terminate on the date of his sixtieth birthday (9 January 2009).

8.1.4 Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of appointment. Each director is appointed for a fixed period of three years, subject to election by

shareholders. The initial three-year period may be extended by one further three-year period (and, in exceptional cases, further extended) subject to 

re-election by shareholders. The dates of the letters of appointment and the unexpired terms are as follows: Charles Gregson 3 February 2006 unexpired term:

to 31 May 2007; John Maxwell 21 March 2006 unexpired term: to 31 May 2007; Ray Miles 31 December 2003 unexpired term: to 31 December 2006; 

Graham Pimlott 3 February 2006 unexpired term: to 30 June 2009.

8.2 Chris Johnstone resigned as director on 31 December 2005. He has a service agreement dated 26 April 2001 (amended by letter of variation on 

24 December 2003) which requires one year’s notice to be given by the company and one year’s notice to be given by the director. Under the terms of his

departure, he will remain an employee until 31 March 2006, receiving salary and benefits in accordance with his service agreement, including £24,600 for 

his pro rata bonus for 2006. Provided that he has not found an equivalent position, he will also receive (on or before 14 April 2006) £322,877 in lieu of notice 

for salary and benefits and £30,000 in respect of outplacement services. In addition his benefits under the senior pension scheme will be augmented by an

additional nine months’ pensionable service. He will be permitted to exercise options granted under the senior executive share option schemes until 

30 September 2006.

9 Performance graph
The graph below shows a comparison of the total shareholder return (TSR) for the company’s shares for each of the last five financial years against the total

shareholder return for the companies comprising the FTSE 250 Index. This index was chosen for this comparison because the company is currently a member 

of this index and has been a member for approximately 85% of the five-year period.

Base data at 31 December 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

FTSE 250 100.00 63.45 46.01 74.03 98.65 110.17

Provident Financial 100.00 68.01 65.80 76.24 82.66 70.90

10 Audit
The elements of the directors’ remuneration (including pension entitlements and share options set out in paragraphs 4 to 7 and 8.2 of this report) which are

required to be audited, have been audited in accordance with the Companies Act.

Approved by the board on 22 March 2006

Rosamond Marshall Smith

General Counsel and Company Secretary

22 March 2006
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2005 2004

Ongoing Yes Car Credit Ongoing Yes Car Credit

operations (note 5) Total operations (note 5) Total

for the year ended 31 December Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 1 1,110.0 227.5 1,337.5 1,000.3 272.1 1,272.4

Finance income 27.7 – 27.7 27.4 – 27.4

Total income 1,137.7 227.5 1,365.2 1,027.7 272.1 1,299.8

Finance costs 2 (47.4) (14.5) (61.9) (45.1) (12.0) (57.1)

Operating costs (615.7) (245.3) (861.0) (540.9) (226.8) (767.7)

Administrative expenses (268.6) (133.3) (401.9) (233.5) (36.0) (269.5)

Total costs (931.7) (393.1) (1,324.8) (819.5) (274.8) (1,094.3)

Profit before taxation 1,3 206.0 (165.6) 40.4 208.2 (2.7) 205.5

Tax expense 4 (60.6) 20.2 (40.4) (61.9) 0.8 (61.1)

Profit for the year 145.4 (145.4) – 146.3 (1.9) 144.4

Earnings per share

Basic 6 – 57.00p

Diluted 6 – 56.74p

Dividends per share

Proposed final dividend 7 21.37p 20.75p

Total dividend in respect of the year 7 35.43p 34.40p

Paid in the year 7 34.81p 33.55p

All the results above relate to continuing operations as defined in IFRS 5.

Consolidated statement of recognised 
income and expense

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

for the year ended 31 December £m £m £m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year – 144.4 (45.2) 179.5

Exchange differences on foreign currency translations 2.7 3.9 – –

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges (5.0) (4.9) (2.2) (1.5)

Actuarial losses on retirement obligations (20.1) (34.3) (1.8) (7.1)

Tax on items taken directly to equity 7.5 11.9 1.2 2.5

Net expense recognised directly in equity (14.9) (23.4) (2.8) (6.1)

Total recognised (expense)/income for the year (14.9) 121.0 (48.0) 173.4
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Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

as at 31 December Notes £m £m £m £m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 10 3.1 87.8 – –

Intangible assets 11 27.5 19.0 – –

Property, plant and equipment 12 42.8 41.8 4.2 4.4

Investment in subsidiaries 13 – – 386.5 381.5

Trade and other receivables 15 – – 438.0 638.0

Deferred income tax assets 23 64.5 67.0 7.6 6.8

137.9 215.6 836.3 1,030.7

Current assets

Inventories 7.4 16.6 – –

Financial assets:

– Amounts receivable from customers:

– due within one year 14 952.8 990.1 – –

– due in more than one year 14 321.1 210.1 – –

– Derivative financial instruments 21 9.0 6.7 0.9 1.8

Trade and other receivables 15 32.9 29.3 845.7 848.6

Insurance assets 16 65.4 90.2 – –

Current income tax assets 0.9 4.0 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 17 451.9 500.1 132.2 67.4

1,841.4 1,847.1 978.8 917.8

Total assets 1,979.3 2,062.7 1,815.1 1,948.5

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings 20 (35.2) (35.3) (20.4) (7.8)

– Derivative financial instruments 21 (30.1) (40.6) (13.0) (17.2)

Trade and other payables 18 (126.0) (134.9) (271.8) (205.0)

Insurance accruals and deferred income 19 (359.2) (424.9) – –

Current income tax liabilities (33.4) (60.1) (18.2) (9.5)

Provisions 22 (16.2) – – –

(600.1) (695.8) (323.4) (239.5)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings 20 (947.7) (822.4) (375.9) (456.4)

Trade and other payables 18 – – (131.3) (131.3)

Provisions 22 (8.5) – – –

Retirement benefit obligations 24 (105.6) (129.8) (14.7) (19.0)

(1,061.8) (952.2) (521.9) (606.7)

Total liabilities (1,661.9) (1,648.0) (845.3) (846.2)

NET ASSETS 317.4 414.7 969.8 1,102.3

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called-up share capital 25 26.5 26.4 26.5 26.4

Share premium account 27 107.7 105.5 107.7 105.5

Other reserves 27 5.5 2.4 607.7 807.5

Retained earnings 27 177.7 280.4 227.9 162.9

TOTAL EQUITY 27 317.4 414.7 969.8 1,102.3

These financial statements were approved by the board on 22 March 2006.

Robin Ashton John Harnett

Chief Executive Finance Director

Balance sheets
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Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

for the year ended 31 December £m £m £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 68.2 79.7 (57.5) (30.4)

Finance costs paid (60.8) (53.3) (61.1) (54.7)

Finance income received 27.8 27.9 121.0 89.6

Income tax paid (53.2) (54.5) (11.0) (5.9)

Net cash used in operating activities (18.0) (0.2) (8.6) (1.4)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (20.9) (19.7) (0.3) (0.5)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.2 3.3 0.1 0.1

Purchases of intangible assets (9.8) (6.4) – –

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 18) (19.1) – – –

Additional investment in subsidiary (note 13) – – (28.0) –

Dividends received – – 60.3 165.6

Long-term loans to subsidiaries – – – (638.0)

Repayment of long-term loan by subsidiary – – 200.0 –

Repayment of convertible loan notes by subsidiary – – – 630.8

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (46.6) (22.8) 232.1 158.0

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 161.8 181.9 132.5 50.0

Repayment of borrowings (60.9) (139.6) (206.5) (114.6)

Dividends paid to company shareholders (note 7) (88.6) (84.9) (88.6) (84.9)

Proceeds from issue of share capital 2.3 4.1 2.3 4.1

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 0.7 1.9 0.7 1.9

Loan from subsidiary undertaking – – – 54.5

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 15.3 (36.6) (159.6) (89.0)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (49.3) (59.6) 63.9 67.6

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 493.5 546.0 60.8 (6.8)

Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 0.2 7.1 – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 444.4 493.5 124.7 60.8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 54.6 38.4 132.2 67.4

Short-term deposits 397.3 461.7 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 451.9 500.1 132.2 67.4

Overdrafts (held in bank and other borrowings) (7.5) (6.6) (7.5) (6.6)

444.4 493.5 124.7 60.8

The cash flow statement above includes those cash flows arising from each division within the group. The cash and short-term deposits held by those businesses

that are regulated are required to be strictly segregated from those of the rest of the group and are therefore not available to repay the group’s borrowings. 

At 31 December 2005 the cash and short-term deposits held by the group’s regulated businesses amounted to £404.5m (2004 £469.6m).
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Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after taxation to cash flows from operations £m £m £m £m

Profit/(loss) after taxation – 144.4 (45.2) 179.5

Adjusted for:

Tax expense 40.4 61.1 20.1 10.1

Finance costs 61.9 57.1 61.6 55.9

Finance income (27.7) (27.4) (121.0) (89.6)

Dividends received – – (60.3) (165.6)

Share-based payment charge 3.2 1.4 1.1 0.5

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12.2 10.9 0.4 0.3

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 4.6 – – –

Amortisation of intangible assets 1.3 0.1 – –

Impairment of goodwill (note 5) 91.0 – – –

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – 0.1 – –

Provision for impairment in investments in subsidiaries – – 23.0 –

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Inventories 9.2 (2.0) – –

Amounts receivable from customers (67.0) (120.6) – –

Trade and other receivables – (2.7) 4.4 (129.8)

Insurance assets 24.8 17.4 – –

Trade and other payables 0.6 (11.4) 64.8 110.0

Insurance accruals and deferred income (65.7) (38.0) – –

Retirement benefit obligations (44.3) (10.6) (6.1) (1.7)

Derivative financial instruments (1.0) (0.1) (0.3) –

Provisions 24.7 – – –

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 68.2 79.7 (57.5) (30.4)

Cash flow statements continued
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Basis of preparation
For the year ended 31 December 2004, Provident Financial plc prepared its consolidated and company financial statements in accordance with the UK

Companies Act 1985 and applicable UK accounting standards (together UK GAAP).

As a result of the adoption of IAS Regulation EC 1606/2002 on 19 July 2002 by the European Parliament, Provident Financial plc has prepared its consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in the

European Union (EU) in order to comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the UK Companies Act 1985. As permitted by that Act, the separate financial

statements have been prepared in accordance with those IFRS endorsed in the EU.

All financial information relating to the year ended 31 December 2004 for both the group and company has been restated from UK GAAP to EU endorsed IFRS.

Reconciliations between previously reported UK GAAP results and EU endorsed IFRS are presented in notes 32 and 33.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied in these financial statements

were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’

IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (and the related amendment to IAS 1 on capital disclosures)

IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’

IFRIC 5 ‘Rights to Interest Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds’

IFRIC 6 ‘Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’

IFRIC 7 ‘Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29’

IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2’

All of these standards and interpretations have been endorsed by the EU other than IFRIC 7 and IFRIC 8. The adoption of IFRS 7 is not anticipated to have 

a material effect on the financial statements of the group or company except for additional disclosures on capital and financial instruments when the relevant

standard comes into effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2007. All other standards and interpretations listed above are expected to have no

impact on the financial statements of the group or company.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative

financial instruments to fair value. The group and company’s principal accounting policies under IFRS are as follows:

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated income statement and balance sheet include the financial statements of the company and its subsidiary undertakings drawn up from the 

date control passes to the group until the date control ceases.

Control is assumed to exist where more than 50% of the voting share capital is owned or where the group controls another entity either through the power to:

• govern the operating and financial policies of that entity;

• appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of that entity; or

• cast the majority of the votes at a board meeting of that entity.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Transitional arrangements
On transition to IFRS, an entity is generally required to apply IFRS retrospectively, except where an exemption is available under IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption 

of International Financial Reporting Standards’. The following is a summary of the key elections from IFRS 1 that have been made by the group and company:

• The group has elected to adopt the IFRS 1 exemption in relation to business combinations and will only apply IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ prospectively

from 1 January 2004. As a result, the balance of goodwill under UK GAAP as at 31 December 2003 is the deemed IFRS cost of goodwill at 1 January 2004.

Goodwill is not amortised annually under IFRS but is instead subject to an annual impairment review.

• The group has elected to adopt the IFRS 1 option to reset foreign currency cumulative translation differences to nil on transition to IFRS. Cumulative foreign

currency translation differences are shown separately as part of other reserves under IFRS.

• The group and company have elected to recognise all actuarial gains and losses on pensions directly in shareholders’ equity at 1 January 2004. 

The full defined benefit pension deficit as at 1 January 2004 is therefore recognised in the balance sheet.
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Transitional arrangements continued
• The group and company have elected to apply the share-based payment exemption and have applied IFRS 2 from 1 January 2004 to those options that 

were issued after 7 November 2002 but that had not vested by 1 January 2005.

• The group and company have elected to retain UK GAAP carrying values of property, plant and equipment (including any historic revaluations) as deemed cost

on the date of transition to IFRS.

IFRS 1 allows IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’, IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 ‘Insurance

Contracts’ to be applied from 1 January 2005 with no restatement of comparative information. Given that IAS 39 impacts the group’s revenue recognition,

impairment and recognition of derivatives at fair value, the group and company have not taken advantage of this exemption and have therefore fully adopted

IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 in the 2004 comparatives to ensure that they are comparable with the 2005 results.

Revenue
Revenue, which excludes value added tax and intra-group transactions, comprises revenue earned for the home credit businesses; premiums written for the

motor insurance underwriting business; interest and fee income earned by Vanquis Bank; and revenue earned by Yes Car Credit on the sale of motor vehicles

and associated finance and insurance contracts.

Revenue recognition
In the home credit business, the service charge on a home credit loan is fixed. The charge does not increase if customers take longer than the contracted period

to repay the loan and there are no penalty or default interest charges. In accordance with IAS 39 the service charge is accounted for as interest income.

Revenue on loan receivables is recognised using an effective interest rate (EIR). The EIR is calculated using estimated cash flows being contractual payments

adjusted for the impact of customers repaying early but excluding the anticipated impact of customers paying late or not paying at all. Directly attributable

incremental issue costs are also taken into account in calculating the EIR. Interest income continues to be accrued on impaired loans using the original EIR

applied to the loan’s carrying value.

In respect of the motor insurance underwriting business, revenue represents the gross amount of the premium written during the year.

In respect of the credit card business of Vanquis Bank, interest is calculated on credit card advances to customers using the EIR on the daily balance

outstanding. Annual fees charged to customers’ credit card accounts are recognised as part of the EIR. Penalty charges and other fees are recognised 

at the time the charges are made to customers on the basis that performance is complete.

In the car finance business of Yes Car Credit, revenue from the sale of the motor vehicle is recognised in the income statement when the vehicle is sold. 

Finance income and insurance commission, which are treated as part of the yield on the financing arrangement, are recognised using the EIR method.

Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises the return generated on cash and cash equivalents and is recognised as it accrues. Finance costs comprise the interest on external

borrowings and are recognised as they accrue.

Amounts receivable from customers
All customer receivables are initially recognised at the amount loaned to the customer less directly attributable incremental issue costs. After initial recognition,

customer receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is the amount of the customer receivable at initial recognition less

customer repayments, plus revenue earned calculated using the EIR, less any deduction for impairment.

Customer receivables are assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. All customer accounts that are in arrears are deemed to have demonstrated

evidence of impairment and are subject to a detailed impairment review. Impairment is calculated by estimating the future cash flows from each portfolio 

of similar loans, discounting these to a present value using the original EIR and comparing this figure with the balance sheet value. All such impairments are

charged to the income statement.

The unwinding of the discounted value used to compute the impairment is reflected in the interest income recognised on the impaired loan.

Impairment charges in respect of amounts receivable from customers are charged to the income statement as part of operating costs.

Insurance premiums
Credit is taken to the income statement for insurance premium income, net of commissions paid to intermediaries, over the life of the policy on a straight line

time apportioned method.

Accounting policies continued
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Provision for unpaid insurance claims
Provision is made at the year end for the estimated gross cost of claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, including the gross cost of claims

expected to be incurred but not yet reported to the group. The estimated cost of claims comprises expenses to be incurred in settling claims and a deduction

for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Provisions are calculated gross of any reinsurance recoveries. The group takes all reasonable steps to

ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the

outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established.

The group uses several statistical methods to incorporate the various assumptions made in order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The method most

commonly used is the chain ladder method. This method is applied to paid claims and the basic technique involves the analysis of historical claims development

factors and a selection of estimated development factors based on the historical pattern. The group considers chain-ladder techniques are appropriate for the

classes of business underwritten, which have a relatively stable development pattern. There have been no material changes to claims provisioning assumptions.

The estimated cost of claims is calculated by reference to the projected number of claims, based on statistics showing how the number of notified claims 

has developed over time, and the anticipated average cost per claim, based on historical levels adjusted to allow for changes in variables such as legislation,

inflation rates, the mix of business and industry benchmarks. The provision for estimated insurance claims is reviewed annually by an external actuary.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers
An asset is recognised in respect of amounts recoverable from reinsurers to reflect expected recoveries from reinsurers relating to insurance claims made 

and estimated claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are assessed for impairment annually and

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Insurance deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs in relation to insurance contracts represent commission and other related expenses. These costs are deferred as an intangible asset (subject

to recoverability) and amortised over the period in which the related premiums are earned which is generally over a period of one year.

Goodwill
All acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration over the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of a subsidiary include the

carrying amount of goodwill relating to the subsidiary sold.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998 was eliminated against shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP and has not been reinstated on transition 

to IFRS. On disposal of a business, any such goodwill relating to the business will not be taken into account in determining the profit or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment, except for land, which is shown at cost less impairment.

Cost represents invoiced cost plus any other costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed 

as incurred.

Under the transitional rules of IFRS 1, the group and company have elected to use previous UK GAAP carrying values, including revaluations, as deemed cost 

on transition to IFRS.

Depreciation is calculated to write down assets to their estimated realisable value over their useful economic lives. The following are the principal bases used:

% Method

Land Nil –

Freehold and long leasehold buildings 21⁄2 Straight line

Short leasehold buildings Over the lease period Straight line

Fixtures and fittings 10 Straight line

Equipment (including computer hardware) 20 to 331⁄3 Straight line

Motor vehicles 25 Reducing balance
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Property, plant and equipment continued
The residual value and useful economic life of all assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. All items of property, plant 

and equipment, other than land, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be

recoverable. Land is subject to an annual impairment test. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds 

the higher of the asset’s value in use or its fair value less costs to sell.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets which comprise acquired computer software licences are capitalised as an intangible asset on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 

the specific software and bring it into use.

Directly attributable costs associated with the development of software that will generate future economic benefits are capitalised as part of the software

intangible asset. Direct costs include the cost of software development employees and an appropriate portion of relevant directly attributable overheads.

Computer software is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful economic life which is generally five years.

Investment in own shares
Shares purchased through the Qualifying Employees Share Ownership Trust (the QUEST) and in respect of the Performance Share Plan are treated as treasury

shares and are deducted at cost from other reserves within shareholders’ equity.

Inventories
Inventories comprise motor vehicles held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Cost includes all costs of purchase, preparation and costs incurred in bringing the vehicle to its present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which

the subsidiary operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated and company financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the company’s

functional and presentational currency.

Transactions that are not denominated in a subsidiary’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant functional currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the

balance sheet date. Differences arising on translation are charged or credited to the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow

hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

The income statements of group subsidiaries (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from

sterling are translated into sterling at the average exchange rate and the balance sheets are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries, and of borrowings and other currency

instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. From 1 January 2004 these exchange differences are recognised as 

a separate component of shareholders’ equity within other reserves. When a foreign operation is sold such exchange differences are recognised in the income

statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Segment reporting
The group’s primary reporting format is business segments and its secondary format is geographical segments. A business segment is a component of the

group that is engaged in providing a group of related products and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. 

A geographical segment is a component of the group that operates within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that 

are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.

Leases
The leases entered into by the group and company are solely operating leases. Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to the income statement 

on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax. Current income tax is calculated based on taxable profit for the year using tax rates that

have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the income statement

because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected 

to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Accounting policies continued
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Taxation continued
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences

can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary

difference is controlled by the group/company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the future.

Deferred income tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Employee benefits
Defined benefit pension plans

The charge in the income statement in respect of defined benefit pension plans comprises the actuarially assessed current service cost of working 

employees together with the interest charge on pension liabilities offset by the expected return on pension scheme assets. All charges are allocated to

administrative expenses.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance

sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit

obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity

approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in the statement

of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight line basis over the

average period until the benefits become vested.

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis.

Dividends
Dividend distributions to the company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the group and company financial statements as follows:

• Final dividend: when approved by the company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting.

• Interim dividend: when paid by the company.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less held for the purpose 

of meeting short-term cash commitments and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented in current liabilities to the extent that there is no right of offset

with cash balances.

Derivative financial instruments
The group and company use derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swaps, currency swaps and forward currency contracts to manage the

interest rate and currency risk arising from the group’s underlying business operations. No transactions of a speculative nature are undertaken.

All derivative financial instruments are assessed against the hedge accounting criteria set out in IAS 39. The majority of the group’s derivatives meet the hedge

accounting requirements of IAS 39 and are accordingly designated as either: hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment

(fair value hedge) or hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).

Derivatives are initially recognised at the fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at each reporting date at

their fair value. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, movements in their fair value are recognised immediately within the income statement.

Where the hedge accounting criteria have been met, the resultant gain or loss on the derivative instrument is recognised as follows:

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement as part of finance costs,

together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss

relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement as part of finance costs. Amounts accumulated in equity are recognised 

in the income statement when the income or expense on the hedged item is recognised in the income statement.
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Share-based payments
The group and company issue equity settled share-based payments to certain employees through executive share options schemes, a performance share plan

scheme and Save As You Earn schemes.

The cost of providing share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over the vesting period of the related share options or share

allocations. The corresponding credit is made to a share-based payment reserve within other reserves.

The cost is based on the fair value of the options and shares allocated determined using a binomial option pricing model. The value of the charge is adjusted 

at each balance sheet date to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ the group and company have elected to apply IFRS 2 to grants, options 

and other equity instruments granted after 7 November 2002 and not vested at 1 January 2005.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of any transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at

amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the expected

life of the borrowings using the effective interest rate.

Where borrowings are the subject of a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the borrowing that are attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in 

the income statement and a corresponding adjustment made to the carrying value of borrowings.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group or company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the group or company will 

be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance

sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Key assumptions and estimates
In applying the accounting policies set out above, the group and company make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities as follows:

Amounts receivable from customers (£1,273.9m)

The group reviews its portfolio of loans and receivables for impairment at each balance sheet date. The group makes judgements to determine whether there

is objective evidence which indicates there has been an adverse effect on expected future cash flows. For the purposes of assessing the impairment of loans

and receivables, customers are categorised into arrears stages as this is considered to be the most reliable predictor of future payment performance. The level

of impairment is calculated using actuarial models which use historical payment performance to generate the estimated amount and timing of future cash flows

from each arrears stage. The impairment models are regularly reviewed both internally and by the group’s external actuaries to take account of the current

economic environment, product mix and recent customer payment performance. However, on the basis that the payment performance of customers could

be different from the assumptions used in estimating future cash flows, a material adjustment to the carrying value of amounts receivable from customers may

be required.

Insurance claims reserves (£284.0m)

The group makes provision for the expected cost of claims in relation to motor insurance policies underwritten, including those claims incurred but not 

reported. The ultimate cost of those claims is in the future and is therefore uncertain and the group makes judgements and estimates to ascertain the expected

future cost. The group determines the provision by analysing previous claims and applying historical development patterns to the more recent claims, taking 

into account known factors which may impact upon those development patterns. The group considers this method to be the most appropriate for the class 

of business written, which has a relatively stable development pattern, and it is widely used in the insurance market. There have been no significant changes to 

the claims provisioning assumptions compared to prior years and the estimate of the ultimate cost of claims is performed regularly both internally and by the

group’s external actuaries. However, on the basis that the future claims development could be different from past history, a material adjustment to the level 

of insurance claims reserves may be required.

Income taxes (deferred income tax asset £64.5m, current income tax asset £0.9m, current income tax liability £33.4m)

The group is subject to income taxes in the UK as well as a number of other jurisdictions. In many cases, the tax treatment of certain items cannot be determined

precisely until tax audits or enquiries have been completed by the tax authorities. In some instances, this can be some years after the item has first been

reflected in the financial statements. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit and enquiry issues based on an assessment of whether such

liabilities are likely to fall due. If the outcome of such audits is that the final liability is different to the amount originally estimated, such differences will be

recognised in the period in which the audit or enquiry is determined. Any differences may necessitate a material adjustment to the level of income tax creditor/

deferred income tax asset held in the balance sheet. 
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1 Segmental reporting
Primary reporting format – business segments:

Revenue Profit before taxation

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

UK home credit 578.9 558.4 146.3 154.0

Vanquis Bank 17.8 5.9 (15.9) (9.0)

UK consumer credit 596.7 564.3 130.4 145.0

International 358.6 271.2 51.1 39.8

Motor insurance 154.7 164.8 40.0 34.6

Central – – (15.5) (11.2)

Total ongoing operations 1,110.0 1,000.3 206.0 208.2

Yes Car Credit (closed business) 227.5 272.1 (24.6) (2.7)

Closure costs (note 5) – – (141.0) –

Total Yes Car Credit 227.5 272.1 (165.6) (2.7)

Total group 1,337.5 1,272.4 40.4 205.5

Revenue between business segments is not considered to be material.

Segment assets Segment liabilities Capital expenditure Depreciation

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

UK home credit 748.5 688.9 449.8 388.6 5.1 4.7 2.8 3.0

Vanquis Bank 65.0 28.4 30.4 10.5 1.1 0.5 0.6 0.6

UK consumer credit 813.5 717.3 480.2 399.1 6.2 5.2 3.4 3.6

International 420.4 371.5 357.9 341.4 12.7 10.6 5.9 4.6

Motor insurance 461.3 547.8 386.0 457.3 0.7 1.1 1.0 1.1

Central 26.8 108.8 166.1 163.4 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.3

Total ongoing operations 1,722.0 1,745.4 1,390.2 1,361.2 19.9 17.5 10.7 9.6

Yes Car Credit* (closed business) 257.3 317.3 271.7 286.8 1.0 2.2 1.5 1.3

Total group 1,979.3 2,062.7 1,661.9 1,648.0 20.9 19.7 12.2 10.9

* The Yes Car Credit depreciation charge of £1.5m excludes the £4.6m impairment charge relating to the closure of the business (note 5).

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments:

Revenue Profit before taxation Segment assets Capital expenditure

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

UK and Republic of Ireland 751.4 729.1 144.7 157.8 1,326.2 1,381.0 7.7 7.9

Central Europe 347.9 269.4 64.2 52.6 380.3 361.2 11.1 9.3

Mexico 10.7 1.8 (2.9) (2.2) 15.5 3.2 1.1 0.3

Total ongoing operations 1,110.0 1,000.3 206.0 208.2 1,722.0 1,745.4 19.9 17.5

UK and Republic of Ireland – 

Yes Car Credit (closed business) 227.5 272.1 (165.6) (2.7) 257.3 317.3 1.0 2.2

Total group 1,337.5 1,272.4 40.4 205.5 1,979.3 2,062.7 20.9 19.7

76 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Notes to the financial statements

58.22_PF_BACK_P5a_LM  23/3/06  8:50 pm  Page 76



2 Finance costs
Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Interest payable on bank borrowings 42.2 41.0

Interest payable on other loans 16.6 14.5

Interest payable on subordinated loan notes 4.0 –

Net movement in the fair value of derivatives (0.9) 1.6

61.9 57.1

3 Profit before taxation
Group

2005 2004

Profit before taxation is stated after charging: £m £m

Employee costs (note 9) 179.7 169.4

Cost of inventories included in operating costs 125.2 143.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 12) 12.2 10.9

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 4.6 –

Impairment of goodwill (note 5) 91.0 –

Amortisation of intangible assets:

– computer software (note 11) 1.3 0.1

– insurance deferred acquisition costs (note 16) 21.7 22.4

Loss on disposal of fixed assets – 0.1

Operating lease rentals:

– property 17.0 14.8

– equipment 0.1 –

Impairment of amounts receivable from customers (note 14) 367.8 285.1

Gross cost of insurance claims (note 19) 69.4 98.4

Reinsurance cost in respect of insurance claims (note 19) 15.7 4.3

Auditors’ remuneration:

– audit 0.6 0.5

– further assurance services 0.5 0.2

– tax services 0.2 0.7

– other services – –
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4 Tax expense
Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Current income tax 30.1 63.8

Deferred income tax (note 23) 10.3 (2.7)

Tax expense 40.4 61.1

Group

2005 2004

Tax on items charged to equity £m £m

Current tax credit on net fair value losses – cash flow hedges (1.5) (1.4)

Deferred income tax credit on actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations (6.0) (10.5)

(7.5) (11.9)

The rate of tax expense on the profit before taxation for the year is higher than (2004 below) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). 

The differences are explained as follows:

Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Profit before taxation 40.4 205.5

Profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2004 30%) 12.1 61.7

Effects of:

Adjustment in respect of prior years (3.7) (3.6)

Adjustment in respect of foreign tax rates (10.0) (6.3)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8.0 1.4

Impairment of goodwill not deductible for tax purposes 27.3 –

Overseas taxable dividends 6.7 7.9

Total tax expense 40.4 61.1
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5 Closure of Yes Car Credit
On 14 December 2005, the directors made the decision to close the trading activities of the subsidiaries forming the Yes Car Credit operation. The business

ceased selling and financing used vehicles on 14 December 2005.

During the year, Yes Car Credit incurred a loss before taxation and closure costs of £24.6m (2004 £2.7m). After taking account of closure costs of £141.0m

(2004 £nil), the reported loss before taxation was £165.6m (2004 £2.7m).

Closure costs can be analysed as follows:

£m

Goodwill impairment (note 10) 91.0

Provision for onerous property obligations (note 22) 14.9

Additional impairment charge on customer receivables (note 14) 14.4

Provision for redundancy costs (note 22) 10.1

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 12) 4.6

Write down of inventories 2.0

Other 4.0

141.0

Of the total closure costs, £40.1m has been classified as operating costs and £100.9m has been classified as administrative expenses in the consolidated

income statement.

The tax credit in respect of closure costs was £12.8m (2004 £nil).

The group will continue to collect out the remaining customer receivables of Yes Car Credit as they fall due over the next four years. The Yes Car Credit operation

has been classified as part of continuing operations on the basis that revenue and impairment will continue to be generated from the loan book until it has been

fully collected out.

6 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding during the year, excluding those shares held by the Provident Financial Qualifying Share Ownership Trust and in respect of the Performance Share

Plan (note 25).

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The directors have elected to show an adjusted earnings per share, excluding the loss after taxation of Yes Car Credit which was closed on 14 December 2005.

This is presented to show the earnings per share generated by the group’s ongoing operations.

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below:

2005 2004

Weighted Weighted

average average

number Per share number Per share

Earnings of shares amount Earnings of shares amount

£m m pence £m m pence

Basic EPS – 254.3 – 144.4 253.4 57.00

Dilutive effect of options – 0.6 – – 1.2 (0.26)

Diluted EPS – 254.9 – 144.4 254.6 56.74

Adjusted EPS

Basic EPS – 254.3 – 144.4 253.4 57.00

Loss for the year from Yes Car Credit 145.4 – 57.18 1.9 – 0.74

Adjusted EPS 145.4 254.3 57.18 146.3 253.4 57.74
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7 Dividends
2005 2004

Group and company £m £m

2003 final – 19.90p per share – 50.3

2004 interim – 13.65p per share – 34.6

2004 final – 20.75p per share 52.7 –

2005 interim – 14.06p per share 35.9 –

Dividends paid 88.6 84.9

The directors are recommending a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2005 of 21.37p per share which will amount to a total

dividend payment of £54.6m. If approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting on 17 May 2006, this dividend will be paid on 26 May 2006 to

shareholders who are on the register of members at 7 April 2006. This dividend is not reflected in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 as it is subject 

to shareholder approval.

8 Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the group, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in 

IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’. Further information in respect of directors’ remuneration, share options, pension contributions and pension entitlements is

set out in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 57 to 64.

2005 2004

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 1.9 2.5

Post employment benefits 2.2 1.8

Share-based payments 0.6 0.5

Total 4.7 4.8

Short-term employee benefits comprise salary/fees, bonus and benefits earned in the year. Post employment benefits represent the sum of (i) the increase 

in the transfer value of the accrued pension benefits (less directors’ contributions) for those directors who are members of the group’s defined benefit pension

scheme; and (ii) company contributions into personal pension arrangements for all other directors. The share-based payment charge is the proportion of the

group’s share-based payment charge that relates to those options granted to the directors.
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9 Employee information
2005 2004

(a) The average number of persons employed by the group (including directors) was as follows: Number Number

UK home credit 2,795 2,941

Vanquis Bank 291 111

UK consumer credit 3,086 3,052

International 3,754 3,280

Motor insurance 450 480

Central 65 62

Total ongoing operations 7,355 6,874

Yes Car Credit 1,192 1,266

Total group 8,547 8,140

Analysed as:

Full-time 7,760 7,453

Part-time 787 687

Total 8,547 8,140

2005 2004

b) Group employment costs – all employees (including directors) £m £m

Aggregate gross wages and salaries paid to the group’s employees 145.3 140.1

Employers’ national insurance contributions 18.9 17.5

Pension costs 12.3 10.4

Share-based payment charge 3.2 1.4

Total 179.7 169.4
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10 Goodwill
2005 2004

Group £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 87.8 87.8

Additions 6.3 –

At 31 December 94.1 87.8

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January – –

Impairment on closure of Yes Car Credit 91.0 –

At 31 December 91.0 –

Net book value at 31 December 3.1 87.8

The increase of £6.3m in goodwill during 2005 reflects the final settlement of the contingent consideration in respect of the acquisition of Yes Car Credit in

2002 (note 18).

Following the decision of the directors to close the Yes Car Credit operation, the whole of the goodwill in respect of that acquisition, amounting to £91.0m, 

has been impaired (note 5). The remaining goodwill, amounting to £3.1m, relates to the acquisition of N&N Cheque Encashment Limited in 2001 (part of UK

home credit).

11 Intangible assets
Computer software

2005 2004

Group £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 19.7 13.3

Additions 9.8 6.4

Disposals (0.8) –

At 31 December 28.7 19.7

Amortisation

At 1 January 0.7 0.6

Charged to the income statement 1.3 0.1

Disposals (0.8) –

At 31 December 1.2 0.7

Net book value at 31 December 27.5 19.0

82 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Notes to the financial statements continued

58.22_PF_BACK_P5a_LM  23/3/06  8:50 pm  Page 82



12 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land Leasehold land Equipment

and buildings and buildings and vehicles Total

Group £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 2005 6.7 3.5 78.4 88.6

Exchange adjustments – – 0.3 0.3

Additions – 0.7 20.2 20.9

Disposals (0.3) (0.3) (7.7) (8.3)

At 31 December 2005 6.4 3.9 91.2 101.5

Depreciation

At 1 January 2005 1.2 1.0 44.6 46.8

Exchange adjustments – – 0.2 0.2

Charged to the income statement 0.1 0.3 11.8 12.2

Impairment on closure of Yes Car Credit (note 5) – 2.2 2.4 4.6

Eliminated on disposal (0.1) (0.1) (4.9) (5.1)

At 31 December 2005 1.2 3.4 54.1 58.7

Net book value at 31 December 2005 5.2 0.5 37.1 42.8

Freehold land Leasehold land Equipment

and buildings and buildings and vehicles Total

Group £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 2004 6.7 3.0 65.1 74.8

Exchange adjustments – – 2.5 2.5

Additions – 0.5 19.2 19.7

Disposals – – (8.4) (8.4)

At 31 December 2004 6.7 3.5 78.4 88.6

Depreciation

At 1 January 2004 1.1 0.7 37.6 39.4

Exchange adjustments – – 1.5 1.5

Charged to the income statement 0.1 0.3 10.5 10.9

Eliminated on disposal – – (5.0) (5.0)

At 31 December 2004 1.2 1.0 44.6 46.8

Net book value at 31 December 2004 5.5 2.5 33.8 41.8
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12 Property, plant and equipment continued
Freehold land Leasehold land Equipment

and buildings and buildings and vehicles Total

Company £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 2005 4.3 0.2 2.2 6.7

Additions – – 0.3 0.3

Disposals – – (0.2) (0.2)

At 31 December 2005 4.3 0.2 2.3 6.8

Depreciation

At 1 January 2005 1.1 – 1.2 2.3

Charged to the income statement 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4

Eliminated on disposal – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 December 2005 1.2 0.1 1.3 2.6

Net book value at 31 December 2005 3.1 0.1 1.0 4.2

Freehold land Leasehold land Equipment

and buildings and buildings and vehicles Total

Company £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 January 2004 4.3 0.2 2.1 6.6

Additions – – 0.5 0.5

Disposals – – (0.4) (0.4)

At 31 December 2004 4.3 0.2 2.2 6.7

Depreciation

At 1 January 2004 1.0 – 1.3 2.3

Charged to the income statement 0.1 – 0.2 0.3

Eliminated on disposal – – (0.3) (0.3)

At 31 December 2004 1.1 – 1.2 2.3

Net book value at 31 December 2004 3.2 0.2 1.0 4.4
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13 Investment in subsidiaries

Company £m

Cost

At 1 January 2005 390.5

Addition 28.0

At 31 December 2005 418.5

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January 2005 9.0

Charged to the income statement 23.0

At 31 December 2005 32.0

Total cost less impairment at 31 December 2005 386.5

Total cost less impairment at 31 December 2004 381.5

The addition to investments represents a further £28.0m investment in the equity of Vanquis Bank Limited during the year.

The impairment charge arising during the year relates to the write-down in the investments comprising the Yes Car Credit division following the decision to close

that business on 14 December 2005.

The following are the subsidiary undertakings which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the profit or assets of the group. A full list of subsidiary

undertakings will be annexed to the next annual return of the company to be filed with the Registrar of Companies. All subsidiaries are consolidated and are held

by wholly-owned intermediate companies, except for those noted below, which are held directly by the company.

Country of

incorporation Class of %

Group or registration capital holding

UK home credit Provident Personal Credit Limited England Ordinary 100

Greenwood Personal Credit Limited England Ordinary 100

Vanquis Bank Vanquis Bank Limited England Ordinary 100*

International Provident International Limited England Ordinary 100

Provident Polska S.A. Poland Ordinary 100

Provident Financial s.r.o. Czech Ordinary 100

Provident Financial Rt. Hungary Ordinary 100

Provident Financial s.r.o. Slovakia Ordinary 100

Provident Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico Ordinary 100

Motor insurance Provident Insurance plc England Ordinary 100*

Provident Reinsurance Limited Guernsey Ordinary 100

Yes Car Credit Direct Auto Finance Limited England Ordinary 100

Direct Auto Financial Services Limited England Ordinary 100

Direct Auto Finance Insurance Services Limited England Ordinary 100

* Shares held directly

The above companies operate principally in their country of operation or registration.

The financial year end of all subsidiaries is 31 December except for Provident Insurance plc. That company’s financial year end is 30 June; this, in the opinion 

of the directors, best facilitates the negotiation of reinsurance arrangements. Accordingly, the management accounts of that company for the year ended 

31 December 2005, which have been audited for the purpose of these group financial statements, have been consolidated.
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14 Amounts receivable from customers
Group

2005 2004

Amounts receivable from customers £m £m

UK home credit 649.9 613.5

International 328.7 285.1

Vanquis Bank 60.0 26.0

Total ongoing operations 1,038.6 924.6

Yes Car Credit (closed business) 235.3 275.6

Total group 1,273.9 1,200.2

Analysed as – due within one year 952.8 990.1

– due in two to five years 321.1 210.1

1,273.9 1,200.2

Amounts receivable from customers are held at amortised cost and are equal to the expected future cash flows receivable discounted at the average EIR of 115%

(2004 114%). All amounts receivable from customers are at fixed interest rates. The average period to maturity of the amounts receivable from customers is 

7.9 months (2004 8.2 months). The fair value of amounts receivable from customers is approximately £1.5 billion (2004 £1.4 billion). Fair value has been derived 

by discounting expected future cash flows (net of collection costs) at an appropriate discount rate.

The currency profile of amounts receivable from customers is as follows:
Group

2005 2004

Currency £m £m

Sterling 919.2 890.6

Euro 26.0 24.5

Polish zloty 177.7 165.7

Czech crown 55.2 48.4

Hungarian forint 64.6 53.2

Slovak crown 19.8 15.6

Mexican peso 11.4 2.2

Total 1,273.9 1,200.2

The impairment charge in respect of amounts receivable from customers reflected within operating costs can be analysed as follows:
Group

2005 2004

Impairment charge £m £m

UK home credit 171.8 154.0

International 132.4 87.0

Vanquis Bank 12.4 4.0

Total ongoing operations 316.6 245.0

Yes Car Credit (closed business) – pre-closure impairment charge 36.8 40.1

– additional impairment on closure (note 5) 14.4 –

Total Yes Car Credit 51.2 40.1

Total group 367.8 285.1

The additional impairment on the Yes Car Credit customer receivables arises as a result of the expected deterioration in collections performance following the

closure of the business.
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14 Amounts receivable from customers continued
Revenue recognised on amounts receivable from customers which have been impaired can be analysed as follows:

Group

2005 2004

Revenue recognised on impaired loans £m £m

UK home credit 187.0 185.0

International 123.2 79.6

Vanquis Bank 3.6 2.2

Total ongoing operations 313.8 266.8

Yes Car Credit 34.6 39.3

Total group 348.4 306.1

15 Trade and other receivables
Company

2005 2004

Non-current assets £m £m

Amount owed by group undertaking 438.0 638.0

The amount owed by the group undertaking is unsecured, due for repayment in more than one year and accrues interest at rates linked to LIBOR. During the

year £200m of the loan was repaid.

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Current assets £m £m £m £m

Trade debtors 2.8 1.8 – –

Other debtors 11.5 12.2 – –

Amounts owed by group undertakings – – 841.3 844.8

Prepayments and accrued income 18.6 15.3 4.4 3.8

32.9 29.3 845.7 848.6

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and accrue interest at rates linked to LIBOR.

The fair value of trade and other receivables equates to their book value (2004 fair value equalled book value).
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16 Insurance assets
Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Amounts due from policyholders and intermediaries 15.4 17.2

Amounts prepaid to reinsurers 1.9 1.4

Deferred acquisition costs (intangible asset) 10.4 11.4

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers in respect of outstanding claims 37.7 60.2

65.4 90.2

A reconciliation of the movement in deferred acquisition costs is set out below:

Group

2005 2004

£m £m

At 1 January 11.4 11.5

Incurred during the period 20.7 22.3

Amortised during the period (21.7) (22.4)

At 31 December 10.4 11.4

17 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 54.6 38.4 132.2 67.4

Short-term deposits 397.3 461.7 – –

451.9 500.1 132.2 67.4

£395.7m (2004 £459.2m) of the short-term deposits and £8.8m (2004 £10.4m) of the cash at bank and in hand are held by businesses in the group that 

are regulated. The regulators of these businesses require their investments and cash to be retained within the relevant company and these monies cannot be

used to finance other parts of the group or to repay group borrowings. These monies are invested and held on deposit, pending future claims payments and

payments to insurance companies.

The average period to maturity of the short-term deposits is 1.5 months (2004 1.4 months). This excludes the impact of interest rate swaps that hedge the

interest rate risk on the deposits. Including interest rate swaps, the average period to maturity of short-term deposits is 24 months (2004 25 months).
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17 Cash and cash equivalents continued
The currency profile of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Currency £m £m £m £m

Sterling 421.6 461.2 1.3 2.1

Polish zloty 9.7 12.3 130.9 65.1

Czech crown 13.1 20.9 – –

Hungarian forint 3.5 2.2 – –

Slovak crown 2.0 3.0 – 0.2

Mexican peso 2.0 0.5 – –

Total 451.9 500.1 132.2 67.4

The company participates in a netting arrangement with its subsidiary Provident Polska S.A. whereby Provident Polska S.A. borrows zloty from an external bank

and the company deposits an equivalent amount of zloty with the same bank. The group has a legally enforceable right to offset the deposit and borrowing 

and the amounts are periodically settled on a net basis. Accordingly, in the group financial statements the deposit and borrowing are offset.

All of the cash and cash equivalents accrue interest at floating rates linked to the relevant national equivalent of LIBOR. Including the impact of fixed interest

rate swaps, the weighted average fixed interest rate on cash and cash equivalents was 4.93% (2004 5.16%). The fair value of cash and cash equivalents

approximates to their book value (2004 fair value approximated to book value).

18 Trade and other payables
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Current liabilities £m £m £m £m

Trade creditors 36.9 47.3 – –

Amounts owed to group undertakings – – 256.8 191.1

Other creditors including taxation and social security 12.0 9.7 0.2 0.2

Contingent consideration – 12.8 – –

Accruals 77.1 65.1 14.8 13.7

126.0 134.9 271.8 205.0

The contingent consideration was settled on 15 July 2005 for a total cost of £19.1m. The additional £6.3m of consideration has been included within the revised

goodwill figure as shown in note 10. The fair value of trade and other payables approximates to their book value (2004 fair value approximated to book value).

Company

2005 2004

Non-current liabilities £m £m

Amount owed to group undertaking 131.3 131.3

The amount owed to the group undertaking is unsecured, due for repayment in more than one year and accrues interest at rates linked to LIBOR.
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19 Insurance accruals and deferred income
Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Provision for unpaid insurance claims 284.0 343.4

Unearned insurance premiums 74.8 81.0

Other deferred income 0.4 0.5

Total 359.2 424.9

(a) Provision for unpaid claims and unearned premiums

Group

2005 2004

£m £m

Gross

Claims reported 279.9 335.4

Claims incurred but not reported 4.1 8.0

Total claims 284.0 343.4

Unearned premium 74.8 81.0

Total insurance liabilities gross 358.8 424.4

Recoverable from reinsurers (note 16)

Claims reported 37.7 60.2

Claims incurred but not reported – –

Total reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities 37.7 60.2

Net

Claims reported 242.2 275.2

Claims incurred but not reported 4.1 8.0

Total net claims 246.3 283.2

Unearned premium 74.8 81.0

Total insurance liabilities net of reinsurance recoverable 321.1 364.2

(b) Insurance claims – gross
Group

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Estimate of ultimate claims costs:

– at end of financial year 179.3 196.7 167.3 128.1 121.7 793.1

– one year later 4.9 (2.4) (2.4) (5.2) – (5.1)

– two years later (8.6) (5.4) (6.6) – – (20.6)

– three years later (5.4) (5.2) – – – (10.6)

– four years later (5.8) – – – – (5.8)

Current estimate of cumulative claims 164.4 183.7 158.3 122.9 121.7 751.0

Cumulative payments to date (144.8) (140.0) (100.9) (67.5) (42.5) (495.7)

Liability recognised in balance sheet in respect of

accident years 2001 to 2005 19.6 43.7 57.4 55.4 79.2 255.3

Liability in respect of accident years prior to 2001 28.7

Total liability included in the balance sheet 284.0
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19 Insurance accruals and deferred income continued
(c) Insurance claims – net of reinsurance recoverable

Group

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Estimate of ultimate claims costs:

– at end of financial year 162.0 175.8 150.1 113.5 110.0 711.4

– one year later (0.9) (0.1) 0.7 4.0 – 3.7

– two years later (0.1) (0.5) (0.3) – – (0.9)

– three years later (1.6) (1.5) – – – (3.1)

– four years later (2.1) – – – – (2.1)

Current estimate of cumulative claims 157.3 173.7 150.5 117.5 110.0 709.0

Cumulative payments to date (141.2) (137.2) (101.1) (67.5) (39.8) (486.8)

Liability recognised in balance sheet in respect 

of accident years 2001 to 2005 16.1 36.5 49.4 50.0 70.2 222.2

Liability in respect of accident years prior to 2001 24.1

Total liability included in the balance sheet net of reinsurance recoverable 246.3

(d) Reconciliation of movements in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets

A reconciliation of the movement in insurance liabilities and related reinsurance assets is presented below:

2005 2004

Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m

Notified claims 335.4 (60.2) 275.2 368.8 (72.7) 296.1

Incurred but not reported claims 8.0 – 8.0 8.3 – 8.3

Total at 1 January 343.4 (60.2) 283.2 377.1 (72.7) 304.4

Cash paid for claims settled in the year (128.8) 6.8 (122.0) (132.1) 8.2 (123.9)

Increase/(reduction) in liabilities 69.4 15.7 85.1 98.4 4.3 102.7

– arising from current year claims 121.7 (11.7) 110.0 128.1 (14.6) 113.5

– arising from prior year claims (52.3) 27.4 (24.9) (29.7) 18.9 (10.8)

Total at 31 December 284.0 (37.7) 246.3 343.4 (60.2) 283.2

Notified claims 279.9 (37.7) 242.2 335.4 (60.2) 275.2

Incurred but not reported claims 4.1 – 4.1 8.0 – 8.0

Total at 31 December 284.0 (37.7) 246.3 343.4 (60.2) 283.2

(e) Provision for unearned premiums

Group

2005 2004

£m £m

At 1 January 81.0 85.0

Written in the year 154.7 164.8

Earned in the year (160.9) (168.8)

At 31 December 74.8 81.0
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20 Bank and other borrowings
(a) Borrowing facilities and borrowings

Borrowing facilities principally comprise arrangements with banks for committed revolving loan facilities in a number of currencies for periods of up to seven

years, together with overdrafts and uncommitted loans which are repayable on demand, loan notes privately placed with US and UK institutions (see note 20(d)

below) and subordinated loan notes which were issued publicly in 2005 (see 20(e) below).

At 31 December 2005 borrowings under these facilities amounted to £982.9m (2004 £857.7m).

(b) Maturity profile of bank and other borrowings

The maturity of the group’s borrowings, together with the maturity of committed facilities, is as follows:

2005 2004

Borrowing Borrowing

facilities facilities

available Borrowings available Borrowings

Group £m £m £m £m

Repayable:

On demand 10.6 7.5 9.0 6.6

In less than 1 year 40.7 27.7 57.6 28.7

Between 1 and 2 years 216.8 125.5 89.8 65.7

Between 2 and 5 years 983.6 533.8 1,022.2 577.2

In more than 5 years 335.0 288.4 248.9 179.5

Total 1,586.7 982.9 1,427.5 857.7

The average period to maturity of the group’s committed facilities was 3.9 years (2004 4.0 years).

The maturity of the company’s borrowings, together with the maturity of committed facilities, is as follows:

2005 2004

Borrowing Borrowing

facilities facilities

available Borrowings available Borrowings

Company £m £m £m £m

Repayable:

On demand 10.6 7.5 8.3 6.6

In less than 1 year 17.5 12.9 17.5 1.2

Between 1 and 2 years 30.0 12.0 50.0 30.0

Between 2 and 5 years 575.5 208.0 724.5 368.8

In more than 5 years 204.5 155.9 133.1 57.6

Total 838.1 396.3 933.4 464.2

The average period to maturity of the company’s committed facilities was 4.3 years (2004 4.5 years).
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20 Bank and other borrowings continued
(c) Interest rate and currency profile of bank and other borrowings

Before taking account of the various interest rate swaps and currency swap arrangements entered into by the group and company, the interest rate and

currency exposure on borrowings is as follows:

2005 2004

Total Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 506.6 144.0 362.6 383.5 44.0 339.5

US dollar 175.1 175.1 – 158.3 158.3 –

Euro 26.2 – 26.2 25.4 – 25.4

Polish zloty 122.1 – 122.1 147.0 – 147.0

Czech crown 60.0 – 60.0 67.9 – 67.9

Hungarian forint 57.9 – 57.9 51.1 – 51.1

Slovak crown 23.4 – 23.4 22.0 – 22.0

Mexican peso 11.6 – 11.6 2.5 – 2.5

Total 982.9 319.1 663.8 857.7 202.3 655.4

2005 2004

Total Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating

Company £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 301.3 142.0 159.3 374.2 42.0 332.2

US dollar 51.1 51.1 – 45.9 45.9 –

Euro 26.2 – 26.2 25.4 – 25.4

Polish zloty 15.8 – 15.8 15.2 – 15.2

Czech crown 1.9 – 1.9 1.9 – 1.9

Slovak crown – – – 1.6 – 1.6

Total 396.3 193.1 203.2 464.2 87.9 376.3

As detailed in note 21, the group and company have entered into various interest rate swaps and currency swap arrangements to hedge the above interest rate

and currency exposures on their borrowings. After taking account of the aforementioned interest rate swaps, the group’s fixed rate borrowings are £526.5m

(2004 £362.5m) and the company’s fixed rate borrowings are £267.1m (2004 £217.8m). After taking account of cross currency swaps, the group and company

have no foreign exchange exposure to borrowings denominated in US dollars (2004 £nil).

(d) Loan notes

On 10 May 2001, the company issued loan notes as follows:

(i) £42m of 7.21% loan notes repayable on 10 May 2011;

(ii) US$64m of 7.40% loan notes repayable on 10 May 2008; and

(iii) US$24m of 7.60% loan notes repayable on 10 May 2011.

On 24 April 2003, the group issued more loan notes as follows:

(i) US$44m of 5.81% loan notes repayable on 24 April 2010; and

(ii) US$76m of 6.34% loan notes repayable on 24 April 2013.

On 12 August 2004, the group issued further loan notes as follows:

(i) US$30m of 6.02% loan notes repayable on 12 August 2011;

(ii) US$67m of 6.45% loan notes repayable on 12 August 2014; and

(iii) £2m of 7.01% loan notes repayable on 12 August 2014.

As set out in note 20(c), cross currency swaps have been put in place to swap the proceeds and liabilities for principal and interest under the US$ denominated

loan notes into sterling.
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20 Bank and other borrowings continued
(e) Subordinated loan notes

On 15 June 2005, the company issued £100.0m of subordinated loan notes. The debt accrues interest at 7.125% and is repayable on 15 June 2015. The company

has an option to redeem the debt at par on 15 June 2010.

(f) Loan notes issued to vendors at acquisition of Yes Car Credit

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of Yes Car Credit, the group issued loan notes of £6.7m to certain vendors which carry interest rates linked 

to LIBOR. £1.4m of these loan notes remain outstanding as at 31 December 2005 (2004 £1.4m).

(g) Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

The undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 December were as follows:

2005 2004

Group £m £m

Expiring within one year 13.0 28.9

Expiring within one to two years 91.3 24.1

Expiring in more than two years 496.4 514.4

Total 600.7 567.4

2005 2004

Company £m £m

Expiring within one year 4.6 16.3

Expiring within one to two years 18.0 20.0

Expiring in more than two years 416.1 431.2

Total 438.7 467.5

(h) Weighted average interest rates and periods to maturity

The weighted average interest rate and the weighted average period to maturity of the group and company’s fixed rate borrowings at 31 December were:

2005 2004

Weighted Weighted

Weighted average Weighted average

average period to average period to 

interest rate maturity interest rate maturity

Group % years % years

Sterling 7.15 8.26 7.20 6.51

US dollar 6.58 5.81 6.58 6.81

2005 2004

Weighted Weighted

Weighted average Weighted average

average period to average period to 

interest rate maturity interest rate maturity

Company % years % years

Sterling 7.15 8.25 7.21 6.36

US dollar 7.45 3.18 7.45 4.18

After taking account of interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps, the sterling weighted average fixed interest rate for the group is 6.20% (2004 6.05%) and

for the company is 6.77% (2004 5.85%). The weighted average period to maturity on the same basis is 4.7 years (2004 4.7 years) for the group and 5.6 years

(2004 3.9 years) for the company. There is no foreign exchange or interest rate risk denominated in US dollars after taking account of cross currency swaps

(2004 £nil).
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20 Bank and other borrowings continued
(i) Fair values

The fair values of the group and company’s bank and other borrowings are compared to their book values as follows:

2005 2004

Book Fair Book Fair

value value value value

Group £m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 663.8 663.8 655.4 655.4

Loan notes 44.0 49.7 44.0 49.7

US$ loan notes 175.1 183.7 158.3 171.2

Subordinated loan notes 100.0 101.5 – –

2005 2004

Book Fair Book Fair

value value value value

Company £m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts 203.2 203.2 376.3 376.3

Loan notes 42.0 47.3 42.0 47.3

US$ loan notes 51.1 55.0 45.9 52.0

Subordinated loan notes 100.0 101.5 – –

The fair value of loan notes and US$ loan notes has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the interest rate yield curves prevailing at

31 December. The fair value of the subordinated loan notes equates to the publicly quoted market price of the loan notes at 31 December.

Notes to the financial statements continued

Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005  95

58.22_PF_BACK_P5a_LM  23/3/06  8:50 pm  Page 95



96 Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005

Notes to the financial statements continued

21 Derivative financial instruments
An explanation for the group’s objectives, policies and strategies in the use of derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments is included 

in the financial review on pages 43 to 45. Numerical derivative financial instrument disclosures are set out below.

The derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities are set out below at fair value:

2005 2004

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Group £m £m £m £m

Interest rate swaps 5.4 5.2 6.7 5.7

Currency swaps 3.5 23.5 – 33.4

Foreign currency contracts 0.1 1.4 – 1.5

Total 9.0 30.1 6.7 40.6

2005 2004

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Company £m £m £m £m

Interest rate swaps 0.9 1.1 1.8 1.3

Currency swaps – 11.9 – 15.9

Total 0.9 13.0 1.8 17.2

The fair value of derivative financial instruments has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using interest rate yield curves and forward

foreign exchange rates prevailing at 31 December.

Interest rate swaps

The total notional principal of outstanding interest rate swaps that the group is committed to is £1,313.7m (2004 £1,419.6m) and for the company is £330.7m

(2004 £415.0m).

The weighted average interest rate and period to maturity of the group and company interest rate swaps were as follows:

2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average Range of average average Range of average

interest interest period to interest interest period to 

rate rates maturity rate rates maturity

Group % % years % % years

Sterling 4.6 3.8-5.8 1.7 5.1 3.8-6.9 1.8

Euro 3.0 2.3-3.9 1.3 3.0 2.3-3.9 1.4

Polish zloty 5.9 4.5-7.9 1.4 6.8 4.7-8.9 1.5

Czech crown 3.3 2.3-4.2 1.4 3.5 2.6-5.6 1.3

Hungarian forint 8.0 6.3-10.9 1.3 8.0 6.4-11.9 1.4

Slovak crown 4.1 2.7-5.0 1.4 4.6 3.9-5.0 1.6

Mexican peso 9.6 9.4-9.7 2.2 – – –

2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average Range of average average Range of average

interest interest period to interest interest period to 

rate rates maturity rate rates maturity

Company % % years % % years

Sterling 4.8 3.9-5.4 1.3 4.9 3.9-6.3 1.4

Euro 3.0 2.3-3.9 1.3 3.0 2.3-3.9 1.4

Polish zloty 4.5 4.5-4.5 4.0 – – –
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21 Derivative financial instruments continued
Interest rate swaps continued

For both the group and company, the majority of these interest rate swaps are designated and are effective under IAS 39 as cash flow hedges, and the fair value

thereof has been deferred in equity within the hedging reserve. A credit of £0.6m for the group (2004 charge of £0.3m) and a credit of £0.2m for the company

(2004 credit of £0.1m) has been made to the income statement in the year representing the movement in the fair value of the ineffective portion of the interest

rate swaps.

Currency swaps

The company has put in place cross currency swaps to swap the principal and fixed rate interest under the US$ loan notes issued in 2001 into fixed rate interest

sterling liabilities with a weighted average interest rate of 7.66% (a range of 7.6% to 7.7%) and maturity dates matching the underlying loan notes (note 20(d)).

The group has put in place cross currency swaps to swap the principal and fixed rate interest under the US$ loan notes issued in 2003 into fixed rate interest

sterling liabilities with a weighted average interest rate of 6.7% (a range of 6.6% to 6.8%) and maturity dates matching the underlying loan notes (note 20(d)).

The cross currency swaps in respect of the 2001 and 2003 US$ loan notes are designated and are effective under IAS 39 as cash flow hedges, and the fair value

thereof has been deferred in equity within the hedging reserve.

The group has put in place cross currency swaps to swap the principal and fixed rate interest under the US$ loan notes issued in 2004 into floating rate interest

sterling liabilities at a range between LIBOR + 1.58% and LIBOR + 1.63% with maturity dates matching the underlying loan notes (note 20(d)). These swaps are

designated and are effective under IAS 39 as fair value hedges. The movement in the fair value of the swaps has therefore been taken to the group income

statement together with the movement in the fair value of the underlying hedged loan notes. The net difference between the movements in the fair value of 

the swap and the loan notes resulted in a credit to the group income statement of £0.2m (2004 charge of £0.3m).

Foreign exchange contracts

The total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts that the group is committed to is £65.1m (2004 £51.0m) and for the company is £1.1m

(2004 £nil). These comprise:

• forward foreign exchange contracts to buy or sell sterling for a total notional amount of £7.5m for the group (2004 £6.6m) and £1.1m for the company 

(2004 £nil). These contracts have various maturity dates up to September 2006 (2004 December 2005). In 2005, for both the group and company, the

contracts have been designated and are effective as cash flow hedges under IAS 39 and accordingly the fair value thereof has been deferred in equity within

the hedging reserve. In 2004, an amount of £0.5m was charged to the group income statement in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts that did not

qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39. All other contracts in 2004 for both the group and company were designated and effective as cash flow hedges

under IAS 39 and the fair value was deferred in equity.

• foreign exchange put/sterling call options with a total notional amount of £57.6m for the group (2004 £44.9m). These options have various maturity dates up to

December 2006 (2004 December 2005). The options are taken out to economically hedge the translation risk on the profit/loss of overseas countries but do not

qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39. The credit to the group income statement in 2005 in respect of these options was £0.1m (2004 charge of £0.5m).
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22 Provisions
Onerous

property Restructuring

obligations provision Total

Group £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 – – –

Created in the year (note 5) 14.9 10.1 25.0

Utilised in the year – (0.3) (0.3)

At 31 December 2005 14.9 9.8 24.7

Included in current liabilities 16.2

Included in non-current liabilities 8.5

24.7

The onerous property obligations relate to the estimated costs of exiting the Yes Car Credit property portfolio. The provision has been calculated by taking 

into account the full lease term, any sublet income that may be recoverable and the potential for lease assignment. The provision is expected to be utilised 

over the next three years.

The restructuring provision relates to redundancy and other people related costs following the announcement of the closure of Yes Car Credit on 

14 December 2005. The provision covers the redundancy cost of approximately 820 employees and is expected to be fully utilised during 2006.

23 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the balance sheet liability method using a tax rate of 30% (2004 30%) or the

appropriate overseas tax rate. The movement in the deferred income tax asset during the year can be analysed as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Asset £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 67.0 51.4 6.8 4.6

Income statement (charge)/credit (10.3) 2.7 (0.4) (0.3)

Tax on items taken directly to equity 7.5 11.9 1.2 2.5

Exchange differences 0.3 1.0 – –

At 31 December 64.5 67.0 7.6 6.8

An analysis of the deferred income tax asset is set out below:

Group Company

Accelerated Other Retirement Accelerated Other Retirement

capital temporary benefit capital temporary benefit

allowances differences obligations Total allowances differences obligations Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 (1.4) 28.5 39.9 67.0 (0.1) 0.3 6.6 6.8

Income statement (charge)/credit (0.2) (5.5) (4.6) (10.3) – 0.3 (0.7) (0.4)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – 1.5 6.0 7.5 – 0.6 0.6 1.2

Exchange differences 0.1 0.2 – 0.3 – – – –

At 31 December 2005 (1.5) 24.7 41.3 64.5 (0.1) 1.2 6.5 7.6

Deferred income tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary timing differences giving rise to deferred income tax assets

because it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

Deferred income tax has not been provided on temporary differences arising on investments in certain overseas subsidiaries because the company is able to

control the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The company’s policy is to retain

profits in such overseas subsidiaries for the foreseeable future. The aggregate temporary differences in respect of which no deferred income tax has been

provided amounts to £163.5m (2004 £103.1m). The unprovided deferred income tax amounts to £20.6m (2004 £14.4m).
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24 Retirement benefit obligations
(a) Pension schemes – defined benefit

The group and company operate a number of UK based pension schemes. The two major defined benefit schemes are the Provident Financial Senior Pension

Scheme (‘the senior pension scheme’) and the Provident Financial Staff Pension Scheme (‘the staff pension scheme’). The schemes cover 79% of employees with

company provided pension arrangements and are of the funded, defined benefit type providing retirement benefits based on final salary. The two defined benefit

schemes were closed to new members from 1 January 2003. Additionally, following a full group review of pension scheme arrangements during 2005, from 1 April

2006 the schemes will provide members with a choice of retirement benefits based on final salary and retirement benefits based on revalued career earnings.

The most recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 1 June 2004 by a qualified

independent actuary. The valuation used for the purposes of IAS 19 has been based on these valuations which have been updated by the actuary to take

account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme at 31 December 2005. Scheme assets are stated at fair value at 

31 December 2005. The major assumptions used by the actuary were:

Group and company

2005 2004

% %

Price inflation 2.80 2.75

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 4.38 4.34

Rate of increase to pensions in payment 2.80 2.75

Discount rate 4.80 5.40

Long-term rate of return – equities 7.85 7.85

– bonds 4.10 4.60

– other 4.50 4.80

– overall (weighted average) 6.74 7.17

The mortality assumptions used in the valuation of the defined benefit pension schemes are based on the mortality experience of insured pension schemes and

allow for future improvements in life expectancy. For members of the staff scheme it is assumed that members who retire in the future at age 65 will live on average

for a further 20 years if they are male and for a further 23 years if they are female. For members of the senior scheme it is assumed that members who retire in the

future at age 65 will live on average for a further 22 years if they are male and for a further 24 years if they are female. The current mortality assumptions will be

re-assessed in 2006 as part of a full actuarial valuation of both schemes. If assumed life expectancies had been one year greater for both schemes, the charge 

to the group income statement would have increased by approximately £1.2m and the deficit would have increased by approximately £20.0m.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Equities 226.9 182.1 28.3 22.7

Bonds 43.1 39.5 6.8 6.3

Other 61.1 9.8 6.8 0.5

Total fair value of scheme assets 331.1 231.4 41.9 29.5

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations (436.7) (361.2) (56.6) (48.5)

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet (105.6) (129.8) (14.7) (19.0)

The assets and liabilities of the group pension schemes have been allocated between the company and its subsidiary companies on a pro-rata basis based

upon the agreed actual employer cash contributions made by each subsidiary company.
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24 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Current service cost (7.2) (7.4) (0.7) (0.7)

Interest cost (19.6) (16.6) (2.6) (2.6)

Expected return on scheme assets 16.7 14.8 2.0 1.8

Net expense recognised in the income statement (10.1) (9.2) (1.3) (1.5)

The net expense recognised in the income statement has been included within administrative expenses.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January (361.2) (299.7) (48.5) (39.0)

Current service cost (7.2) (7.4) (0.7) (0.7)

Interest cost (19.6) (16.6) (2.6) (2.6)

Contributions paid by scheme participants (3.8) (4.0) (0.2) (0.2)

Actuarial losses on scheme liabilities (50.4) (41.4) (5.9) (8.2)

Net benefits paid out 5.5 7.9 1.3 2.2

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December (436.7) (361.2) (56.6) (48.5)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 231.4 193.6 29.5 25.4

Expected return on scheme assets 16.7 14.8 2.0 1.8

Actuarial gains on scheme assets 30.3 7.1 4.1 1.1

Contributions by the group/company 54.4 19.8 7.4 3.2

Contributions paid by scheme participants 3.8 4.0 0.2 0.2

Net benefits paid out (5.5) (7.9) (1.3) (2.2)

Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 331.1 231.4 41.9 29.5

During 2005, the group made additional special contributions of £13.0m (company £2.2m) in May 2005 and £31.0m (company £4.4m) in December 2005. 

The group made a further additional special contribution of £102.2m (company £14.6m) in January 2006 in order to ensure that the defined benefit pension

schemes were fully funded based on the June 2005 deficit position. Regular employer contributions are expected to be £5.9m in 2006 (company £0.6m).
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24 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The actual return on scheme assets compared to the expected return is as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Expected return on scheme assets 16.7 14.8 2.0 1.8

Actuarial gains on scheme assets 30.3 7.1 4.1 1.1

Actual return on scheme assets 47.0 21.9 6.1 2.9

Actuarial gains and losses have been recognised through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense (SORIE) in the period in which they occur. 

An analysis of the amounts recognised in the SORIE is as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Total loss recognised in SORIE in the current year (20.1) (34.3) (1.8) (7.1)

Cumulative amount of losses recognised in the SORIE (54.4) (34.3) (8.9) (7.1)

The history of experience adjustments is as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Experience gains on scheme assets

– Amount (£m) 30.3 7.1 4.1 1.1

– Percentage of scheme assets (%) 9.2 3.1 9.8 3.7

Experience losses on scheme liabilities

– Amount (£m) – (14.0) – (2.2)

– Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) – (3.9) – (4.5)

(b) Pension schemes – defined contribution

For new employees joining the group after 1 January 2003, a stakeholder pension plan was introduced into which group companies contribute 8% of pensionable

earnings of the member provided that the member contributes a minimum of 6% of pensionable earnings. The assets of the scheme are held separately from

those of the group and company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge in the group income statement represents contributions

payable by the group to the fund and amounted to £1.0m for the year ended 31 December 2005 (2004 £0.5m). £0.1m of contributions were payable to the fund

at the year end (2004 £nil).

Notes to the financial statements continued

Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005  101

58.22_PF_BACK_P5a_LM  28/3/06  7:59 pm  Page 101



25 Called-up share capital
Group and company

2005 2004

Issued and Issued and

Authorised fully paid Authorised fully paid

£m £m £m £m

Ordinary shares of 104⁄11p each 40.0 26.5 40.0 26.4

Number

The movement in the number of shares in issue during the year is as follows: m

At 1 January 2005 255.1

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of options 0.4

At 31 December 2005 255.5

During the year the group issued 381,854 ordinary shares. The nominal value of shares issued during the year was £39,574. The aggregate consideration

received (prior to issue costs) in respect of all the shares issued during the year was £2.3m.

Provident Financial plc sponsors the Provident Financial Qualifying Share Ownership Trust (the QUEST) which is a discretionary trust established for the benefit

of the employees of the group. The company has also established Provident Financial Trustees Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking, to act as trustee

of the QUEST. All costs relating to the QUEST are dealt with in the income statement as they accrue. The trustee has waived the right to receive dividends on the

shares it holds.

At 31 December 2005 the QUEST held 842,947 (2004 1,130,672) ordinary shares with a nominal value of £87,360 (2004 £117,179), a cost of £6.8m 

(2004 £8.2m) and a market value of £4.6m (2004 £7.6m). These shares were acquired by the QUEST to meet obligations under the company’s SAYE schemes.

Provident Financial plc also sponsors the Performance Share Plan Trust which was established to operate in conjunction with the Performance Share Plan (PSP).

At 31 December 2005 awards under the PSP were 137,312 (2004 37,749) ordinary shares with a nominal value of £14,230 (2004 £3,912), a cost of £1.0m (2004

£0.3m) and a market value of £0.8m (2004 £0.3m).

The net of the consideration paid to acquire shares by the QUEST and in respect of the PSP and the consideration received on exercise of share options is held 

in a separate treasury shares reserve.
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26 Share-based payments
The group operates three share schemes: senior executive share option schemes (SESO), employee-savings related share option schemes (typically referred 

to as Save As You Earn schemes (SAYE)) and the Performance Share Plan (PSP). For the purposes of assessing the income statement charge under IFRS2, the 

options/awards under the schemes were valued using the binominal option pricing model. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in 

the calculations are as follows:

2005 2004

Group SESO SAYE PSP SESO SAYE PSP

Grant date 23-Mar-05 21-Oct-05 17-Mar-05 29-Jul-04 26-Aug-04 27-Feb-04

Share price at grant date (£) 7.03 5.95 7.08 5.51 5.88 7.41

Exercise price (£) 7.03 5.07 – 5.51 4.53 –

Shares under option 1,593,842 535,464 61,814 1,700,347 848,975 54,364

Vesting period (years) 3 3, 5 and 7 5 3 3,5 and 7 3

Expected volatility 28.0% 28.0% n/a 35.0% 35.0% n/a

Option life (years) 10 Up to 7 5 10 Up to 7 3

Expected life (years) 5 Up to 7 5 5 Up to 7 3

Risk free rate 4.7% 4.3% n/a 5.1% 4.9% n/a

Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 6.0% 6.0% n/a 6.0% 6.0% n/a

Fair value per option (£) 1.59 1.45-1.50 7.08 1.25 1.61-1.64 7.41

2005 2004

Company SESO SAYE PSP SESO SAYE PSP

Grant date 23-Mar-05 21-Oct-05 17-Mar-05 29-Jul-04 26-Aug-04 27-Feb-04

Share price at grant date (£) 7.03 5.95 7.08 5.51 5.88 7.41

Exercise price (£) 7.03 5.07 – 5.51 4.53 –

Shares under option 533,842 15,114 24,646 677,847 29,400 54,364

Vesting period (years) 3 3, 5 and 7 5 3 3,5 and 7 3

Expected volatility 28.0% 28.0% n/a 35.0% 35.0% n/a

Option life (years) 10 Up to 7 5 10 Up to 7 3

Expected life (years) 5 Up to 7 5 5 Up to 7 3

Risk free rate 4.7% 4.3% n/a 5.1% 4.9% n/a

Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 6.0% 6.0% n/a 6.0% 6.0% n/a

Fair value per option (£) 1.59 1.45-1.50 7.08 1.25 1.61-1.64 7.41

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. The risk free rate 

of return is the yield on zero coupon UK government bonds.
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26 Share-based payments continued
A reconciliation of share option movements over the year is shown below:

SESO SAYE PSP

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Number exercise price Number exercise price Number exercise price

Group 2005 ’000 £ ’000 £ ’000 £

Outstanding at 1 January 5,703,721 6.24 2,587,718 4.92 75,498 –

Granted 1,593,842 7.03 535,464 5.07 61,814 –

Expired (231,424) 5.95 (305,880) 5.30 – –

Exercised (381,854) 5.49 (287,725) 4.79 – –

Outstanding at 31 December 6,684,285 6.46 2,529,577 4.92 137,312 –

Exercisable at 31 December 2,353,058 7.26 100,473 6.43 – –

SESO SAYE PSP

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Number exercise price Number exercise price Number exercise price

Group 2004 ’000 £ ’000 £ ’000 £

Outstanding at 1 January 4,994,708 6.38 2,718,638 5.21 21,134 –

Granted 1,700,347 5.51 848,975 4.53 54,364 –

Expired (235,627) 7.54 (558,278) 5.60 – –

Exercised (755,707) 5.46 (421,617) 5.03 – –

Outstanding at 31 December 5,703,721 6.24 2,587,718 4.92 75,498 –

Exercisable at 31 December 1,814,810 7.00 509,982 5.57 – –

SESO SAYE PSP

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Number exercise price Number exercise price Number exercise price

Company 2005 ’000 £ ’000 £ ’000 £

Outstanding at 1 January 2,598,553 6.22 111,242 4.79 75,498 –

Granted 533,842 7.03 15,114 5.07 24,646 –

Expired (41,000) 5.81 (14,397) 5.10 – –

Exercised (236,504) 5.51 (11,116) 4.68 – –

Outstanding at 31 December 2,854,891 6.46 100,843 4.80 100,144 –

Exercisable at 31 December 1,153,664 7.16 – – – –

SESO SAYE PSP

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Number exercise price Number exercise price Number exercise price

Company 2004 ’000 £ ’000 £ ’000 £

Outstanding at 1 January 2,314,362 6.42 115,477 4.97 21,134 –

Granted 677,847 5.51 29,400 4.53 54,364 –

Expired (71,389) 9.37 (20,561) 5.42 – –

Exercised (322,267) 5.43 (13,074) 5.00 – –

Outstanding at 31 December 2,598,553 6.22 111,242 4.79 75,498 –

Exercisable at 31 December 955,249 6.55 – – – –
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27 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
Share Other

Called-up premium reserves Retained

share capital account (note 28) earnings Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 as previously reported 26.3 101.5 7.1 314.1 449.0

Changes upon transition to IFRS – – (8.4) (69.4) (77.8)

Restated balance under IFRS 26.3 101.5 (1.3) 244.7 371.2

Exchange differences on foreign currency translations – – 3.9 – 3.9

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – (4.9) – (4.9)

Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations – – – (34.3) (34.3)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – 1.4 10.5 11.9

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity – – 0.4 (23.8) (23.4)

Profit for the period – – – 144.4 144.4

Total recognised income for the period – – 0.4 120.6 121.0

Increase in share capital 0.1 – – – 0.1

Increase in share premium – 4.0 – – 4.0

Movement in treasury shares – – 1.9 – 1.9

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – 1.4 – 1.4

Dividends – – – (84.9) (84.9)

At 31 December 2004 26.4 105.5 2.4 280.4 414.7

At 1 January 2005 26.4 105.5 2.4 280.4 414.7

Exchange differences on foreign currency translations – – 2.7 – 2.7

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – (5.0) – (5.0)

Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations – – – (20.1) (20.1)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – 1.5 6.0 7.5

Net expense recognised directly in equity – – (0.8) (14.1) (14.9)

Profit for the period – – – – –

Total recognised expense for the period – – (0.8) (14.1) (14.9)

Increase in share capital 0.1 – – – 0.1

Increase in share premium – 2.2 – – 2.2

Movement in treasury shares – – 0.7 – 0.7

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – 3.2 – 3.2

Dividends – – – (88.6) (88.6)

At 31 December 2005 26.5 107.7 5.5 177.7 317.4
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27 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity continued
Other

Called-up Share premium reserves Retained

share capital account (note 28) earnings Total

Company £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 as previously reported 26.3 101.5 817.8 117.1 1,062.7

Changes upon transition to IFRS – – (11.6) (43.8) (55.4)

Restated balance under IFRS 26.3 101.5 806.2 73.3 1,007.3

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – (1.5) – (1.5)

Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations – – – (7.1) (7.1)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – 0.4 2.1 2.5

Net expense recognised directly in equity – – (1.1) (5.0) (6.1)

Profit for the period – – – 179.5 179.5

Total recognised (expense)/income for the period – – (1.1) 174.5 173.4

Increase in share capital 0.1 – – – 0.1

Increase in share premium – 4.0 – – 4.0

Movement in treasury shares – – 1.9 – 1.9

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – 0.5 – 0.5

Dividends – – – (84.9) (84.9)

At 31 December 2004 26.4 105.5 807.5 162.9 1,102.3

At 1 January 2005 26.4 105.5 807.5 162.9 1,102.3

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – (2.2) – (2.2)

Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations – – – (1.8) (1.8)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – 0.6 0.6 1.2

Net expense recognised directly in equity – – (1.6) (1.2) (2.8)

Loss for the period – – – (45.2) (45.2)

Total recognised expense for the period – – (1.6) (46.4) (48.0)

Increase in share capital 0.1 – – – 0.1

Increase in share premium – 2.2 – – 2.2

Movement in treasury shares – – 0.7 – 0.7

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – 1.1 – 1.1

Reserve transfer (note 28) – – (200.0) 200.0 –

Dividends – – – (88.6) (88.6)

At 31 December 2005 26.5 107.7 607.7 227.9 969.8

In accordance with the exemption allowed by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the company has not presented its own income statement. The loss for

the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the company was £45.2m (2004 profit of £179.5m).
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28 Other reserves
Profit Capital Treasury Foreign Share-based Total

Revaluation retained by redemption Hedging shares exchange payment other

reserve subsidiary reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 as previously reported 2.7 0.8 3.6 – – – – 7.1

Changes upon transition to IFRS (2.7) – – 4.1 (10.4) – 0.6 (8.4)

Restated balance under IFRS – 0.8 3.6 4.1 (10.4) – 0.6 (1.3)

Exchange differences on foreign currency translations – – – – – 3.9 – 3.9

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – – (4.9) – – – (4.9)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – – 1.4 – – – 1.4

Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity – – – (3.5) – 3.9 – 0.4

Movement in treasury shares – – – – 1.9 – – 1.9

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – – – – – 1.4 1.4

At 31 December 2004 – 0.8 3.6 0.6 (8.5) 3.9 2.0 2.4

At 1 January 2005 – 0.8 3.6 0.6 (8.5) 3.9 2.0 2.4

Exchange differences on foreign currency translations – – – – – 2.7 – 2.7

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – – (5.0) – – – (5.0)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – – 1.5 – – – 1.5

Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity – – – (3.5) – 2.7 – (0.8)

Movement in treasury shares – – – – 0.7 – – 0.7

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – – – – – 3.2 3.2

At 31 December 2005 – 0.8 3.6 (2.9) (7.8) 6.6 5.2 5.5

The net fair value losses on cash flow hedges of £5.0m (2004 £4.9m) comprise £6.3m (2004 £4.5m) of fair value losses in the year and a £1.3m charge to the

income statement (2004 £0.4m credit).

Capital Non- Treasury Share-based Total

Revaluation redemption distributable Merger Hedging shares payment other

reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves

Company £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 as previously reported 2.7 3.6 809.2 2.3 – – – 817.8

Changes upon transition to IFRS (2.7) – – – 1.2 (10.4) 0.3 (11.6)

Restated balance under IFRS – 3.6 809.2 2.3 1.2 (10.4) 0.3 806.2

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – – – (1.5) – – (1.5)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – – – 0.4 – – 0.4

Net expense recognised directly in equity – – – – (1.1) – – (1.1)

Movement in treasury shares – – – – – 1.9 – 1.9

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – – – – – 0.5 0.5

At 31 December 2004 – 3.6 809.2 2.3 0.1 (8.5) 0.8 807.5

At 1 January 2005 – 3.6 809.2 2.3 0.1 (8.5) 0.8 807.5

Net fair value losses – cash flow hedges – – – – (2.2) – – (2.2)

Tax on items taken directly to equity – – – – 0.6 – – 0.6

Net expense recognised directly in equity – – – – (1.6) – – (1.6)

Movement in treasury shares – – – – – 0.7 – 0.7

Share-based payment adjustment to reserves – – – – – – 1.1 1.1

Transfer from non-distributable reserve – – (200.0) – – – – (200.0)

At 31 December 2005 – 3.6 609.2 2.3 (1.5) (7.8) 1.9 607.7

The net fair value losses on cash flow hedges of £2.2m (2004 £1.5m) comprise £2.6m (2004 £3.0m) of fair value losses in the year and a £0.4m charge to the

income statement (2004 £1.5m charge).

The capital redemption reserve represents profits on the redemption of preference shares arising in prior years, together with the capitalisation of the nominal

value of shares purchased and cancelled, net of the utilisation of this reserve to capitalise the nominal value of shares issued to satisfy scrip dividend elections.

The non-distributable reserve was created as a result of an inter-group reorganisation to create a more efficient capital structure that more accurately reflects

the group’s management structure. During the year, £200.0m of the non-distributable reserve was realised following the receipt of qualifying consideration.

Accordingly, this amount has been transferred to retained earnings and is available for future dividend distributions.
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29 Commitments
Commitments to make operating lease payments during the next financial year are as follows:

2005 2004

Group £m £m

Leases expiring:

Not later than one year 2.6 3.0

Later than one year but not later than five years 7.7 6.2

Later than five years 7.7 7.4

18.0 16.6

Other commitments are as follows:
2005 2004

Group £m £m

Capital expenditure commitments contracted with third parties but not provided for at 31 December 0.7 6.5

2005 2004

Group £m £m

Unused committed credit card facilities at 31 December 36.2 19.9

30 Related party transactions
The company recharges the two major pension schemes referred to in note 24 with a proportion of the costs of administration and professional fees incurred 

by the company. The total amount recharged during the year was £0.9m (2004 £0.9m), and amounts due from the pension schemes at 31 December 2005

were £0.9m (2004 £0.6m).

The company has various transactions with its subsidiary undertakings. Details of these transactions along with any balances outstanding at 31 December are

set out below:

2005 2004

Interest Interest

Management charge/ Outstanding Management charge/ Outstanding

recharge (credit) balance recharge (credit) balance

£m £m £m £m £m £m

UK home credit 6.6 69.3 845.5 5.1 67.3 1,025.7

Yes Car Credit 1.8 14.5 143.6 0.6 0.5 260.3

Vanquis Bank 0.4 1.1 27.4 0.1 (0.1) 8.7

International 1.6 1.9 (74.4) 1.8 2.1 (45.1)

Motor insurance 0.4 0.1 4.1 0.3 (0.2) 3.7

Other central companies – 4.6 (55.0) – (0.2) (92.9)

Total 10.8 91.5 891.2 7.9 69.4 1,160.4

In 2005, all interest paid by Yes Car Credit was levied by Provident Financial plc. In 2004, the majority of interest paid by Yes Car Credit was paid to another

group company. The total interest paid by Yes Car Credit in 2004 was £12.0m (compared to £14.5m in 2005).

There are no transactions with directors other than those disclosed in the directors’ remuneration report.
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31 Contingent liabilities
A subsidiary undertaking is involved in a contract dispute with a supplier of ancillary services. The supplier is claiming damages for alleged failure on the part 

of the subsidiary to comply with the terms of certain contracts. The directors are of the opinion that this matter can be settled, without a material adverse effect

on the financial condition of the group. Additional information required to be disclosed by IAS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, 

is not disclosed on the grounds that it can be expected to prejudice the outcome of the matter.

The company has a contingent liability for guarantees given in respect of the borrowing facilities of certain subsidiaries to a maximum of £748.6m 

(2004 £494.1m). At 31 December 2005 the borrowings under these facilities amounted to £586.6m (2004 £393.5m). No loss is expected to arise.

32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group
A reconciliation of the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2004 is set out below:

Reclass- Revenue and Retirement Share-based

ifications impairment Goodwill benefits payments Derivatives

UK GAAP (note 32(a)) (note 32(b)) (note 32(c)) (note 32(d)) (note 32(e)) (note 32(f)) IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 1,166.7 12.1 93.6 – – – – 1,272.4

Finance income – 27.4 – – – – – 27.4

Total income 1,166.7 39.5 93.6 – – – – 1,299.8

Finance costs – (55.5) – – – – (1.6) (57.1)

Operating costs (571.8) (88.5) (107.4) – – – – (767.7)

Administrative expenses (378.8) 104.5 – 4.6 1.5 (1.3) – (269.5)

Total costs (950.6) (39.5) (107.4) 4.6 1.5 (1.3) (1.6) (1,094.3)

Profit before taxation 216.1 – (13.8) 4.6 1.5 (1.3) (1.6) 205.5

Tax expense (64.7) – 3.3 – (0.5) 0.4 0.4 (61.1)

Profit after taxation 151.4 – (10.5) 4.6 1.0 (0.9) (1.2) 144.4

Notes to the financial statements continued

Provident Financial Annual Report & Financial Statements 2005  109

58.22_PF_BACK_P5a_LM  23/3/06  8:50 pm  Page 109



32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group continued
Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet as at 1 January 2004:

Reclass- Revenue and Retirement Share-based

ifications impairment Goodwill benefits payments Derivatives Dividends

UK GAAP (note 32(a)) (note 32(b)) (note 32(c)) (note 32(d)) (note 32(e)) (note 32(f)) (note 32(g)) IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 87.8 – – – – – – – 87.8

Intangible assets – 12.7 – – – – – – 12.7

Property, plant and equipment 48.1 (12.7) – – – – – – 35.4

Deferred income tax assets – (2.6) 15.1 – 39.7 0.2 (1.0) – 51.4

135.9 (2.6) 15.1 – 39.7 0.2 (1.0) – 187.3

Current assets

Inventories 14.6 – – – – – – – 14.6

Financial assets:

– Amounts receivable from customers:

– due within one year 905.3 – (46.5) – – – – – 858.8

– due in more than one year 204.1 – (9.7) – – – – – 194.4

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – – 11.4 – 11.4

Trade and other receivables 44.5 – 2.5 – (26.6) – – – 20.4

Insurance assets 107.6 – – – – – – – 107.6

Current income tax assets 1.0 – – – – – – – 1.0

Cash and cash equivalents 553.3 – – – – – – – 553.3

1,830.4 – (53.7) – (26.6) – 11.4 – 1,761.5

Total assets 1,966.3 (2.6) (38.6) – 13.1 0.2 10.4 – 1,948.8

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (19.6) – – – – – – – (19.6)

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – – (27.9) – (27.9)

Trade and other payables (173.5) (11.6) (0.4) – – – – 50.3 (135.2)

Insuranceaccrualsanddeferredincome (462.9) – – – – – – – (462.9)

Current income tax liabilities (47.3) – – – – – (0.5) – (47.8)

(703.3) (11.6) (0.4) – – – (28.4) 50.3 (693.4)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (799.8) – – – – – 21.7 – (778.1)

Trade and other payables (11.6) 11.6 – – – – – – –

Retirement benefit obligations – – – – (106.1) – – – (106.1)

Deferred income tax liabilities (2.6) 2.6 – – – – – – –

(814.0) 14.2 – – (106.1) – 21.7 – (884.2)

Total liabilities (1,517.3) 2.6 (0.4) – (106.1) – (6.7) 50.3 (1,577.6)

NET ASSETS 449.0 – (39.0) – (93.0) 0.2 3.7 50.3 371.2

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called-up share capital 26.3 – – – – – – – 26.3

Share premium account 101.5 – – – – – – – 101.5

Other reserves 7.1 (13.1) – – – 0.6 4.1 – (1.3)

Retained earnings 314.1 13.1 (39.0) – (93.0) (0.4) (0.4) 50.3 244.7

TOTAL EQUITY 449.0 – (39.0) – (93.0) 0.2 3.7 50.3 371.2 
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32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group continued
Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2004:

Reclass- Revenue and Retirement Share-based

ifications impairment Goodwill benefits payments Derivatives Dividends

UK GAAP (note 32(a)) (note 32(b)) (note 32(c)) (note 32(d)) (note 32(e)) (note 32(f)) (note 32(g)) IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 83.2 – – 4.6 – – – – 87.8

Intangible assets – 19.0 – – – – – – 19.0

Property, plant and equipment 60.8 (19.0) – – – – – – 41.8

Deferred income tax assets – (2.8) 18.8 – 49.7 0.6 0.7 – 67.0

144.0 (2.8) 18.8 4.6 49.7 0.6 0.7 – 215.6

Current assets

Inventories 16.6 – – – – – – – 16.6

Financial assets:

– Amounts receivable from customers:

– due within one year 1,048.3 – (58.2) – – – – – 990.1

– due in more than one year 224.0 – (13.9) – – – – – 210.1

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – – 6.7 – 6.7

Trade and other receivables 63.1 – 1.9 – (35.7) – – – 29.3

Insurance assets 90.2 – – – – – – – 90.2

Current income tax assets 4.0 – – – – – – – 4.0

Cash and cash equivalents 500.1 – – – – – – – 500.1

1,946.3 – (70.2) – (35.7) – 6.7 – 1,847.1

Total assets 2,090.3 (2.8) (51.4) 4.6 14.0 0.6 7.4 – 2,062.7

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (35.3) – – – – – – – (35.3)

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – – (40.6) – (40.6)

Trade and other payables (177.3) (9.8) (0.6) – – 0.1 – 52.7 (134.9)

Insuranceaccrualsanddeferredincome (424.9) – – – – – – – (424.9)

Current income tax liabilities (59.6) – – – – – (0.5) – (60.1)

(697.1) (9.8) (0.6) – – 0.1 (41.1) 52.7 (695.8)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (855.1) – – – – – 32.7 – (822.4)

Trade and other payables (9.8) 9.8 – – – – – – –

Retirement benefit obligations – – – – (129.8) – – – (129.8)

Deferred income tax liabilities (2.8) 2.8 – – – – – – –

(867.7) 12.6 – – (129.8) – 32.7 – (952.2)

Total liabilities (1,564.8) 2.8 (0.6) – (129.8) 0.1 (8.4) 52.7 (1,648.0)

NET ASSETS 525.5 – (52.0) 4.6 (115.8) 0.7 (1.0) 52.7 414.7

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called-up share capital 26.4 – – – – – – – 26.4

Share premium account 105.5 – – – – – – – 105.5

Other reserves 7.1 (4.8) (2.5) – – 2.0 0.6 – 2.4

Retained earnings 386.5 4.8 (49.5) 4.6 (115.8) (1.3) (1.6) 52.7 280.4

TOTAL EQUITY 525.5 – (52.0) 4.6 (115.8) 0.7 (1.0) 52.7 414.7
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32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group continued
The principal differences for the group between reporting on the basis of UK GAAP and IFRS in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

32(a) Reclassifications

The following reclassifications have been made within the consolidated income statement and the consolidated balance sheet on transition from UK GAAP 

to IFRS:

• Commissions paid to reinsurers were deducted from the revenue of the insurance division under UK GAAP. In accordance with IFRS 4, these costs are now

included within operating costs.

• Under UK GAAP, interest payable by the group and investment income receivable by the insurance division was included in cost of sales and not separately

disclosed on the face of the income statement. In accordance with IAS 1, these amounts are now separately disclosed as finance costs (interest payable) 

and finance income (investment income receivable).

• The group has reclassified certain costs between operating costs (formerly cost of sales under UK GAAP) and administrative expenses to better reflect 

the current structure of the group. In the home credit businesses and Vanquis Bank, operating costs comprise impairment charges, agents’ commission 

and advertising and marketing costs. Operating costs for Yes Car Credit include the aforementioned costs plus the vehicle cost and costs of running the

branch network. For the insurance division, operating costs comprise claims costs, reinsurance costs and direct levies. All other costs are classed as

administrative expenses.

• The UK GAAP deferred tax provision has been reclassified to deferred income tax assets as the group is now in a deferred income tax asset position following

the transition to IFRS.

• Computer software costs were disclosed as part of property, plant and equipment under UK GAAP. Such costs meet the definition of intangible assets under

IFRS and are therefore disclosed as intangible assets.

• Given that the group has elected to retain UK GAAP carrying values of property, plant and equipment (including any historic revaluations) as deemed cost 

on the date of transition to IFRS, there is no difference between cost and valuation on an IFRS basis. Accordingly, the UK GAAP revaluation reserve has been

transferred from other reserves to retained earnings.

• Treasury shares and foreign exchange movements taken to reserves formed part of retained earnings under UK GAAP. Under IFRS, these amounts have been

recategorised as part of other reserves. As permitted by the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, only foreign exchange differences taken to retained earnings

after 1 January 2004 have been recategorised.

• Certain trade and other payables, previously held as due in greater than one year under UK GAAP, have been reclassified to current liabilities to reflect the fact

that they are due within the group’s normal operating cycle.

32(b) Revenue and impairment

Revenue and impairment in home credit

The service charge on a home credit loan is fixed. The charge does not increase if customers take longer than the contracted period to repay the loan and 

there are no penalty or default interest charges. Therefore, revenue is capped at the amount of the service charge. Under UK GAAP, revenue in home credit 

was recognised by a combination of (i) an initial release to cover issue costs, (ii) an amount recognised in proportion to cash collections and (iii) a small amount

released on a sum of digits method reflecting the funding cost of the amount advanced.

Under IFRS, the group is required to treat the service charge as if it were interest. Revenue on loan receivables is recognised using an effective interest rate

(EIR). This is calculated using contracted cash flows adjusted for the impact of customers repaying early but excluding the anticipated impact of customers

paying late or not paying at all. Directly attributable issue costs are also taken into account. Under IFRS the group recognises revenue more slowly as many 

of the costs covered by the initial release under UK GAAP do not qualify as directly attributable costs under IFRS.

Under UK GAAP, bad debt provisions in home credit were based on a formulaic approach which was based on historical performance. Under IFRS, impairment 

of the balance sheet value of customer receivables is calculated by estimating the future cash flows from a loan portfolio, discounting these to a present value

using the EIR and comparing this figure with the balance sheet value. An impairment provision is made for the shortfall between the present value and the

balance sheet value and an impairment charge or credit to the income statement results.

Under UK GAAP, during the life of the loan, revenue was not accrued if collections were not made and a bad debt charge had arisen. Under IFRS, revenue

continues to be accrued even if payments are missed and an impairment charge is made. This approach can, and does, result in the recognition of revenue 

in excess of the amount to which the group is contractually entitled because revenue continues to be recognised on loans that are not fully repaid within the

contracted term.

The recognition of revenue above that which the group is contractually entitled to causes an immediate impairment charge since no cash collection is expected.

This results in a ‘grossing up’ of the impairment charge which goes to offset the ‘grossing up’ of the revenue.
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32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group continued
32(b) Revenue and impairment continued

Revenue and impairment in Vanquis Bank

Under UK GAAP, annual fees were taken to the profit and loss account immediately. Under IFRS, annual fees are recognised over the expected life of the

outstanding balance using the EIR. There is no material change to the recognition of other types of revenue within Vanquis Bank on transition to IFRS.

There is no material change in the bad debt provisioning policy of Vanquis Bank on transition to IFRS.

Revenue and impairment in Yes Car Credit

Under UK GAAP, the proceeds from a vehicle sale were recognised immediately, together with a proportion of the insurance commission income. The remainder

of the insurance commission was recognised over the life of the finance contract. Finance income was recognised over the life of the contract to give a

constant return on the carrying amount.

Under IFRS, the car sale continues to be recognised immediately and finance income is recognised using the EIR. Insurance commissions are taken into account

in calculating the EIR and are therefore recognised over the life of the contract albeit not on a straight line basis.

Under UK GAAP, bad debt provisions in Yes Car Credit reflected the directors’ best estimate of the number of contracts likely to default and the average

expected loss for these contracts. Under IFRS, impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired (e.g. when a contractual

payment has been missed). Provisions are calculated using the expected cash flows of impaired loans and discounted at the EIR.

32(c) Goodwill

Under UK GAAP, goodwill was recorded at cost and amortised to the profit and loss account over its expected useful economic life.

Goodwill amortisation is prohibited under IFRS. Instead, annual impairment reviews of goodwill are conducted and any impairment is reflected in the 

income statement.

The adjustment included in the reconciliations reflects the reversal of the UK GAAP goodwill amortisation charge since the date of transition to IFRS.

32(d) Retirement benefits

Under UK GAAP, the group used SSAP 24 to account for pension obligations. Under SSAP 24, the annual charge to the profit and loss account reflected the

total cost of providing pensions (including actuarial gains and losses) spread over the working lives of employees. Differences between cash contributions made

to the scheme and the pension charge in the profit and loss account were held on the balance sheet.

Under IFRS, the accounting for defined benefit pension schemes is balance sheet focused with pension deficits/surpluses recognised on the balance sheet.

There are a number of alternative treatments of actuarial gains and losses under IAS 19 – the group has reflected such gains and losses in a statement of

recognised income and expense rather than amortising them through the income statement. This approach is similar to that of FRS 17 which is effective under

UK GAAP from 1 January 2005.

The income statement adjustments reflect the difference between the UK GAAP SSAP 24 charge and the IAS 19 charge. The balance sheet adjustment

represents the reversal of the UK GAAP pension prepayment and full recognition of the pension deficit under IFRS. The deferred tax asset on the pension deficit

has been reflected separately from the pension deficit as IFRS does not allow an offset to be made.

32(e) Share-based payments

Under UK GAAP, the intrinsic value (market value of the share at date of grant less exercise price of the option) was charged to the profit and loss account over

the employee performance period. Save As You Earn (SAYE) schemes were historically exempt from share-based payment accounting under UK GAAP.

IFRS 2 requires a fair value based method of accounting for share-based payments which takes into account the value of the option, not just the market price

of the share on date of grant. The cost of share-based payments is recognised over the relevant vesting period which is broadly comparable with UK GAAP.

There is no exemption under IFRS for SAYE schemes.

The adjustments in the reconciliations represent the recognition of the income statement charge for share-based payments under IFRS. As permitted by IFRS 2,

the adjustment has been calculated based on all share options and SAYE schemes granted since 7 November 2002 but which have not vested by 1 January

2005. The balance sheet impact reflects the creation of a corresponding reserve within equity shareholders’ funds to offset the income statement charge.
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32 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – group continued
32(f) Derivatives

Under UK GAAP, derivative financial instruments (e.g. interest rate swaps, foreign currency contracts) were recorded at cost and accounted for on an accruals

basis. Foreign currency loans which were the subject of currency hedging arrangements were retranslated at each period end using the contracted rate.

IAS 39 requires all derivatives to be recognised on the balance sheet at their fair value. Movements in fair value should be reflected in the income statement

unless prescriptive hedge accounting criteria are met.

The group manages interest rate and foreign exchange risk through the use of derivative financial instruments. Accordingly, these are reflected in the balance

sheet at their fair value under IFRS. The group has attained hedge accounting from 1 January 2004 for the majority of its derivatives and, therefore, for those

derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting, movements in fair value are either deferred in a hedging reserve within shareholders’ equity and released to the

income statement in line with the underlying hedged item (cash flow hedge) or taken to the income statement and offset by a corresponding movement in the

fair value of the underlying hedged item (fair value hedge). The income statement charge reflects the movement in fair value of those hedges that do not qualify

for hedge accounting and any small amounts of hedge ineffectiveness arising on those that do qualify.

In addition to the above, IAS 21 ‘Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchanges Rates’ requires all monetary assets and liabilities to be retranslated at the year end

exchange rate regardless of hedging arrangements in place. Accordingly, the group’s foreign currency borrowings, which under UK GAAP are retranslated at the

contracted rate of exchange, have been retranslated using the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The movement in the liability has been offset by

movements in the fair value of the cross currency swaps which are in place to hedge the loans. As a result, there is no significant impact on the income statement.

32(g) Dividends

Under UK GAAP, dividends declared after the balance sheet date were recorded in the financial statements as at the balance sheet date. Under IFRS, dividends

declared after the balance sheet date cannot be included as a liability at the balance sheet date. The adjustments in the reconciliations reflect the reversal of

the period end proposed dividends in the balance sheet.

32(h) Consolidated cash flow statement

The insurance division holds deposits with financial institutions to meet the cost of settling future claims. These deposits have maturities of three months or 

less from the date of acquisition.

UK GAAP requires the movement in cash to be reported in the cash flow statement. Cash is defined as ‘cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand less

overdrafts’. Under UK GAAP, the insurance division deposits did not meet the definition of cash and were therefore classified as a ‘management of liquid

resources’ in the cash flow statement.

The cash flows reported under IAS 7 ‘Cash Flow Statements’ relate to movements in cash and cash equivalents. Under IAS 7, cash equivalents are defined as

‘short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value’. Generally an

investment qualifies as a cash equivalent where it has a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Accordingly, under IAS 7, the insurance

division deposits form part of cash and cash equivalents.
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33 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – company
Reconciliation of the balance sheet of Provident Financial plc as at 1 January 2004:

Reclass- Dividends Retirement Share-based Dividends

ifications received benefits payments Derivatives paid

UK GAAP (note 33(a)) (note 33(b)) (note 33(c)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(e)) (note 33 (f)) IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.3 – – – – – – 4.3

Investment in subsidiaries 1,038.1 – – – – – – 1,038.1

Deferred income tax assets – (2.3) – 7.3 0.1 (0.5) – 4.6

1,042.4 (2.3) – 7.3 0.1 (0.5) – 1,047.0

Current assets

Financial assets:

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – 3.0 – 3.0

Trade and other receivables 793.5 – (90.0) (10.7) – – – 692.8

Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 – – – – – – 0.5

794.0 – (90.0) (10.7) – 3.0 – 696.3

Total assets 1,836.4 (2.3) (90.0) (3.4) 0.1 2.5 – 1,743.3

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (19.2) – – – – – – (19.2)

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – (13.5) – (13.5)

Trade and other payables (220.7) 76.8 – – – – 50.3 (93.6)

Current income tax liabilities (5.6) – – – – – – (5.6)

(245.5) 76.8 – – – (13.5) 50.3 (131.9)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (525.9) – – – – 12.2 – (513.7)

Trade and other payables – (76.8) – – – – – (76.8)

Retirement benefit obligations – – – (13.6) – – – (13.6)

Deferred income tax liabilities (2.3) 2.3 – – – – – –

(528.2) (74.5) – (13.6) – 12.2 – (604.1)

Total liabilities (773.7) 2.3 – (13.6) – (1.3) 50.3 (736.0)

NET ASSETS 1,062.7 – (90.0) (17.0) 0.1 1.2 50.3 1,007.3

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called-up share capital 26.3 – – – – – – 26.3

Share premium account 101.5 – – – – – – 101.5

Other reserves 817.8 (13.1) – – 0.3 1.2 – 806.2

Retained earnings 117.1 13.1 (90.0) (17.0) (0.2) – 50.3 73.3

TOTAL EQUITY 1,062.7 – (90.0) (17.0) 0.1 1.2 50.3 1,007.3
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33 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – company continued

Reconciliation of the balance sheet of Provident Financial plc as at 31 December 2004:

Reclass- Dividends Retirement Share-based Dividends

ifications received benefits payments Derivatives paid

UK GAAP (note 33(a)) (note 33(b)) (note 33(c)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(e)) (note 33 (f)) IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.4 – – – – – – 4.4

Investment in subsidiaries 381.5 – – – – – – 381.5

Trade and other receivables 638.0 – – – – – – 638.0

Deferred income tax assets – (2.5) – 9.2 0.2 (0.1) – 6.8

1,023.9 (2.5) – 9.2 0.2 (0.1) – 1,030.7

Current assets

Financial assets:

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – 1.8 – 1.8

Trade and other receivables 874.4 – (14.0) (11.8) – – – 848.6

Cash and cash equivalents 67.4 – – – – – – 67.4

941.8 – (14.0) (11.8) – 1.8 – 917.8

Total assets 1,965.7 (2.5) (14.0) (2.6) 0.2 1.7 – 1,948.5

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (7.8) – – – – – – (7.8)

– Derivative financial instruments – – – – – (17.2) – (17.2)

Trade and other payables (389.1) 131.3 – – 0.1 – 52.7 (205.0)

Current income tax liabilities (9.5) – – – – – – (9.5)

(406.4) 131.3 – – 0.1 (17.2) 52.7 (239.5)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities:

– Bank and other borrowings (472.0) – – – – 15.6 – (456.4)

Trade and other payables – (131.3) – – – – – (131.3)

Retirement benefit obligations – – – (19.0) – – – (19.0)

Deferred income tax liabilities (2.5) 2.5 – – – – – –

(474.5) (128.8) – (19.0) – 15.6 – (606.7)

Total liabilities (880.9) 2.5 – (19.0) 0.1 (1.6) 52.7 (846.2)

NET ASSETS 1,084.8 – (14.0) (21.6) 0.3 0.1 52.7 1,102.3

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called-up share capital 26.4 – – – – – – 26.4

Share premium account 105.5 – – – – – – 105.5

Other reserves 817.8 (11.2) – – 0.8 0.1 – 807.5

Retained earnings 135.1 11.2 (14.0) (21.6) (0.5) – 52.7 162.9

TOTAL EQUITY 1,084.8 – (14.0) (21.6) 0.3 0.1 52.7 1,102.3
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33 Reconciliations between IFRS and UK GAAP – company continued
33(a) Reclassifications

The following reclassifications have been made within the balance sheet of the company:

• The UK GAAP deferred tax provision has been reclassified to deferred income tax assets as the company is now in a deferred income tax asset position

following the transition to IFRS.

• A loan from a subsidiary, previously held as a current liability under UK GAAP, has been reclassified as a non-current liability under IFRS to more accurately

reflect the terms of the loan.

• Given that the company has elected to retain UK GAAP carrying values of property, plant and equipment (including any historic revaluations) as deemed cost

on the date of transition to IFRS there is no difference between cost and valuation on an IFRS basis. Accordingly, the UK GAAP revaluation reserve has been

transferred from other reserves to retained earnings.

• Treasury shares formed part of retained earnings under UK GAAP. Under IFRS, these amounts have been recategorised as part of other reserves.

33(b) Dividends received

Under UK GAAP final dividends proposed by subsidiaries were accrued as income immediately in the financial statements of Provident Financial plc. Under IFRS,

dividends receivable from subsidiaries can only be recognised when they have been paid. The adjustment in the reconciliations above therefore represents the

reversal of accrued income in respect of dividends receivable from subsidiaries.

33(c) Retirement benefits

The adjustments reflect the write off of the company’s SSAP 24 prepayment and the recognition of the company’s share of the group IAS 19 pension deficit 

on the balance sheet. See note 32(d) for further information.

33(d) Share-based payments

The adjustments reflect the company’s share of the group share-based payments charge. See note 32(e) for further information.

33(e) Derivatives

The adjustments represent the recognition of the company’s derivative financial instruments at fair value. See note 32(f) for further information.

33(f) Dividends paid

The adjustments represent the reversal of the company’s proposed year end dividend. See note 32(g) for further information.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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To the members of Provident Financial plc
We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (‘the financial statements’) of Provident Financial plc for the year ended 31 December

2005 which comprise the group income statement, the group statement of recognised income and expense, the group and parent company balance sheets,

the group and parent company cash flow statements and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting polices set

out therein. We have also audited the information in the directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report, the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 

law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and

regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the

company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept 

or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly

agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of the directors’

remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report

to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have

not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions 

is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 Financial Reporting Council

Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider

whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent company or group’s

corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. The other information

comprises only the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review, the financial review, the directors’ report, the corporate governance statement and the

unaudited part of the directors’ remuneration report. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material

inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes

examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report

to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements,

and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group and parent company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient

evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are free from material

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of

information in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the group’s affairs as at 

31 December 2005 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

• the parent company’s financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with

the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 

Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Leeds

22 March 2006
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1 Financial calendar – dividends
2005 Final 2006 Interim

Dividend announced 8 March 2006 13 September 2006

Ex-dividend date for ordinary shares 5 April 2006 20 September 2006

Record date for the dividend 7 April 2006 22 September 2006

Annual general meeting 17 May 2006

Payment date of the dividend 26 May 2006 20 October 2006

2 Share price
2.1 Information on our share price is available on the company’s website, www.providentfinancial.com, on Ceefax on BBC1/BBC2 and on Teletext on ITV/Channel 4.

Information is also available, at a cost, from FT Cityline (telephone: 0906 843 3731).

2.2 The share price is also listed in a number of daily newspapers.

3 Individual Savings Account (ISA)
Shareholders may take out an ISA which includes shares in the company with a provider of their choice. However, the company has made arrangements 

with Redmayne Bentley for the provision of an ISA for its shareholders and employees. Shareholders who are eligible and who wish to take advantage of this

should contact Redmayne Bentley, Merton House, 84 Albion Street, Leeds, West Yorkshire LS1 6AG (telephone: 0113 243 6941).

4 Tax on capital gains
4.1 For the purposes of tax on capital gains, the price of an ordinary share in the company on 31 March 1982 was 130.50p. When adjusted for the 1 for 5 

scrip issue in 1986, the 5 for 2 share split in 1993, the 1 for 1 bonus issue in 1996 and the share capital consolidation in 1998, this gives a figure of 22.54p.

4.2 Shareholders for whom the price of ordinary shares at 31 March 1982 is relevant should note that their allowable expenditure in relation to future disposals

of ordinary shares may also be affected by other factors, such as indexation and/or the disposal of fractional entitlements pursuant to the share capital

consolidation of the company in April 1998.

5 Tax on dividends
5.1 A UK resident individual shareholder who receives a dividend is entitled to a tax credit in respect of the dividend.

5.2 The tax credit is 1/9th of the dividend (corresponding to 10% of the dividend and the associated tax credit).

5.3 A UK resident individual shareholder is therefore treated as having paid tax at 10% on the aggregate of the dividend and the associated tax credit; 

as starting, lower and basic rate taxpayers are liable to tax on the dividend and associated tax credit at 10%, they will have no further liability to tax in respect 

of the dividend. UK resident individuals cannot claim a refund of the 10% tax credit.

5.4 The tax liability on dividends for UK resident higher rate taxpayers is 32.5% on the aggregate of the dividend and the associated tax credit, so that 

their liability for additional tax is equal to 22.5% on the aggregate of the dividend and the associated tax credit.

5.5 Arrangements can be made for a shareholder’s dividends to be paid directly into a nominated bank account. Details are available on request from 

the company’s registrar (see paragraph 7 below).

6 The Provident Financial Company Nominee Scheme
6.1 The company has established the Provident Financial Company Nominee Scheme. The key features of the scheme are:

6.1.1 Your shares are held for you in a nominee account and you will receive regular statements of your account; you will not hold a share certificate;

6.1.2 It provides a facility to allow you to deal in the company’s shares by means of a low-cost telephone dealing service through the CREST electronic

settlement system;

6.1.3 It provides a facility for you to reinvest your dividends in the company’s shares;

6.1.4 You will still retain the benefits of direct shareholding, such as prompt payments of dividends, a copy of the annual report and attendance, and voting, 

at the annual general meeting; and

6.1.5 The service is provided at no cost to you. However, if you wish to use the facility to deal in the company’s shares or reinvest your dividends, you will have 

to pay charges.

6.2 Full details are available on request from the company’s registrar (see paragraph 7 below).

Information for shareholders
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7 Registrar
7.1 The registrar deals with all matters relating to transfers of ordinary shares in the company and with enquiries concerning holdings. The registrar is: 

Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU (telephone: 0870 162 3100).

7.2 The registrar’s website is www.capitaregistrars.com. This will give you access to your personal shareholding by means of your investor code (which is printed

on your share certificate or statement of holding). A range of services is available to shareholders including: setting up or amending dividend bank mandates;

proxy voting and amending personal details. Most services will require a user ID and password which will be provided on registration.

8 Advisers
Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Joint financial advisers and stockbrokers

Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein

Merrill Lynch

Registrar

Capita Registrars

Solicitors

Slaughter and May

Eversheds LLP

9 Company details
Registered office and contact details:

Provident Financial plc

Colonnade

Sunbridge Road

Bradford

West Yorkshire

BD1 2LQ

telephone: +44 (0)1274 73 1 1 1 1

fax: +44 (0)1274 727300

email: enquiries@providentfinancial.com

website: www.providentfinancial.com

Company number

668987
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM 

ONGOING* OPERATIONS

£206.0m
(2004 £208.2m)

REVENUE FROM ONGOING*

OPERATIONS

£1,110.0m
(2004 £1,000.3m)

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM

ONGOING* OPERATIONS

57.18p
(2004 57.74p)

The year’s highlights and key events

3.9 million customers in the UK, Republic of Ireland,
Central Europe and Mexico

Continuing to extend our successful home credit
operations overseas into emerging markets

Rapid expansion in Mexico

Preparations made for pilot of home credit in 
Romania in 2006

Record profit from motor insurance division

Full scale launch of Vanquis Bank credit cards, 
now serving 160,000 customers

Closure of loss-making Yes Car Credit business

TOTAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

FOR 2005

35.43p
(2004 34.40p)

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£40.4m
(2004 £205.5m)

GROUP REVENUE 

£1,337.5m
(2004 £1,272.4m)

GROUP EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Nil
(2004 57.00p)

TOTAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

FOR 2005

35.43p
(2004 34.40p)
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Paper and print specification
One of Provident Financial’s environmental objectives
is to use paper as efficiently as possible. This report 
is produced on material which contains 50% recycled
and de-inked pulp from post-consumer waste. 
On pages 1-64 the remaining 50% is made up of
Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) material,
manufactured from genuine waste pulp from certified
sustainable forests.

The report is printed by an ISO14001 accredited, 
FSC certified and Carbon Neutral printer.

Provident Financial plc
Colonnade
Sunbridge Road
Bradford
West Yorkshire
BD1 2LQ
United Kingdom

telephone: +44(0)1274 731111
fax: +44(0)1274 727300
email: enquiries@providentfinancial.com
website: www.providentfinancial.com

Company number
668987
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